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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
$ in thousands, except share and per share amounts

For the year ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

OPERATING INFORMATION

Gross written premium $ 1,370,517 $ 1,286,465 $ 1,108,216 $ 987,201 $ 1,044,918

Net written premium 887,922 833,655 753,798 653,938 701,255

Net earned premium 841,939 781,964 691,645 659,931 683,363

Net investment income 56,251 54,248 63,500 71,662 75,512

Net other-than-temporary impairment 
losses recognized in earnings (2,393) (858) (1,985) (1,080) (11,876)

Net realized capital gains (losses) 22,939 41,074 11,996 41,319 9,216

Total revenues 917,564 877,916 766,385 776,975 762,880

Income (loss) before income taxes 92,273 91,736 32,734 98,829 86,848

Net income (loss) 63,466 63,762 25,597 69,578 63,158

Net income per share:

Basic $ 4.49 $ 4.54 $ 1.71 $ 4.33 $ 3.73

Diluted $ 4.42 $ 4.45 $ 1.69 $ 4.24 $ 3.65

Average common shares outstanding:

Basic 14,133,925 14,052,311 14,980,429 16,064,770 16,935,488

Diluted 14,345,553 14,327,820  15,183,285  16,415,266  17,322,020 

Combined loss and expense ratio 1:

Loss ratio 61.6 % 63.6% 69.0% 63.8% 63.8%

Expense ratio 33.2 % 35.7% 35.7% 36.9% 33.4%

Total 94.8 % 99.3% 104.7% 100.7 % 97.2%

YEAR-END BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

Total investments and cash $ 2,574,586 $ 2,422,254 $ 2,233,498 $ 2,154,328 $ 2,056,587

Total assets 4,169,452 4,007,670 3,670,007 3,531,459 3,453,994

Gross losses and LAE reserves 2,045,071 2,097,048 2,082,679 1,985,838 1,920,286

Net losses and LAE reserves 1,222,633 1,216,909 1,237,234 1,142,542 1,112,934

Senior notes 263,308 114,424 114,276 114,138 114,010

Stockholders’ equity 902,212 879,485 803,435 829,354 801,519

Common shares outstanding 14,198,496 14,046,666 13,956,235 15,743,511 16,846,484

Book value per share 2 $ 63.54 $ 62.61 $ 57.57 $ 52.68 $ 47.58

Statutory surplus of  
Navigators Insurance Company

 
$

 
804,073 

 
$

 
682,881

 
$

 
662,162

 
$

 
686,919

 
$

 
645,820

1 Calculated based on earned premiums.
2 Calculated as stockholders’ equity divided by actual shares outstanding as of the date indicated.
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STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
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trades on The NASDAQ 
Global Select Market® under  
the symbol NAVG.
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Trust Company, LLC
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(212) 758-9700
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PRESS RELEASES,  
AND OTHER REPORTS
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information are available 
without charge on our website, 
www.navg.com
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2013 was a year of very solid performance for 
Navigators. We pride ourselves on achieving 
underwriting profit, and in 2013 we produced our 
best combined ratio since 2008. We achieved 
record levels of total revenue, total assets, stockholders’ 
equity and policyholder surplus of Navigators 
Insurance Company. We completed the largest 
capital raise in our corporate history and relocated our 
corporate headquarters to Stamford, CT. Despite  
the challenges in the competitive climate and in global 
financial markets, our organization has a strong 
sense of momentum.

ABOUT THE THEME AND PHOTOGRAPHY  
 IN THIS YEAR’S ANNUAL REPORT:

This year, The Navigators Group, Inc. announced a five-year partnership 
with Connecticut-based nonprofit Kids in Crisis, in which the Company 

will become the title sponsor of the newly-named Navigators Stamford KIC 
IT Triathlon, which supports the state’s only free, round-the-clock agency 

providing emergency shelter, crisis counseling, and community educational 
programs for children of all ages and families dealing with a wide range 

of crises. The triathlon, in which 600 athletes take part each June, is an 
Olympic-distance event consisting of a 1.5K swim in Long Island  

Sound, a 40K bike ride, and a 10K run through the streets of downtown 
Stamford where Navigators’ corporate headquarters relocated in 

September 2013. In recognition of this exciting new partnership, we dedicated  
this annual report to the concepts of competition, expertise, specialization, 

persistence and strength that are at the heart of a triathlon.
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deep technical expertise
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IN A WORLD THAT SEEKS INSTANT 
GRATIFICATION, WE COMPETE 
BY PROVIDING DEEP TECHNICAL 
EXPERTISE THAT COMES THROUGH 
YEARS OF EXPERIENCE.

The first leg of a triathlon involves open-water 
swimming. Mastering the physics of good 
technique is what sets apart the exceptional 
athlete from less-efficient competitors.  
With each stroke, the professional swimmer 
knows how to extend his arm its entire length, 
efficiently reaching forward and maximizing 
the amount of water pulled, doubling his 
thrust. Knowing the critical nuances of how 
to reduce drag and resistance in the water  
is the difference between an expert and  
a generalist. At Navigators, we also believe  
that deep knowledge is a differentiator. Our  
underwriting and claims professionals 
bring their “know-how” to every transaction, 
whether it is establishing the valuation of a 
complicated fine arts claim or crafting policy 
language for a construction project involving 
dozens of contractors over multiple years. 
When expertise matters, our agents, brokers 
and policyholders can rely on Navigators 
to provide creative solutions based on deep 
technical expertise.
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IN A WORLD THAT INCREASINGLY 
VIEWS INSURANCE AS A COMMODITY, 
WE COMPETE BY BEING SPECIALIZED.

Back on dry land, the second leg of a triathlon 
consists of a bike ride. While technique is 
crucial, using equipment that is customized 
for and adjusted to the rider is more important 
in this part of the race than in any other. 
Triathlon bikes, for example, are optimized for 
aerodynamics with features such as aerobar 
extension handlebars that draw the body 
forward in a tucked position, as well as disc 
wheels or fairings that cover spokes and  
are designed to minimize drag. Navigators  
also believes that specialization is the  
key to optimum performance in insurance 
underwriting, so we focus on a limited 
number of niches in which our expertise and 
market leadership set us apart. Far too often, 
buyers (and investors) view property/casualty 
insurance as a commodity, as if all carriers have 
equal capability. As one of the top ten marine 
insurers in the United States and at Lloyd’s, 
specialization allows us to meet the needs of 
our clients, whether in providing liability 
protection for a marine terminal operator in 
Central America or insuring the liability  
of a cargo vessel operating in Asian waters. 
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IN A WORLD IN WHICH LONG-
TERM COMMITMENTS OFTEN DON’T 
OUTLAST A QUARTERLY EARNINGS 
CALL, WE PROVIDE OUR CUSTOMERS 
A CONSISTENT, STABLE AND RELIABLE 
BUSINESS PARTNER —  ONE THAT IS 
BUILT FOR THE LONG RUN.

The third and final leg of a triathlon is a  
run. Many of the body’s muscles are already 
exhausted by this time since the athlete has 
already completed two other disciplines, so 
pacing and fortitude are the keys to success. 
Steady, aerobic fatigue resistance training is 
essential, and athletes understand that this is 
a “long game” and that a consistent base of 
diligent training is required. Traits such as 
stamina and long- term view are characteristics 
of Navigators as well. Over the last decade, 
our stockholders’ equity has more than tripled, 
as have our total assets and our net loss 
reserves. Our high quality investment portfolio 
has maintained an average “AA/Aa” rating 
despite the rating agency’s downgrade of the 
U.S. government. Our balance sheet assures 
our agents, brokers and policyholders that we 
will be here for them —  today and tomorrow.

stable performance
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I am pleased to report that Navigators had a very solid year in 2013, characterized by 
strong operating performance, significantly improved underwriting results and revenue 
growth. Our combined loss and expense ratio for 2013 was 94.8%, an improvement from 
the 99.3% produced in 2012. Our loss ratio was 61.6%, a two point improvement over 
2012. We are particularly pleased with our 2013 expense ratio of 33.2%, down from 35.7% 
in 2012. These ratios were our best —  on all three counts —  since 2008. Net income for the 
year was approximately $63.5 million, virtually flat in comparison to 2012. However, net 
income was adversely impacted by our decision to pay a call premium in connection with 
the early redemption of senior notes that would have come due in 2016. Given this one-
time charge, we believe a better measure of our 2013 performance is operating earnings, 
which were $61.7 million, up 64% from $37.6 million in 2012, and our best since 2009.

One of the highlights of 2013 was the return to profitability of Navigators Insurance 
Company, which generated $25.6 million of underwriting profit with a combined ratio 
of 96.0%. That was a meaningful achievement, reflecting a ten point improvement 
in the combined ratio from an underwriting loss of $36.8 million in 2012. While the 
results improved across all three business segments of Navigators Insurance Company, 
our marine business led the way in 2013, with a combined ratio of 87.3%. Our Lloyd’s 
operation had another very solid year, with a combined ratio of 91.0%. Later in this letter, 
we will review the performance of each of our business segments in further detail.

When we think about growing shareholder value over time, our primary measure 
has been book value per share (BVPS). As we reported last year, our intermediate-term 
financial objective is to achieve book value of $100 per share. We ended 2013 with a BVPS 
of $63.54, a disappointing increase of 1.5% over $62.61 at December 31, 2012. This was 
largely the result of a $43.7 million decrease, or $3.08 per share, in the unrealized gain 
position of our investment portfolio coupled with a modest investment income yield. 
However, we remain committed to maintaining a high quality investment portfolio and 
will continue to avoid taking undue risks in search of yield. Currently, 94% of our portfolio 
consists of fixed maturities, cash, and short-term investments with an average credit 
quality rating of “AA/Aa” as defined by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s, respectively, 
which produced an average annual yield of 2.4%, with a duration of approximately  
3.7  years. Despite this drag on performance, 2013 was our fourteenth consecutive year  
of increasing BVPS.

In the fourth quarter, we raised $265 million of capital through the issuance of 5.75% 
senior notes due 2023, which allowed us to retire existing 7.00% senior notes due 2016. 
This debt issuance provided $131 million of net incremental capital. We believe this action 
creates a more efficient capital structure that further strengthens Navigators’ ability 
to continue to pursue targeted growth strategies in specialty classes, both in the U.S. 
and internationally.

Given our enhanced capital position, we plan to revisit our reinsurance purchasing 
strategy. In 2013, we ceded about 35% of our gross written premium (GWP) to reinsurers. 
This is a reduction in our ceded business compared with much of the last decade. As we 
have grown policyholder surplus and gained increased confidence in the quality of the 
new specialty products introduced over the last decade, we believe it is appropriate to 
incrementally increase the amount of business that we retain “net” to provide premium 
and earnings growth in the coming years. We intend to undertake this process without 
dramatically changing our per risk appetite as we re-evaluate the structure of each 
reinsurance treaty over the next two years.

marine

Navigators has specialized in ocean marine underwriting since the founding of our 
original underwriting agency, New York Marine Managers, in 1974. While we’ve developed 
numerous other specialty products over the years, marine insurance continues to be a 
foundational strength of our Company — part of our DNA. Marine insurance represented 
26% of our total book of business in 2013, or about $353 million in GWP. The marine 

STANLEY A. GALANSKI President and Chief 
Executive Officer, The Navigators Group, Inc. 

To Our  
Shareholders
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product lines achieved significant improvement in the combined ratio during the year. 
Globally, Marine produced a strong 91.7% combined ratio for 2013 versus 98.8% in 2012.

Our insurance company marine business, underwritten in our U.S. offices and in the 
U.K. Branch of Navigators Insurance Company, produced a combined ratio of 87.3% in 
2013. Our Lloyd’s marine operations enjoyed another solid year with a combined ratio 
of 95.8%. We experienced favorable loss emergence from prior underwriting years, most 
notably in marine liability, our largest ocean marine product line. Pricing remained 
relatively strong, as we achieved renewal rate increases averaging about 4% during 2013. 
Pricing was strongest in marine liability and in the marine reinsurance business that we 
underwrite at Lloyd’s, and weakest in cargo and specie, both of which saw renewal rates 
remain about flat compared to 2012.

Year over year, our marine portfolio did not grow in 2013. In the U.S., this was largely 
attributable to the re-underwriting of our inland marine portfolio as well as our decision 
to non-renew several bluewater hull accounts. Another factor was our decision to reduce 
our position on the largest marine account in the world, a reinsurance treaty protecting 
the International Group of Protection and Indemnity Clubs. The grounding of the Costa 
Concordia in 2011 was the most dramatic example in recent years of the increasing costs 
of marine liability claims, whether stemming from potential environmental exposures or 
simply the increased costs of wreck removal. In our view, the dramatically increasing costs 
associated with such events require even larger rate increases than are currently supported 
in the market, which led us to reduce our participation in that program. While our priority 
in 2013 was profit improvement, our brand and market reputation remain stellar and we 
are optimistic that our portfolio is well-positioned for growth in 2014 and beyond.

property casualty

Our Property Casualty product lines generated $830 million in GWP in 2013, about 60% 
of our total premium for the Group. This business includes our U.S. primary and excess 
casualty and other property & casualty business, all written through the Navigators 
Specialty and Navigators Commercial divisions of our underwriting agency, the global 
treaty reinsurance business of Navigators Re, and the global energy and engineering 
business of Nav Tech. Premium growth was robust, up 16% over 2012, reflecting our 
ongoing investment in people over the past few years. On a global basis, the combined ratio 
for our property casualty business was a healthy 95.1% for 2013, compared to 98.6% in 2012.

In 2012, we announced the rebranding of our U.S. excess and surplus lines underwriting 
unit focusing exclusively on working with U.S. wholesale brokers as “Navigators Specialty.” 
While traditionally our E&S business consisted only of Primary Casualty and Excess 
Casualty products, during 2013 we also moved management responsibility for our Errors 
& Omissions business to Navigators Specialty. We experienced 31% growth in Excess 
Casualty and 22% growth in Primary Casualty as compared to 2012. Our portfolio has 
traditionally been dominated by construction risks, which has proven to be very profitable 
business for us. As we have strategically diversified the portfolio to include manufacturing, 
habitational, hospitality and other operations, the rebound in construction activity in the 
U.S. has been a strong contributor to our growth. We have been successful in capitalizing 
on strong trading conditions in the E&S market, fueled by business moving from standard 
carriers to the wholesale channel as well as the re-underwriting of specific portfolios by 
surplus lines insurers.

Our first-party energy and engineering division, Nav Tech, had another terrific 
year, producing GWP of $194 million with a combined ratio of 68.0%. GWP was up 7% 
from 2012 despite an overabundance of capacity, which has made it challenging for our 
underwriters to achieve their desired line size on attractive risks. Our Offshore Energy 
results were stellar, representing over 60% of the portfolio, with solid profitability, 
despite steady downward pressure on premium rates throughout the year. Increased 
levels of exploration and production activity have led to exposure growth, and the value 
of newly constructed rigs and mobile equipment is increasing. Risk selection and line 

R. SCOTT EISDORFER Senior Vice President,  
Chief Administrative Officer 
EMILY B. MINER Senior Vice President,  
General Counsel

VINCENT C. TIZZIO President & CEO, 
Navigators Management Company, Inc. 
JEFF L. SAUNDERS President,  
Navigators Specialty
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size management remain the cornerstones of our strength as an energy and engineering 
market leader and we continue to hold underwriting discipline as our paramount priority.

Navigators Re specializes in underwriting assumed reinsurance business for specific 
products and geographies in which we believe reinsurance is a more effective way to 
compete in the market than a traditional insurance approach. Each product is led by 
established veterans with solid track records in their niches, with reinsurance offerings 
currently in the areas of Accident & Health, Agriculture, Latin American & Caribbean 
treaty, Professional Liability and International Property treaty. The division collectively 
generated $178 million in GWP for 2013, down slightly from 2012, with a combined ratio 
of 99.9%. Our Latin American & Caribbean treaty reinsurance unit had another solid year, 
with GWP up 20% over 2012. Our Agriculture reinsurance business performed acceptably 
in 2013 despite well-documented challenges from drought and other weather events. This 
largely was the result of the geographic weighting of our Agriculture reinsurance portfolio, 
which now includes business in Canada and Mexico in addition to the U.S.

Navigators Commercial is our “open-brokerage” specialty underwriting unit that 
underwrites Excess Casualty, Environmental Casualty, Global Package Solutions, Life 
Sciences and Commercial Auto products. Collectively, the unit achieved $100 million in 
GWP for 2013, up 42% over 2012. While we are clearly in the early stages of development 
for these product lines, we are very encouraged by the underwriting results and premium 
growth achieved in 2013 as our Navigators Commercial team continues to expand its 
distribution network.

management & professional liability

For 2013, Management & Professional Liability generated $188 million in GWP globally, 
up 8% from 2012. More importantly, the underwriting results in the United States 
continued to improve, contributing to an improved combined ratio on a global basis of 
100.4%, as our underwriters continue to focus on re-building a high quality portfolio.

At Lloyd’s, Management & Professional Liability produced $58 million in GWP, up 
32% from 2012. This reflects our underwriters’ ability to attract profitable new business, 
as pricing remains competitive because of a perceived benevolent claims environment. 
Renewal rates were down slightly, about 2% for international D&O and less than 1% for 
international professional liability. Our London-based underwriters have done a terrific 
job of building a global portfolio of both small to mid-size risks, for which we write either 
primary or low-level excess policies, as well as higher attaching excess policies for large cap 
companies listed outside of the United States. Our underwriting teams in Stockholm and 
Copenhagen are developing attractive regional portfolios of risks that are placed locally 
and which we would not otherwise see in London.

The U.S. D&O unit reported a growth of 4% in GWP in 2013 over 2012, mostly 
attributable to growth in underwriting public company excess and not-for-profit D&O 
business. Our team continued to execute the strategy to reduce exposure to public 
company primary business, with this business representing well under 10% of our public 
company portfolio. Likewise, our average attachment point on public company excess 
business moved to well over $65 million, in large part due to our plan to target larger 
companies with high quality management teams and consistent financial performance. 
We achieved an overall rate increase on our D&O portfolio of 5%, while the average rate 
increase on public company primary business was 26%. We believe that our portfolio is 
well-positioned for profitable growth in 2014 as we continue our vigilance in superior risk 
selection and active portfolio steering.

As noted earlier, we have repositioned the management of our U.S. Professional 
Liability book of business within our wholesale-focused unit, Navigators Specialty. This 
was a result of analyzing the portfolio and realizing there was tremendous opportunity to 
leverage our existing relationships within the wholesale community to broaden and grow 
our E&O portfolio. We have conducted a thorough analysis of the products we provide and 
made appropriate adjustments to our underwriting guidelines to maximize profitability. 

H. CLAY BASSETT, JR. Senior Vice President, 
Chief Underwriting Officer  
CIRO M. DEFALCO Senior Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer  
DENISE TINGER LOWSLEY Senior Vice 
President, Global Human Resources Officer
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As a part of this effort, we have made the decision to exit the small law firm professional 
liability business in the U.S., which over the past few years has become increasingly 
commoditized, and we have de-emphasized certain other classes that have not been 
profitable. As a result of these actions, we are pleased to report a combined ratio in the 
U.S. of 99.6%, compared to 110.8% in 2012.

momentum

We entered 2014 with a strong sense of momentum. The improvement in our underwriting 
results, particularly in our insurance company business and in the marine product lines, 
is meaningful and bodes well for the future. We compete on the basis of the quality of 
our intellectual capital, and we firmly believe that the quality of our team has never 
been higher. By staffing our organization with seasoned specialist underwriters and 
empowering them with the authority to make decisions, we aim to compete on service 
more than price and to demonstrate the value of trading with Navigators to our agents, 
brokers and policyholders. We believe that Navigators is set apart from its peers by our 
deep technical expertise, specialty focus and stable performance. As relationships and 
trust are at the core of our business philosophy, we were especially pleased with our recent 
recognition as one of “America’s Most Trustworthy Companies” by Forbes Magazine, 
based on accounting transparency and board supervision.

From a corporate governance perspective, we made a number of significant changes 
at the Board of Directors level. First, our founder Terence N. Deeks opted to retire from 
his role as Chairman of the Board last May, continuing to serve as a Director. Ten years 
prior, Terry had left the role of Chief Executive Officer, retaining his role as Chairman 
and providing for an orderly transition to my becoming only the second CEO in our 
Company’s history. Terry’s vision, leadership and commitment to underwriting excellence 
are firmly embedded in our culture, and there is no question that his valuable insights 
and perspectives will continue to benefit all of us. To succeed Terry, Bob Mendelsohn was 
elected Chairman of the Board. Bob has served on our Board since 2010, following a long 
insurance career including service as CEO of Royal & Sun Alliance and President/COO of 
W.R. Berkley. His global insurance experience and insights have already proven valuable 
as has his strong interest in effective corporate governance. Second, we welcomed David 
Platter to the Board as of May 2013. Having built a successful career in insurance 
industry investment banking, David has decades of experience with strategic advisory 
services, capital raising, and mergers and acquisitions. Third, Marjorie D. Raines, who 
served as a Director and Chair of our Finance Committee, retired from the Board at the 
expiration of her term in May. We are thankful to Marjorie for her service, leadership 
and counsel on our investment portfolio.

I hope this letter helps to convey the strong sense of momentum that we feel at 
Navigators. While there are always challenges on the road ahead, we are very optimistic 
as we enter the next phase of our corporate development. Looking to 2014 and forward, we 
will work to build on the improved underwriting results achieved in 2013. While our team 
has never been stronger, we will continue to foster the growth of our intellectual capital. 
Collectively, we will seek to provide more effective and efficient solutions to the specialty 
insurance needs of our policyholders. As always, I thank you for your continued support 
of our efforts and for your investment in Navigators.

Sincerely,

STANLEY A. GALANSKI
President and Chief Executive Officer

PAUL V. HENNESSY Managing Director, 
Navigators Underwriting Agency, Ltd.  
& Navigators Insurance Company U.K. Branch  
LORIANN V. BIGGERS Chief Marketing Officer

COLIN D. SPROTT President, Global Marine  
STEPHEN R. COWARD President, Navigators 
Technical Risk
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S- K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, 
and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in 
Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ☒

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non- accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. 
See the definition of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check One):

Large accelerated filer ☐  Accelerated filer ☒  Non- accelerated filer ☐  Smaller reporting company ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒

The aggregate market value of voting stock held by non- affiliates as of June 30, 2013 was $612,115,085.

The number of common shares outstanding as of January 31, 2014 was 14,207,545.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Company’s 2014 Proxy Statement are incorporated by reference in Part III, Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of this Form 10-K.
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NOTE ON FORWARD- LOOKING STATEMENTS
Some of the statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are 
“forward- looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of 
historical fact included in or incorporated by reference in this Annual 
Report are forward- looking statements. Whenever used in this report, 
the words “estimate”, “expect”, “believe”, “may”, “will”, “intend”, “con-
tinue” or similar expressions or their negative are intended to identify 
such forward- looking statements. Forward- looking statements are 
derived from information that we currently have and assumptions 
that we make. We cannot assure you that anticipated results will be 
achieved, since actual results may differ materially because of both 
known and unknown risks and uncertainties which we face. Factors 
that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward- 
looking statements include, but are not limited to, the factors described 
in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of this report. In light of these risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions, any forward- looking events discussed 
in this report may not occur. You are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on any forward- looking statements, which speak only as of 
their respective dates. We undertake no obligation to publicly update 
or revise any forward- looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise.

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results 
of operations contained herein should be read in conjunction with our 
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes which 
appear elsewhere in this report. They contain forward- looking state-
ments that involve risks and uncertainties. Please refer to the above 
“Note on Forward- Looking Statements” for more information. Our 
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward- looking statements as a result of various factors, including 
those discussed above and elsewhere in this report.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements, consisting 
of the accounts of The Navigators Group, Inc., a Delaware holding 
company established in 1982, and its wholly-  owned subsidiaries, are 
prepared on the basis of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP” or “U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of these financial state-
ments requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported revenues and expenses during 
the reporting periods along with related disclosures. The terms “we”, 
“us”, “our” and “the Company” as used herein are used to mean The 
Navigators Group, Inc. and its wholly- owned subsidiaries, unless the 
context otherwise requires. The terms “Parent” or “Parent Company” 
as used herein are used to mean The Navigators Group, Inc. without 
its subsidiaries.

We are an international insurance company focusing on specialty 
products within the overall property and casualty insurance market. 
Our largest product line and most long- standing area of specialization 
is ocean marine insurance. We have also developed other specialty 
insurance lines such as commercial primary and excess liability as 
well as specialty niches in professional liability, and have expanded 
our specialty reinsurance business since launching Navigators Re 
(“NavRe”) in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Our revenue is primarily comprised of premiums and investment 
income. We derive our premiums primarily from business written by 
wholly- owned underwriting management companies which produce, 
manage and underwrite insurance and reinsurance for us. Our products 
are distributed through multiple channels, utilizing global, national and 
regional retail and wholesale insurance brokers.

We conduct operations through our Insurance Companies and our 
Lloyd’s Operations underwriting segments. The Insurance Companies’ 
segment consists of Navigators Insurance Company, which includes a 
United Kingdom Branch (the “U.K. Branch”), and Navigators Specialty 
Insurance Company, which underwrites specialty and professional 
liability insurance on an excess and surplus lines basis. All of the insur-
ance business written by Navigators Specialty Insurance Company is 
fully reinsured by Navigators Insurance Company pursuant to a 100% 
quota share reinsurance agreement. The insurance and reinsurance 
business written by our Insurance Companies is underwritten through 
our wholly- owned underwriting management companies, Navigators 
Management Company, Inc. (“NMC”) and Navigators Management 
(UK) Ltd. (“NMUK”).

Our Lloyd’s Operations segment includes Navigators Underwriting 
Agency Ltd. (“NUAL”), a Lloyd’s of London (“Lloyd’s”) underwriting 
agency which manages Lloyd’s Syndicate 1221 (“Syndicate 1221”). 
Our Lloyd’s Operations primarily underwrite marine and related lines 
of business along with offshore energy, construction coverages for 
onshore energy business and professional liability insurance at Lloyd’s 
through Syndicate 1221. We controlled 100% of Syndicate 1221’s 
stamp capacity for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 underwriting years through 
our wholly- owned subsidiary, Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd. 
which is referred to as a corporate name in the Lloyd’s market. We 
have also established underwriting agencies in Antwerp, Belgium, 
Stockholm, Sweden, and Copenhagen, Denmark, which underwrite 
risks pursuant to binding authorities with NUAL into Syndicate 1221. 
We have also established a presence in Brazil and China through 

contractual arrangements with local affiliates of Lloyd’s. For financial 
information by segment, refer to Note 3, Segment Information, in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included herein.

While management takes into consideration a wide range of factors 
in planning our business strategy and evaluating results of operations, 
there are certain factors that management believes are fundamental 
to understanding how we are managed. First, underwriting profit is 
consistently emphasized as a primary goal, above premium growth. 
Management’s assessment of our trends and potential growth in 
underwriting profit is the dominant factor in its decisions with respect 
to whether or not to expand a business line, enter into a new niche, 
product or territory or, conversely, to contract capacity in any business 
line. In addition, management focuses on controlling the costs of our 
operations. Management believes that careful monitoring of the costs 
of existing operations and assessment of costs of potential growth 
opportunities are important to our profitability. Access to capital also 
has a significant impact on management’s outlook for our operations. 
The Insurance Companies’ operations and ability to grow their busi-
ness and take advantage of market opportunities are constrained by 
regulatory capital requirements and rating agency assessments of 
capital adequacy. Similarly, the ability to grow our operations at Lloyd’s 
is subject to capital and operating requirements of Lloyd’s and the U.K. 
regulatory authorities.

Management’s decisions are also greatly influenced by access to 
specialized underwriting and claims expertise in our lines of business. 
We have chosen to operate in specialty niches with certain common 
characteristics which we believe provide us with the opportunity to use 
our technical underwriting expertise in order to realize underwriting 
profit. As a result, we have focused on underserved markets for busi-
nesses characterized by higher severity and lower frequency of loss 
where we believe our intellectual capital and financial strength bring 
meaningful value. In contrast, we have avoided niches that we believe 
have a high frequency of loss activity and/or are subject to a high level 
of regulatory requirements, such as workers compensation and per-
sonal automobile insurance, because we do not believe our technical 
underwriting expertise is of as much value in these types of businesses. 
Examples of niches that have the characteristics we look for include 
bluewater hull which provides coverage for physical damage to, for 
example, highly valued cruise ships, and directors and officers liability 
insurance (“D&O”) which covers litigation exposure of a corporation’s 
directors and officers. These types of exposures require substantial 
technical expertise. We attempt to mitigate the financial impact of 
severe claims on our results by conservative and detailed underwriting, 
prudent use of reinsurance and a balanced portfolio of risks.

BUSINESS LINES

Marine
We have been providing high- quality insurance protection for global 
marine clients since 1974. We offer insurance for companies engaged 
in the diverse aspects of shipping, trade and transportation. A sum-
mary of our business line divisions and primary products within those 
divisions, by underwriting segment:

Insurance Companies
Marine • Marine liability
   • Craft/fishing vessels
   • Protection & indemnity
   • Cargo
   • Bluewater hull
   • War
   • Marine energy liability
   • Transport
   • Customs bonds
   • Inland Marine
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Lloyd’s Operations
Marine • Cargo
   • Marine liability
   • Transport
   • Specie
   • Marine energy liability
   • Marine excess- of-loss reinsurance
   • Bluewater hull
   • War

Our Insurance Companies’ Marine business consists of a number of 
different product lines. The largest is marine liability, which protects 
businesses from liability to third parties for bodily injury or property 
damage stemming from their marine- related operations, such as termi-
nals, marinas and stevedoring. We also underwrite insurance for harbor 
craft and other small craft such as fishing vessels, providing physical 
damage and third party liability coverage as well as customs bonds. 
Our U.K. Branch underwrites primary marine protection and indemnity 
business, which complements our marine liability business, which is 
generally written above the primary layer on an excess basis. We also 
underwrite cargo insurance, which provides coverage for physical 
damage to goods in the course of transit, whether by water, air or land. 
Another one of our product lines is bluewater hull, which provides cov-
erage to the owners of ocean- going vessels against physical damage 
to the vessels. In addition, we write inland marine products including 
builders’ risk, contractors’ tools and equipment, fine arts, computer 
equipment and warehouse legal liability.

Our Insurance Companies’ Marine business is written from offices 
located in major insurance or port locations in New York, Seattle, San 
Francisco, Houston, Chicago, Miami and London.

Our Lloyd’s Operations Marine business primarily consists of cargo, 
marine liability, transport and specie. Other key product lines include 
marine energy liability, assumed reinsurance of other marine insurers 
on an excess- of-loss basis, and bluewater hull.

Property Casualty
Our property casualty business focuses on specialty products within 
the overall property and casualty insurance and reinsurance market. 
A summary of our business line divisions and primary products within 
those divisions, by underwriting segment, is as follows.

Insurance Companies
Assumed Reinsurance • Accident & health
   • Agriculture
   •  Latin American & Caribbean  

property, casualty and surety
   • Professional liability

Primary Casualty • General liability
   • Product liability

Excess Casualty • Umbrella & excess liability

Other Property & Casualty • Environmental liability
   • Life sciences
   • Commercial auto
   •  Global exporters package 

liability

Energy & Engineering • Offshore energy
   • Direct & facultative property

Lloyd’s Operations
Energy & Engineering • Offshore energy
   • Onshore energy
   • Engineering and construction
   • Direct and facultative property

Casualty •  U.S. casualty written through 
Lloyd’s

Assumed Reinsurance •  International property and surety 
(commenced September, 2013)

Our specialty assumed reinsurance business is written by NavRe, an 
underwriting unit managed by NMC with business written through 
Syndicate 1221 beginning in the third quarter of 2013. The specialty 
products on which the unit is currently focused are proportional and 
excess- of-loss treaty reinsurance covering medical health care expo-
sures, agriculture exposures primarily in North America, property 
and surety treaty exposures in Central and South America and the 
Caribbean, professional liability exposures in the U.S., as well as prop-
erty and surety treaty exposures written through Syndicate 1221.

The Primary Casualty Division underwrites general liability insurance 
policies for business in what is termed the excess and surplus lines 
market, which generally consists of businesses with more complex 
liability exposures, including contractors, manufacturer, real estate 
owners and other service businesses. Since 1995, we have special-
ized in providing general liability insurance to both residential and 
commercial contractors. We provide this coverage both to individual 
businesses and on a project or wrap- up basis that collectively insures 
all contractors involved on a designated construction project. In addi-
tion, we insure other types of businesses for their liability to third parties 
emanating from their premises and operations and the products they 
manufacture or distribute. Our underwriters and claims professionals 
have significant experience in underwriting and settling claims in these 
niches that serves as our principle competitive advantage and allows us 
to expect better underwriting results than those achieved by the U.S. 
insurance industry in the aggregate.

The Excess Casualty division provides commercial umbrella and 
excess casualty insurance coverage. Commercial umbrella policies 
provide additional limits of coverage in excess of a businesses’ general 
liability and automobile liability policies. Excess policies also pro-
vide additional limits of liability, but generally provide limits in excess 
of the primary policy and commercial umbrella policy, and in many 
instances attaching in excess of other excess liability layers. Areas 
of specialty include manufacturing and wholesale distribution, com-
mercial construction, residential construction, construction project 
and wrap- up covers, business services, hospitality and real estate 
and niche programs.

We also underwrite liability insurance for select industry niches, 
including the life sciences, or biotechnology, medical device and envi-
ronmental businesses. In addition, we provide environmental liability 
insurance to a variety of commercial operations including manufac-
turers, contractors and real estate owners. Other property casualty 
products underwritten include commercial automobile, which protects 
a business for third- party liability emanating from automobiles as well 
as physical damage to owned vehicles; commercial property insurance; 
and an exporter’s policy that provides coverage for third party liability 
for suits brought outside of the United States along with other coverage 
targeted toward the needs of international business owners and travel-
ers. In 2012 and 2013, we wrote a limited amount of commercial surety 
bonds, but discontinued that business because of increased levels of 
competition that made it difficult to achieve scale without sacrificing 
underwriting discipline.
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Our energy & engineering business is written by Navigators Technical 
Risk (“NavTech”) an underwriting unit of our wholly owned underwrit-
ing agencies. Our onshore and offshore energy insurance principally 
focuses on the oil and gas, chemical and petrochemical industries, 
with coverage primarily for property damage and business interruption. 
Our engineering and construction business consists of coverage for 
construction projects including damage to machinery and equipment 
and loss of use due to delays.

Professional Liability
A summary of our business line divisions and products within those 
divisions, by underwriting segment, is as follows:

Insurance Companies
Management Liability • Directors & officers liability
   • Fiduciary liability
   • Crime liability
   • Employment practices liability
   •  Non profit directors & 

officers liability

Errors & Omissions •  Errors and omissions 
miscellaneous professional 
liability

   • Real estate agent liability
   • Design professionals liability
   • Accountants professional liability
   •  Insurance agents errors & 

omissions
   • Technology, media & cyber liability

Lloyd’s Operations
Management Liability • Directors & officers liability

Errors and Omissions • Lawyers professional liability
   •  Miscellaneous professional 

liability

Our professional liability business is written by our Insurance Companies 
and our Lloyd’s Operations. Our U.S. management liability business 
consists of Directors’ and Officers’ Liability and related products for 
publicly traded corporations, privately held companies and not- for-
profit organizations. Policies written for U.S. publicly traded companies 
are largely provided on an excess basis, while the majority of our U.S. 
private company and not- for-profit D&O is primary insurance. Our 
international (non U.S. company) D&O is underwritten by our Lloyd’s 
Operations, for both a primary and excess basis, with primary insurance 
provided to small to medium sized companies and excess policies pro-
vided to medium to large cap publicly traded corporations. Our Errors 
and Omissions business is written on a primary and excess business to 
a broad range of non- medical professional service providers, ranging 
from accountants to real estate appraisers. During 2013, we decided 
to significantly reduce our underwriting of U.S. law firms, for which we 
had focused on smaller law firms, as a result of increased competition 
that precluded us from attaining terms and conditions consistent with 
profitable underwriting results. Management liability and professional 
liability policies are generally written on a claims- made basis, for 
which the claim must be reported during the policy period or a defined 
extended reporting period following expiration of the policy.

LOSS RESERVES

We maintain reserves for unpaid losses and unpaid loss adjustment 
expenses (“LAE”) for all lines of business. Loss reserves consists 
of both reserves for reported claims, known as case reserves, and 
reserves for losses that have occurred but have not yet been reported, 

known as incurred but not reported losses (“IBNR”). Case reserves are 
established when notice of a claim is first received. Reserves for such 
reported claims are established on a case- by-case basis by evaluating 
several factors, including the type of risk involved, knowledge of the 
circumstances surrounding such claim, severity of injury or damage, 
the potential for ultimate exposure, experience with the insured and the 
broker on the line of business, and the policy provisions relating to the 
type of claim. Reserves for IBNR are determined in part on the basis of 
statistical information and in part on the basis of industry experience. To 
the extent that reserves are deficient or redundant, the amount of such 
deficiency or redundancy is treated as a charge or credit to earnings in 
the period in which the deficiency or redundancy is identified. These 
reserves are intended to cover the probable ultimate cost of settling all 
losses incurred and unpaid, including those incurred but not reported. 
The determination of reserves for losses and LAE is dependent upon 
the receipt of information from insureds, brokers and agents.

There is a lag between the time premiums are written and related 
losses and LAE are incurred, and the time such events are reported 
to us. Our loss reserves include amounts related to short tail and long 
tail classes of business. Short tail business refers to claims that are 
generally reported quickly upon occurrence of an event and involve little 
or no litigation, making estimation of loss reserves less complex. Our 
long tail business includes our marine liability, casualty and professional 
liability insurance products. For the long tail lines, significant periods 
of time, ranging up to several years or more, may elapse between the 
occurrence of the loss, the reporting of the loss and the settlement of 
the claim. Generally, the longer the time span between the incidence of 
a loss and the settlement of the claim, the more likely the ultimate settle-
ment amount will vary from the original estimate. Refer to the Casualty 
and Professional Liability section below for additional information.

Loss reserves are estimates of what the insurer or reinsurer expects 
to pay on claims, based on facts and circumstances then known. It 
is possible that the ultimate liability may exceed or be less than such 
estimates. In setting our loss reserve estimates, we review statistical 
data covering several years, analyze patterns by line of business and 
consider several factors including trends in claims frequency and 
severity, changes in operations, emerging economic and social trends, 
inflation and changes in the regulatory and litigation environment. We 
also consult with experienced claims professionals. Based on this 
review, we make a best estimate of our ultimate liability. We do not 
establish a range of reasonable loss estimates around the best estimate 
we use to establish our reserves and loss adjustment expenses. During 
the loss settlement period, which, in some cases, may last several 
years, additional facts regarding individual claims may become known 
and, accordingly, it often becomes necessary to refine and adjust the 
estimates of liability on a claim upward or downward. Such estimates 
are regularly reviewed and updated and any resulting adjustments 
are included in the current period’s earnings. Even then, the ultimate 
liability may exceed or be less than the revised estimates. The reserv-
ing process is intended to provide implicit recognition of the impact 
of inflation and other factors affecting loss payments by taking into 
account changes in historical payment patterns and perceived probable 
trends. There is generally no precise method for the subsequent evalu-
ation of the adequacy of the consideration given to inflation, or to any 
other specific factor, because the eventual deficiency or redundancy of 
reserves is affected by many factors, some of which are interdependent.

Another factor related to reserve development is that the estimate 
of ultimate losses is based on the ratio of ultimate losses to ultimate 
premiums. For all our segments a certain, relatively stable, percentage 
of premium is reported after the close of the fiscal year. These amounts 
relate to lags in reporting of premium, premium audits, endorsements 
and cancellations. Losses are projected to an ultimate level. The ratio of 
ultimate loss to ultimate premium is then applied to the booked earned 
premium to match revenue with expense for GAAP purposes.
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As part of our risk management process, we purchase reinsur-
ance to limit our liability on individual risks and to protect against 
catastrophic loss. We purchase both quota share reinsurance and 
excess- of-loss reinsurance in order to limit our net retention per risk 
and event. Net retention represents the risk that we keep for our own 
account. Once our initial reserve is established and our net retention is 
exceeded, any adverse development will directly affect the gross loss 
reserve, but would generally have no impact on our net retained loss 
unless the aggregate limits available under the impacted excess- of-loss 

reinsurance treaty are exhausted. Reinstatement premiums triggered 
under our excess- of-loss reinsurance by such additional loss devel-
opment could have a potential impact on our net premiums during 
the period in which such additional loss development is recognized. 
Generally, our limits of exposure are known with greater certainty when 
estimating our net loss versus our gross loss. This situation tends to 
create greater volatility in the deficiencies and redundancies of the 
gross reserves as compared to the net reserves.

The following table summarizes our reserves for losses and LAE activity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Net reserves for losses and LAE at beginning of year  $ 1,216,909  $ 1,237,234  $ 1,142,542
Provision for losses and LAE for claims occurring in the current year   520,227   542,724   474,852
Increase (decrease) in estimated losses and LAE for claims occurring in prior years   (1,266)   (45,291)   2,145

Incurred losses and LAE   518,961   497,433   476,997
Losses and LAE paid for claims occurring during:

Current year   (147,758)   (110,373)   (73,242)
Prior years   (365,479)   (407,385)   (309,063)

Losses and LAE payments   (513,237)   (517,758)   (382,305)

Net reserves for losses and LAE at end of year   1,222,633   1,216,909   1,237,234
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses and LAE   822,438   880,139   845,445

Gross reserves for losses and LAE at end of year  $ 2,045,071  $ 2,097,048  $ 2,082,679

The following table presents the development of the loss and LAE 
reserves for 2003 through 2013. The line “Net reserves for losses and 
LAE” reflects the net reserves at the balance sheet date for each of the 
indicated years and represents the estimated amount of losses and loss 
adjustment expenses arising in all prior years that are unpaid at the bal-
ance sheet date. The “Reserves for losses and LAE re- estimated” lines 
of the table reflect the re- estimated amount of the previously recorded 
reserves based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year. 
The reserve estimates may change as more information becomes 
known about the frequency and severity of claims for individual years. 
The net and gross cumulative redundancy (deficiency) lines of the table 
reflect the cumulative amounts developed as of successive years with 
respect to the aforementioned reserve liability. The cumulative redun-
dancy or deficiency represents the aggregate change in the estimates 
over all prior years.

The table calculates losses and LAE reported and recorded in sub-
sequent years for all prior years starting with the year in which the loss 
was incurred. For example, assuming that a loss occurred in 2003 and 
was not reported until 2004, the amount of such loss will appear as 
a deficiency in both 2003 and 2004. Conditions and trends that have 

affected development of the liability in the past may not necessarily 
occur in the future. Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate 
future redundancies or deficiencies based on the table.

A significant portion of the favorable or adverse development on 
our gross reserves has been ceded to our excess- of-loss reinsurance 
treaties. As a result of these reinsurance arrangements, our gross 
losses and related reserve deficiencies and redundancies tend to be 
more sensitive to favorable or adverse developments such as those 
described above than our net losses and related reserve deficiencies 
and redundancies.

Our gross loss reserves include estimated losses related to the 
2008 Hurricanes Ike and Gustav and the 2012 Superstorm Sandy 
and totaling approximately 1.6% and 3.7% of gross loss reserves as 
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In addition, 3.4% and 
3.3% of our gross loss reserves as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively, include estimated losses related to the Deepwater Horizon 
loss event. When recording these losses, we assess our reinsurance 
coverage, potential reinsurance recoverable and the recoverability of 
those balances.
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Losses incurred on business recently written are primarily covered by reinsurance agreements written by companies with whom we are currently 
doing reinsurance business and whose credit we continue to assess in the normal course of business. Refer to “Management’s Discussion of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations —  Results of Operations —  Expenses —  Net Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” and Note 5, 
Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, both of which are included herein, for 
additional information regarding Hurricanes Ike and Gustav, Superstorm Sandy and our asbestos exposure.

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

In thousands

Net reserves for losses  
and LAE $374,171 $463,788 $ 578,976 $ 696,116 $ 847,303 $ 999,871 $1,112,934 $1,142,542 $1,237,234 $1,216,909 $1,222,633

Reserves for losses and LAE 
re- estimated as of:

One year later 370,335 460,007 561,762 649,107 796,557 990,930 1,099,132 1,144,687 1,191,943 1,215,643

Two years later 360,964 457,769 523,541 589,044 776,845 971,048 1,065,382 1,068,344 1,189,651

Three years later 377,229 432,988 481,532 555,448 767,600 943,231 1,037,233 1,084,728

Four years later 362,227 401,380 461,563 559,368 749,905 925,756 1,027,551

Five years later 343,182 391,766 469,195 539,327 745,489 921,597

Six years later 333,857 401,071 451,807 538,086 736,776

Seven years later 336,790 387,613 449,395 530,856

Eight years later 323,608 389,520 444,632

Nine years later 325,254 386,991

Ten years later 318,975

Net cumulative redundancy 
(deficiency) 55,196 76,797 134,344 165,260 110,527 78,274 85,383 57,814 47,583 1,266

Net cumulative paid as of:

One year later 80,034 96,981 133,337 142,938 180,459 263,523 314,565 309,063 407,385 365,479

Two years later 140,644 180,121 219,125 233,211 322,892 460,058 517,125 552,881 620,955

Three years later 195,961 238,673 264,663 300,328 441,267 591,226 682,051 695,054

Four years later 223,847 262,425 302,273 359,592 526,226 688,452 773,261

Five years later 239,355 283,538 337,559 401,102 583,434 745,765

Six years later 251,006 305,214 356,710 427,282 620,507

Seven years later 263,072 318,539 372,278 451,118

Eight years later 266,355 328,842 385,902

Nine years later 274,235 340,956

Ten years later 283,168

Gross liability- end of year 724,612 966,117 1,557,991 1,607,555 1,648,764 1,853,664 1,920,286 1,985,838 2,082,679 2,097,048 2,045,071

Reinsurance recoverable 350,441 502,329 979,015 911,439 801,461 853,793 807,352 843,296 845,445 880,139 822,438

Net liability- end of year 374,171 463,788 578,976 696,116 847,303 999,871 1,112,934 1,142,542 1,237,234 1,216,909 1,222,633

Gross re- estimated latest 672,384 850,541 1,326,850 1,320,733 1,463,392 1,672,814 1,737,901 1,824,655 1,966,858 2,040,624

Re- estimated recoverable 
latest 353,409 463,550 882,218 789,877 726,616 751,217 710,350 739,927 777,207 824,981

Net re- estimated latest 318,975 386,991 444,632 530,856 736,776 921,597 1,027,551 1,084,728 1,189,651 1,215,643

Gross cumulative 
redundancy (deficiency) 52,228 115,576 231,141 286,822 185,372 180,850 182,385 161,183 115,821 56,424
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The following tables identify the approximate gross and net cumulative redundancy (deficiency) as of each year- end balance sheet date for the 
Insurance Companies and Lloyd’s Operations contained in the preceding ten year table:

Gross Cumulative Redundancy (Deficiency)

Consolidated Insurance Companies
Lloyd’s 

Operations

Grand Total
Excluding 
Asbestos Total Asbestos All Other(1) Total

In thousands

2012   56,424   59,127   39,646   (2,703)   42,349   16,778
2011   115,821   118,526   (460)   (2,705)   2,245   116,281
2010   161,183   164,016   34,943   (2,833)   37,776   126,240
2009   182,385   186,251   42,937   (3,866)   46,803   139,448
2008   180,850   185,645   53,719   (4,795)   58,514   127,131
2007   185,372   190,963   69,108   (5,591)   74,699   116,264
2006   286,822   291,632   131,183   (4,810)   135,993   155,639
2005   231,141   236,198   110,770   (5,057)   115,827   120,371
2004   115,576   103,224   88,407   12,352   76,055   27,169
2003   52,228   41,059   25,185   11,169   14,016   27,043

(1) Contains cumulative loss development for all active and run- off lines of business exclusive of asbestos losses.

Net Cumulative Redundancy (Deficiency)

Consolidated Insurance Companies
Lloyd’s 

Operations

Grand Total
Excluding 
Asbestos Total Asbestos All Other(1) Total

In thousands

2012   1,266   2,040   (13,430)   (774)   (12,656)   14,696
2011   47,583   48,358   (49,918)   (775)   (49,143)   97,501
2010   57,814   57,238   (26,389)   576   (26,965)   84,203
2009   85,383   85,097   (4,571)   286   (4,857)   89,954
2008   78,274   77,964   12,187   310   11,877   66,087
2007   110,527   110,479   46,787   48   46,739   63,740
2006   165,260   166,991   96,968   (1,731)   98,699   68,292
2005   134,344   136,305   88,399   (1,961)   90,360   45,945
2004   76,797   79,287   51,582   (2,490)   54,072   25,215
2003   55,196   58,090   20,534   (2,894)   23,428   34,662

(1) Contains cumulative loss development for all active and run- off lines of business exclusive of asbestos losses.

Property Casualty
The majority of our Property Casualty business involves general liabil-
ity and umbrella & excess liability policies which generate third party 
liability claims that are long tail in nature. A significant portion of our 
general liability reserves relate to construction defect claims. The 
balance consists of short tail exposures from our assumed reinsur-
ance business, which includes our agriculture, A&H, Latin American & 
Caribbean property casualty and surety, and professional liability lines, 
as well as property exposures on energy related risks from our energy 
and engineering business.

Professional Liability
The Professional Liability business generates third party claims, which 
are also longer tail in nature. The professional liability policies mainly 
provide coverage on a claims- made basis, whereby coverage is gener-
ally provided for those claims that are made during the policy period. 
The substantial majority of our claims- made policies provide coverage 
for one year periods. We have also issued a limited number of multi- year 
claims- made professional liability policies known as “project policies” 

or “tail coverage” that provide for insurance protection for wrongful acts 
prior to the run- off date. Such multi- year policies provide insurance 
protection for several years.

Our professional liability loss estimates are based on expected 
losses, an assessment of the characteristics of reported losses at 
the claim level, evaluation of loss trends, industry data, and the legal, 
regulatory and current risk environment because anticipated loss expe-
rience in this area is less predictable due to the small number of claims 
and/or erratic claim severity patterns. We believe that we have made 
a reasonable estimate of the required loss reserves for professional 
liability. The expected ultimate losses may be adjusted up or down as 
the accident years mature.

Additional information regarding our loss and loss adjustment 
expenses incurred and loss reserves can be found in “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations —  Results of Operations —  Expenses —  Net Losses and 
Loss Adjustment Expenses” and Note 5, Reserves for Losses and 
Loss Adjustment Expenses, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, both of which are included herein.
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CATASTROPHE RISK MANAGEMENT

We have exposure to losses caused by hurricanes, earthquakes, and 
other natural and man- made catastrophic events. The frequency and 
severity of catastrophic events is unpredictable.

Our Insurance Companies and Lloyd’s Operations have exposure 
to losses caused by natural and man- made catastrophic events. The 
frequency and severity of catastrophes are unpredictable. The extent of 
covered losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount 
of insured exposure in an area affected by the event and the severity 
of the event. We continually assess our concentration of underwriting 
exposures in catastrophe exposed areas globally and manage this 
exposure through individual risk selection and through the purchase 
of reinsurance. We also use modeling and concentration management 
tools that allow us to better monitor and control our accumulations of 
potential losses from catastrophe events. Despite these efforts, there 
remains uncertainty about the characteristics, timing and extent of 
insured losses given the unpredictable nature of catastrophes. The 
occurrence of one or more catastrophic events could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and/
or liquidity.

We have significant natural catastrophe exposures throughout the 
world. We estimate that our largest exposure to loss from a single 
natural catastrophe event comes from an earthquake on the west 
coast of the United States. As of December  31, 2013, we estimate 
that our probable maximum pre- tax gross and net loss exposure from 
such an earthquake event would be approximately $96.1 million and 
$38.2 million, respectively, including the cost of reinsurance reinstate-
ment premiums (“RRPs”).

Like all catastrophe exposure estimates, the foregoing estimate of 
our probable maximum loss is inherently uncertain. This estimate is 
highly dependent upon numerous assumptions and subjective under-
writing judgments. Examples of significant assumptions and judgments 
related to such an estimate include the intensity, depth and location of 
the earthquake, the various types of the insured risks exposed to the 
event at the time the event occurs and the estimated costs or dam-
ages incurred for each insured risk. The composition of our portfolio 
also makes such estimates challenging due to the non- static nature 
of the exposures covered under our policies in lines of business such 
as cargo and hull. There can be no assurances that the gross and net 
loss amounts that we could incur in such an event or in any natural 
catastrophe event would not be materially higher than the estimates 
discussed above given the significant uncertainties with respect to 
such an estimate. Moreover, our portfolio of insured risks changes 
dynamically over time and there can be no assurance that our probable 
maximum loss will not change materially over time.

The occurrence of large loss events could reduce the reinsurance 
coverage that is available to us and could weaken the financial condi-
tion of our reinsurers, which could have a material adverse effect on 
our results of operations. Although the reinsurance agreements make 
the reinsurers liable to us to the extent the risk is transferred or ceded 
to the reinsurer, ceded reinsurance arrangements do not eliminate our 
obligation to pay claims to our policyholders as we are required to pay 
the losses if a reinsurer fails to meet its obligations under the reinsur-
ance agreement. Accordingly, we bear credit risk with respect to our 
reinsurers. Specifically, our reinsurers may not pay claims made by us 
on a timely basis, or they may not pay some or all of these claims. Either 
of these events would increase our costs and could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.

SUPERSTORM SANDY AND  
HURRICANES GUSTAV AND IKE

Superstorm Sandy, which occurred in the fourth quarter 2012 and 
Hurricanes Gustav and Ike, which occurred in the 2008 third quarter 
generated substantial losses in our marine, inland marine and energy 
lines of business. The total estimated net loss for Superstorm Sandy 
in the fourth quarter of 2013 was $19.6 million, inclusive of $8.0 mil-
lion in reinsurance reinstatement premiums. Gross of reinsurance our 
loss related to Superstorm Sandy was $66.7 million. There were no 
significant hurricane losses in 2013, 2011, 2010, 2009, 2007 or 2006 
that impacted our marine, inland marine and energy lines of business.

We monitor the development of paid and reported claims activities 
in relation to the estimate of ultimate losses established for Superstorm 
Sandy and Hurricanes Gustav and Ike. Management believes that 
should any adverse loss development for gross claims occur from the 
aforementioned Superstorm and Hurricanes, it would be contained 
within our reinsurance program. Our actual losses from such loss 
events may differ materially from our estimated losses as a result of, 
among other things, the receipt of additional information from insureds 
or brokers, the attribution of losses to coverages that, for the purposes 
of our estimates, we assumed would not be exposed and inflation in 
repair costs due to the limited availability of labor and materials. If our 
actual losses from the aforementioned losses are materially greater than 
our estimated losses, our business, results of operations and financial 
condition could be materially adversely affected.

Refer to “Management’s Discussion of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations —  Results of Operations and Overview —  
Operating Expenses —  Net Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses 
Incurred” and Note 5, Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment 
Expenses, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, both of 
which are included herein, for additional information regarding the 2012 
Superstorm and the aforementioned hurricanes.

REINSUR ANCE RECOVER ABLES

We utilize reinsurance principally to reduce our exposure on individual 
risks, to protect against catastrophic losses and to stabilize loss ratios 
and underwriting results. We are protected by various treaty and fac-
ultative reinsurance agreements. The reinsurance is placed either 
directly by us or through reinsurance intermediaries. The reinsurance 
intermediaries are compensated by the reinsurers.

Although reinsurance makes the reinsurer liable to us to the extent 
the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, ceded reinsurance 
arrangements do not eliminate our obligation to pay claims to our 
policyholders. Accordingly, we bear credit risk with respect to our rein-
surers. Specifically, our reinsurers may not pay claims made by us on 
a timely basis, or they may not pay some or all of these claims. Either 
of these events would increase our costs and could have a material 
adverse effect on our business. Our credit risk exposure to our reinsur-
ers has significantly increased over the past couple of years as a result 
of reinsurance recoverables for significant marine, inland marine and 
offshore energy losses incurred during 2012 and 2011.

We have established a reserve for uncollectible reinsurance in the 
amount of $11.3 million, which was determined by considering reinsurer 
specific default risk as indicated by their financial strength ratings. 
Actual uncollectible reinsurance could potentially exceed our estimates.

Our exposure to credit risk from any one reinsurer is managed 
through diversification by reinsuring with a number of different reinsur-
ers, principally in the United States and European reinsurance markets. 
When reinsurance is placed, our standards of acceptability generally 
require that a reinsurer must have a rating from A.M. Best Company 
(“A.M. Best”) and/or Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) of “A” or better, or an 
equivalent financial strength if not rated, plus at least $500 million in 
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policyholders’ surplus. Our Reinsurance Security Committee, which is 
included within our Enterprise Risk Management Finance and Credit 
Sub- Committee, monitors the financial strength of our reinsurers and 
the related reinsurance recoverables and periodically reviews the list 
of acceptable reinsurers.

The credit quality distribution of the Company’s reinsurance 
recoverables of $1.1 billion as of December 31, 2013 for ceded paid 
and unpaid losses and LAE and ceded unearned premiums based on 
insurer financial strength ratings from A.M. Best or S&P were as follows:

Rating
Carrying 

Value(2)

Percent  
of Total(3)

In thousands

A.M. Best Rating description(1):
Superior A++, A+  $ 536,325   49%
Excellent A, A-   525,314   47%
Very good B++, B+   12,295   1%
Fair B, B-   23,283   2%
Not rated NR   11,427   1%

Total  $ 1,108,644   100%

(1) Equivalent S&P rating used for certain companies when an A.M. 
Best rating was unavailable.

(2) Net of reserve for uncollectible reinsurance of approximately 
$11.3 million. The carrying value consists of reinsurance 
recoverables on paid losses due within 30–45 days and reinsurance 
on unpaid losses which by nature of our reserving process is our 
best estimate of the value as of December 31, 2013.

(3) The Company holds offsetting collateral of approximately 20.2%, 
including 0.2% for B++, B+ and B companies and 46.7% from non 
rated companies which includes letters of credit, ceded balances 
payable and other balances held by our Insurance Companies and 
our Lloyd’s Operations.

The Company’s ceded earned premiums were $456.0  million, 
$396.6 million and $346.2 million for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in ceded earned pre-
mium from 2012 to 2013 is primarily due to growth in our excess 
casualty and offshore energy and liability business. The increase in 
ceded earned premiums from 2011 to 2012 is primarily due to a lower 
retention on our Energy & Engineering business as a result of a new 
quota share program for the offshore energy book and reinsurance 
reinstatement premiums recognized in our Marine business as a result 
of significant large loss activity during the year.

The Company’s ceded incurred losses were $188.7  million, 
$262.6 million and $213.4 million for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The decrease in ceded incurred 
losses from 2012 to 2013 is primarily due to a decrease in large loss 
activity during the year. The increase in ceded incurred losses from 
2011 to 2012 is primarily related to Superstorm Sandy as well as several 
large losses from our Marine business, including the grounding of the 
cruise ship Costa Concordia, off the coast of Italy.
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The following table lists our 20 largest reinsurers measured by the amount of reinsurance recoverable for ceded losses and LAE and ceded 
unearned premium (constituting 76.3% of the total recoverable), together with the reinsurance recoverable and collateral as of December 31, 
2013, and the reinsurers’ ratings from A.M. Best and S&P:

Reinsurance Recoverables

Unearned 
Premium

Paid/
Unpaid 
Losses Total(1)

Collateral 
Held(2)

A.M. 
Best S&P

In thousands

National Indemnity Company  $ 53,145  $ 87,618  $ 140,763  $ 30,785 A++ AA+
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company   21,411   74,069   95,480   8,506 A A+
Everest Reinsurance Company   21,581   68,566   90,147   7,704 A+ A+
Munich Reinsurance America Inc.   5,067   70,233   75,300   4,352 A+ AA-
Swiss Reinsurance America Corporation   5,800   68,157   73,957   9,609 A+ AA-
Lloyd’s Syndicate #2003   8,832   43,167   51,999   10,299 A A+
Allied World Reinsurance   13,859   30,215   44,074   3,971 A A
Partner Reinsurance Europe   10,962   29,692   40,654   17,027 A+ A+
Scor Global P&C SE   11,710   24,623   36,333   9,895 A A+
Tower Insurance Company   –   23,283   23,283   – B NR
Atlantic Specialty Insurance   9,260   13,602   22,862   3,526 A A-
Employers Mutual Casualty Company   10,738   10,796   21,534   9,709 A NR
Validus Reinsurance Ltd.   2,403   17,308   19,711   14,501 A A
Lloyd’s Syndicate #4000   147   19,432   19,579   407 A A+
QBE Reinsurance Corp   7,131   11,292   18,423   1,781 A A+
Ace Property and Casualty Insurance Company   9,862   7,687   17,549   7,342 A+ AA-
Odyssey American Reinsurance Corporation   3,550   11,997   15,547   2,175 A A-
Berkley Insurance Company   1,983   13,439   15,422   485 A+ A+
Ironshore Indemnity Inc.   6,808   7,980   14,788   7,959 A NR
AXIS Re Europe   4,762   9,347   14,109   3,675 A+ A+

Top 20 Reinsurers  $ 209,011  $ 642,503  $ 851,514  $ 153,708
Others   38,811   218,319   257,130   69,769

Total  $ 247,822  $ 860,822  $ 1,108,644  $ 223,477

(1) Net of reserve for uncollectible reinsurance of approximately $11.3 million.
(2) Collateral of $223.5 million consists of $167.3 million in ceded balances payable, $53.4 million in letters of credit, and $2.8 million of other 

balances held by the Company’s Insurance Companies and Lloyd’s Operations.

Approximately 24% of the collateral held consists of letters of credit 
obtained from reinsurers in accordance with New York Insurance 
Regulation Nos. 20 and 133. Regulation 20 requires collateral to be 
held by the ceding company from reinsurers not licensed in New York 
State in order for the ceding company to take credit for the reinsurance 
recoverables on its statutory balance sheet. The specific requirements 
governing the letters of credit are contained in Regulation 133 and 
include a clean and unconditional letter of credit and an “evergreen” 
clause which prevents the expiration of the letter of credit without 
due notice to the Company. Only banks considered qualified by the 
National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) may be 
deemed acceptable issuers of letters. In addition, based on our credit 
assessment of the reinsurer, there are certain instances where we 
require collateral from a reinsurer even if the reinsurer is licensed in 
New York State, generally applying the requirements of Regulation No. 
133. The contractual terms of the letters of credit require that access 
to the collateral is unrestricted. In the event that the counterparty to 
our collateral would be deemed not qualified by the NAIC, the reinsurer 
would be required by agreement to replace such collateral with accept-
able security under the reinsurance agreement. There is no assurance, 

however, that the reinsurer would be able to replace the counterparty 
bank in the event such counterparty bank becomes unqualified and the 
reinsurer experiences significant financial deterioration. Under such 
circumstances, we could incur a substantial loss from uncollectible 
reinsurance from such reinsurer. In November 2010, Regulation No. 
20 was amended to provide the New York Superintendent of Financial 
Services (the “New York Superintendent”) discretion to allow a reduc-
tion in collateral that qualifying reinsurers must post in order for New 
York domestic ceding insurers such as Navigators Insurance Company 
and Navigators Specialty Insurance Company to receive full financial 
statement credit. The “collateral required” percentages range from 
0%–100%, are based upon the New York Superintendent’s evaluation of 
a number of factors, including the reinsurer’s financial strength ratings, 
and apply to contracts entered into, renewed or having an anniversary 
date on or after January 1, 2011. In November 2011, the NAIC adopted 
similar amendments to its Credit for Reinsurance Model Act that would 
apply to certain non- U.S. reinsurers. States will have the option to retain 
a 100% funding requirement if they so choose and it remains to be seen 
whether and when states will amend their credit for reinsurance laws 
and regulations in accordance with such model act.
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INVESTMENTS

The objective of our investment policy, guidelines and strategy is to max-
imize total investment return in the context of preserving and enhancing 
shareholder value and statutory surplus of the Insurance Companies. 
Secondarily, we seek to optimize after- tax investment income.

Our investments are managed by outside professional fixed- income 
and equity portfolio managers. We seek to achieve our investment 
objectives by investing in cash equivalents and money market 
funds, municipal bonds, U.S. Government bonds, U.S. Government 
agency guaranteed and non- guaranteed securities, corporate bonds, 
mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities and common and pre-
ferred stocks.

Our investment guidelines require that the amount of our con-
solidated fixed- income portfolio rated below “A-” but no lower than 
“BBB-” by S&P or below “A3” but no lower than “Baa3” by Moody’s 
Investors Service (“Moody’s”) shall not exceed 10% of our total invest-
ment portfolio. Fixed- income securities rated below “BBB-” by S&P or 
“Baa3” by Moody’s combined with any other investments not specifi-
cally permitted under our investment guidelines, cannot exceed 2% of 
our total investment portfolio. Investments in equity securities that are 
actively traded on major U.S. stock exchanges cannot exceed 20% of 
consolidated stockholders’ equity. Finally, our investment guidelines 
prohibit investments in derivatives other than as a hedge against for-
eign currency exposures or the writing of covered call options on our 
equity portfolio.

The Insurance Companies’ investments are subject to the oversight 
of their respective Boards of Directors and our Finance Committee of 
the Parent Company’s Board of Directors. The investment portfolio and 
the performance of the investment managers are reviewed quarterly. 
These investments must comply with the insurance laws of New York 
State, the domiciliary state of Navigators Insurance Company and 
Navigators Specialty Insurance Company. These laws prescribe the 
type, quality and concentration of investments which may be made by 
insurance companies. In general, these laws permit investments, within 
specified limits and subject to certain qualifications, in federal, state 
and municipal obligations, corporate bonds, structured securities, pre-
ferred stocks, common stocks, real estate mortgages and real estate. 
The U.K. Branch’s investments must also comply with the regulations 
set forth by the Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) in the U.K.

The Lloyd’s Operations’ investments are subject to the direction 
and control of the Board of Directors and the Investment Committee of 
NUAL, as well as the Parent Company’s Board of Directors and Finance 
Committee. These investments must comply with the rules and regula-
tions imposed by Lloyd’s and the PRA.

The table set forth below reflects our total investment balances, net 
investment income earned thereon and the related average yield for 
the last three calendar years:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Invested Assets and Cash:
Insurance Companies  $ 1,954,429  $ 1,899,309  $ 1,767,190
Lloyd’s Operations   519,481   507,919   457,994
Parent Company   100,676   15,026   8,314

Consolidated  $ 2,574,586  $ 2,422,254  $ 2,233,498

Net Investment Income:
Insurance Companies  $ 49,083  $ 46,549  $ 54,164
Lloyd’s Operations   7,160   7,551   8,955
Parent Company   8   148   381

Consolidated  $ 56,251  $ 54,248  $ 63,500

Average Yield (amortized cost basis):
Insurance Companies   2.7%  2.6%  3.2%
Lloyd’s Operations   1.4%  1.3%  2.2%
Parent Company   0.0%  1.7%  1.4%
Consolidated   2.4%  2.4%  3.0%

As of December 31, 2013, the average quality of the investment portfo-
lio was rated “AA” by S&P and “Aa” by Moody’s. All of the Company’s 
mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities were rated investment 
grade by S&P and by Moody’s except for 46 securities with a fair value 
approximating $10.7 million. There was no collateralized debt obliga-
tions (“CDO’s”), asset- backed commercial paper or credit default swaps 
in our investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
all fixed- maturity and equity securities held by us were classified as 
available- for-sale.

Refer to “Management’s Discussion of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations —  Investments” and Note 4, Investments, in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, both of which are included 
herein, for additional information regarding investments.

REGULATION

United States
We are subject to regulation under the insurance statutes, including 
holding company statutes of various states and applicable regulatory 
authorities in the United States. These regulations vary but generally 
require insurance holding companies, and insurers that are subsidiar-
ies of holding companies, to register and file reports concerning their 
capital structure, ownership, financial condition and general business 
operations. Such regulations also generally require prior regulatory 
agency approval of changes in control of an insurer and of certain trans-
actions within the holding company structure. The regulatory agencies 
have statutory authorization to enforce their laws and regulations 
through various administrative orders and enforcement proceedings.

Navigators Insurance Company is licensed to engage in the insur-
ance and reinsurance business in 50 states, the District of Columbia 
and Puerto Rico. Navigators Specialty Insurance Company is licensed 
to engage in the insurance and reinsurance business in the State of 
New York and is an approved surplus lines insurer or meets the financial 
requirements where there is not a formal approval process in all other 
states and the District of Columbia.
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The State of New York Department of Financial Services (the “New 
York Department”) is our principal regulatory agency. New York insur-
ance law provides that no corporation or other person may acquire 
control of us, and thus indirect control of our insurance company 
subsidiaries, unless it has given notice to our insurance company 
subsidiaries and obtained prior written approval from the New York 
Superintendent for such acquisition. Any purchaser of 10% or more 
of the outstanding shares of our common stock would be presumed 
to have acquired control of us, unless such presumption is rebutted.

Under New York insurance law, Navigators Insurance Company and 
Navigators Specialty Insurance Company may only pay dividends out 
of their statutory earned surplus. Generally, the maximum amount of 
dividends Navigators Insurance Company and Navigators Specialty 
Insurance Company may pay without regulatory approval in any twelve- 
month period is the lesser of adjusted net investment income or 10% 
of statutory surplus. For a discussion of our current dividend capacity, 
refer to “Management’s Discussion of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations —  Capital Resources” in Item 7 of this report.

As part of its general regulatory oversight process, the New York 
Department conducts detailed examinations of the books, records 
and accounts of New York insurance companies every three to five 
years. In 2011, the New York Department conducted an examination 
of Navigators Insurance Company and Navigators Specialty Insurance 
Company for the years 2005 through 2009.

Under insolvency or guaranty laws in most states in which Navigators 
Insurance Company and Navigators Specialty Insurance Company 
operate, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed up to 
prescribed limits for policyholder losses of insolvent insurance compa-
nies. Neither Navigators Insurance Company nor Navigators Specialty 
Insurance Company was subject to any material assessments under 
state insolvency or guaranty laws in the last three years.

The Insurance Regulatory Information System, or IRIS, was devel-
oped by the NAIC and is intended primarily to assist state insurance 
departments in executing their statutory mandates to oversee the 
financial condition of insurance companies operating in their respec-
tive states. IRIS identifies thirteen industry ratios and specifies “usual 
values” for each ratio. Departure from the usual values on four or 
more of the ratios can lead to inquiries from individual state insurance 
commissioners as to certain aspects of an insurer’s business. As of 
December  31, 2013, the results for Navigators Insurance Company 
were within the usual values for all IRIS ratios except for one, and the 
results for Navigators Specialty Insurance Company were within the 
usual values for all IRIS ratios. The one ratio outside the usual values for 
the Navigators Insurance Company was related to the investment yield. 
The investment yield of Navigators Insurance Company for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 was 2.4%, which was below the expected 
3%–6.5% range due to a persistent low rate environment.

State insurance departments have adopted a methodology devel-
oped by the NAIC for assessing the adequacy of statutory surplus of 
property and casualty insurers which includes a risk- based capital 
formula that attempts to measure statutory capital and surplus needs 
based on the risks in a company’s mix of products and investment 
portfolio. The formula is designed to allow state insurance regula-
tors to identify weakly capitalized companies. Under the formula, a 
company determines its “risk- based capital” by taking into account 
certain risks related to the insurer’s assets (including risks related to its 
investment portfolio and ceded reinsurance) and the insurer’s liabilities 
(including underwriting risks related to the nature and experience of its 
insurance business). The risk- based capital rules provide for different 
levels of regulatory attention depending on the ratio of a company’s 
total adjusted capital to its “authorized control level” of risk- based 
capital. Based on calculations made by Navigators Insurance Company 
and Navigators Specialty Insurance Company, their risk- based capital 

levels exceed the level that would trigger regulatory attention or com-
pany action. In their respective 2013 statutory financial statements, 
Navigators Insurance Company and Navigators Specialty Insurance 
Company have complied with the NAIC’s risk- based capital report-
ing requirements.

Both the NAIC and the New York Department have increased their 
focus on risks within an insurer’s holding company system that may 
pose enterprise risk to the insurer. “Enterprise risk” is defined as any 
activity, circumstance, event or series of events involving one or more 
affiliates of an insurer that, if not remedied promptly, is likely to have a 
material adverse effect upon the financial condition or the liquidity of 
the insurer or its insurance holding company system as a whole. The 
New York Department recently issued a circular letter announcing its 
expectations for the establishment and maintenance of an enterprise 
risk management (“ERM”) function by New York domestic insurers, 
while the NAIC recently adopted amendments to its Model Insurance 
Holding Company System Regulatory Act and Regulations, which 
include, among other amendments, a requirement for the ultimate 
controlling person to file an enterprise risk report.

The NAIC has also adopted the Risk Management and Own Risk and 
Solvency Assessment Model Act (the “Model Act”), requiring insurers 
to maintain a framework for identifying, assessing, monitoring, manag-
ing and reporting on the “material and relevant risks” associated with 
the insurer’s or insurance group’s business plans. The Model Act will 
become effective January 1, 2015. Under the Model Act, insurers will 
be required to submit an Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (“ORSA”) 
Summary Report to their lead regulator at least annually.

In addition to regulations applicable to insurance agents generally, 
NMC is subject to managing general agents’ acts in its state of domicile 
and in certain other jurisdictions where it does business.

In 2002, in response to the tightening of supply in certain insur-
ance and reinsurance markets resulting from, among other things, the 
September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, 
or TRIA, was enacted. TRIA was intended to ensure the availability of 
insurance coverage for “acts of terrorism” (as defined) in the United 
States of America committed by or on behalf of foreign persons or 
interests. This law established a federal program through the end of 
2005 to help the commercial property and casualty insurance industry 
cover claims related to future losses resulting from acts of terrorism 
and requires insurers to offer coverage for acts of terrorism in all com-
mercial property and casualty policies. As a result, we are prohibited 
from adding certain terrorism exclusions to those policies written by 
insurers in our group that write business in the U.S. On December 22, 
2005, the Terrorism Risk Insurance Extension Act of 2005, or TRIEA, 
was enacted. TRIEA extended TRIA through December 31, 2007 and 
made several changes in the program, including the elimination of 
several previously covered lines. The deductible for each insurer was 
increased to 17.5% and 20% of direct earned premiums in 2006 and 
2007, respectively. For losses in excess of an insurer’s deductible, the 
Insurance Companies will retain an additional 10% and 15% of the 
excess losses in 2006 and 2007, respectively, with the balance to be 
covered by the Federal government up to an aggregate cap of insured 
losses of $25  billion in 2006 and $27.5  billion in 2007. Also, TRIEA 
established a new program trigger under which Federal compensation 
will become available only if aggregate insured losses sustained by 
all insurers exceed $50 million from a certified act of terrorism occur-
ring after March 31, 2006 and $100 million for certified acts occurring 
on or after January  1, 2007. On December  26, 2007, the Terrorism 
Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2007 (“TRIPRA”) was 
enacted. TRIPRA, among other provisions, extends for seven years 
the program established under TRIA, as amended. The imposition of 
these TRIA deductibles could have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations. Potential future changes to TRIA, including the increases in 
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deductibles and co- pays and elimination of domestic terrorism cover-
age proposed by the current administration, could also adversely affect 
us by causing our reinsurers to increase prices or withdraw from certain 
markets where terrorism coverage is required. As a result of TRIA, we 
are required to offer coverage for certain terrorism risks that we may 
normally exclude. Occasionally in our marine business, such coverage 
falls outside of our normal reinsurance program. In such cases, our only 
reinsurance would be the protection afforded by TRIA.

Our Lloyd’s Operations are subject to regulation in the United States 
in addition to being regulated in the United Kingdom, as discussed 
below. The Lloyd’s market is licensed to engage in insurance busi-
ness in Illinois, Kentucky and the U.S. Virgin Islands and operates as 
an eligible excess and surplus lines insurer in all states and territories 
except Kentucky and the U.S. Virgin Islands. Lloyd’s is also an accred-
ited reinsurer in all states and territories of the United States. Lloyd’s 
maintains various trust funds in the state of New York to protect its 
United States business and is therefore subject to regulation by the New 
York Department, which acts as the domiciliary department for Lloyd’s 
U.S. trust funds. There are deposit trust funds in other states to support 
Lloyd’s reinsurance and excess and surplus lines insurance business.

From time to time, various regulatory and legislative changes have 
been proposed in the insurance and reinsurance industry. Among the 
proposals that have in the past been or are at present being considered 
are the possible introduction of federal regulation in addition to, or in 
lieu of, the current system of state regulation of insurers and propos-
als in various state legislatures (some of which have been enacted) to 
conform portions of their insurance laws and regulations to various 
model acts adopted by the NAIC. We are unable to predict whether any 
of these laws and regulations will be adopted, the form in which any 
such laws and regulations would be adopted, or the effect, if any, these 
developments would have on our operations and financial condition.

United Kingdom
Our United Kingdom subsidiaries and our Lloyd’s Operations are sub-
ject to regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) (for 
prudential issues) and the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) (for con-
duct of business issues), the successors to the FSA, as established by 
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2012. Our Lloyd’s Operations 
are also subject to supervision by the Council of Lloyd’s. The PRA and 
FCA have been granted broad authorization and intervention powers as 
they relate to the operations of all insurers, including Lloyd’s syndicates, 
operating in the United Kingdom. Lloyd’s is regulated by the PRA and 
FCA and is required to implement certain rules prescribed by them, 
which it does by the powers it has under the Lloyd’s Act 1982 relating 
to the operation of the Lloyd’s market. Lloyd’s prescribes, in respect of 
its managing agents and corporate members, certain minimum stan-
dards relating to their management and control, solvency and various 
other requirements. The PRA and FCA also monitor Lloyd’s managing 
agents’ compliance with the systems and controls. If it appears to the 
PRA and or the FCA that either Lloyd’s is not fulfilling its regulatory 
responsibilities, or that managing agents are not complying with the 
applicable regulatory rules and guidance, the PRA and or FCA may 
intervene at their discretion.

We participate in the Lloyd’s market through our ownership of NUAL 
and Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd. NUAL is the managing 
agent for Syndicate 1221. We controlled 100% of Syndicate 1221’s 
stamp capacity for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 underwriting years through 
our wholly- owned subsidiary, Navigators Corporate Underwriters 
Ltd., which is referred to as a corporate name in the Lloyd’s market. 
By entering into a membership agreement with Lloyd’s, Navigators 
Corporate Underwriters Ltd. undertakes to comply with all Lloyd’s 
by- laws and regulations as well as the provisions of the Lloyd’s Acts 
and the Financial Services and Markets Act that are applicable to it. 

The operation of Syndicate 1221, as well as Navigators Corporate 
Underwriters Ltd. and their respective directors, is subject to the Lloyd’s 
supervisory regime.

Underwriting capacity of a member of Lloyd’s must be supported 
by providing a deposit (referred to as “Funds at Lloyd’s”) in the form of 
cash, securities or letters of credit in an amount determined by Lloyd’s 
equal to a specified percentage of the member’s underwriting capacity. 
The amount of such deposit is calculated by each member through the 
completion of an annual capital adequacy exercise. The results of this 
exercise are submitted to Lloyd’s for approval. Lloyd’s then advises 
the member of the amount of deposit that is required. The consent of 
the Council of Lloyd’s may be required when a managing agent of a 
syndicate proposes to increase underwriting capacity for the following 
underwriting year.

The Council of Lloyd’s has wide discretionary powers to regulate 
members’ underwriting at Lloyd’s. It may, for instance, change the basis 
on which syndicate expenses are allocated or vary the Funds at Lloyd’s 
ratio or the investment criteria applicable to the provision of Funds 
at Lloyd’s. Exercising any of these powers might affect the return on 
an investment of the corporate member in a given underwriting year. 
Further, it should be noted that the annual business plans of a syndicate 
are subject to the review and approval of the Lloyd’s Franchise Board. 
The Lloyd’s Franchise Board was formally constituted on January 1, 
2003. The Franchise Board is responsible for setting risk management 
and profitability targets for the Lloyd’s market and operates a business 
planning and monitoring process for all syndicates.

Corporate members continue to have insurance obligations even 
after all their underwriting years have been closed by reinsurance to 
close. In order to continue to perform these obligations, corporate 
members are required to stay in existence; accordingly, there continues 
to be an administrative and financial burden for corporate members 
between the time their memberships have ceased and the time their 
insurance obligations are extinguished, including the completion of 
financial accounts in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

If a member of Lloyd’s is unable to pay its debts to policyholders, 
such debts may be payable by the Lloyd’s Central Fund, which acts 
similarly to state guaranty funds in the United States. If Lloyd’s deter-
mines that the Central Fund needs to be increased, it has the power 
to assess premium levies on current Lloyd’s members. The Council 
of Lloyd’s has discretion to call or assess up to 3% of a member’s 
underwriting capacity in any one year as a Central Fund contribution.

A European Union (“E.U.”) directive covering the capital adequacy, 
risk management and regulatory reporting for insurers, known as 
Solvency II, was adopted by the European Parliament in April 2009. 
Solvency II will introduce a new system of regulation for insurers operat-
ing in the E.U. (including the United Kingdom) and presents a number of 
risks to us. Although Solvency II was originally stated to have become 
effective by October 31, 2012, implementation has been delayed sev-
eral times. During November 2013, a vote was held in the European 
Parliament to amend and finalise the dates for implementation and 
transposition of the Solvency II Directive. The Parliament approved 
transposition being set for March  31, 2015 and implementation for 
January 1, 2016. Over the last few years, we have undertaken a signifi-
cant amount of work to ensure that we meet the new requirements and 
this work will continue into 2014. Work has, and will continue, to focus 
on the capital structure, technical provisions, solvency calculations, 
governance, disclosure and risk management. There is also a risk that if 
the Solvency II requirements are not met on an on- going basis they may 
impact our capital requirements for Navigators Insurance Company’s 
U.K. Branch and Syndicate 1221. These new regulations have the 
potential to adversely affect the profitability of Navigators Insurance 
Company, NUAL and Syndicate 1221, and to restrict their ability to carry 
on their businesses as currently conducted. An outstanding issue is 
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the question about how Solvency II will be implemented is whether the 
new regulations will apply to Navigators Insurance Company’s U.K. 
Branch or to all of its operations, both within and outside of the United 
Kingdom and the other E.U. countries in which it operates. If the regula-
tions are applied to Navigators Insurance Company in its entirety, we 
could be subject to even more onerous requirements under the new 
regulations. Work is ongoing in this area to find a solution that aligns 
to our longer term strategy.

COMPETITION

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. 
We face competition from both domestic and foreign insurers, many of 
whom have longer operating histories and greater financial, marketing 
and management resources. Competition in the types of insurance in 
which we are engaged is based on many factors, including our per-
ceived overall financial strength, pricing, other terms and conditions 
of products and services offered, business experience, marketing and 
distribution arrangements, agency and broker relationships, levels 
of customer service (including speed of claims payments), product 
differentiation and quality, operating efficiencies and underwriting. 
Furthermore, insureds tend to favor large, financially strong insur-
ers, and we face the risk that we will lose market share to higher 
rated insurers.

Another competitive factor in the industry is the entrance of other 
financial services providers such as banks and brokerage firms into the 
insurance business. These efforts pose new challenges to insurance 
companies and agents from financial services companies traditionally 
not involved in the insurance business.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2013, we had 596 full- time employees of which 
462 were located in the United States, 126 in the United Kingdom, 4 in 
Sweden, 2 in Belgium and 2 in Denmark.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

This report and all other filings made by the Company with the SEC 
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are made available to the 
public by the SEC. All filings can be read and copied at the SEC Public 
Reference Room, located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. 
Information pertaining to the operation of the Public Reference Room 
can be obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. We are an electronic filer, 
so all reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
can be found at the SEC website, www.sec.gov. Our website address 
is http://www.navg.com. Through our website at http://www.navg.
com/Pages/sec- filings.aspx, we make available, free of charge, our 
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current 
reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon 
as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed 
with or furnished to the SEC. The annual report to stockholders, press 
releases and recordings of our earnings release conference calls are 
also provided on our website.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider each of the risks and uncertainties 
described below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
as well as any amendments or updates reflected in subsequent filings 
with the SEC. We believe these risks and uncertainties, individually 
or in the aggregate, could cause our actual results to differ materially 
from expected and historical results and could materially and adversely 
affect our business operations. Further, additional risks and uncertain-
ties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial 
may also impair our results and business operations.

The continuing volatility in the financial markets and the risk of 
another recession could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations and financial condition.
The financial market experienced significant volatility worldwide from 
the third quarter of 2008 through 2012. Although the U.S., European 
and other foreign governments have taken various actions to try to 
stabilize the financial markets, it is unclear whether those actions will 
be effective. Therefore, the financial market volatility and the resulting 
negative economic impact could continue.

Although we continue to monitor market conditions, we cannot 
predict future market conditions or their impact on our stock price or 
investment portfolio. Depending on market conditions, we could incur 
future additional realized and unrealized losses, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial con-
dition. These economic conditions have had an adverse impact on the 
availability and cost of credit resources generally, which could nega-
tively affect our ability to obtain letters of credit utilized by our Lloyd’s 
Operations to support business written through Lloyd’s.

In addition, the continuing financial market volatility and economic 
downturn could continue to have a material adverse effect on our 
insureds, agents, claimants, reinsurers, vendors and competitors. 
Certain of the actions U.S., European and other foreign governments 
have taken or may take in response to the financial market crisis have 
impacted certain property and casualty insurance carriers. The U.S., 
European and other foreign governments continue to actively take 
steps to implement measures to stabilize the financial markets and 
stimulate the economy, and it is possible that these measures could 
further affect the property and casualty insurance industry and its 
competitive landscape.

Our business is concentrated in marine and energy, specialty 
liability and professional liability insurance, and if market condi-
tions change adversely, or we experience large losses in these 
lines, it could have a material adverse effect on our business.
As a result of our strategy to focus on specialty products in niches 
where we have underwriting and claims handling expertise and to 
decrease our business in areas where pricing does not afford what we 
consider to be acceptable returns, our business is concentrated in the 
marine and energy, specialty liability and professional liability lines of 
business. If our results of operations from any of these lines are less 
favorable for any reason, including lower demand for our products on 
terms and conditions that we find appropriate, flat or decreased rates 
for our products or increased competition, the impact of a reduction 
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are exposed to cyclicality in our business that may cause 
material fluctuations in our results.
The property and casualty insurance business generally, and the marine 
insurance business specifically, have historically been characterized 
by periods of intense price competition due to excess underwriting 
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capacity as well as periods when shortages of underwriting capacity 
have permitted attractive premium levels. We have reduced business 
during periods of severe competition and price declines and grown 
when pricing allowed an acceptable return. The cyclical trends in the 
property and casualty insurance and reinsurance industries and the 
profitability of these industries can also be significantly affected by 
volatile and unpredictable developments, including what we believe to 
be a trend of natural disasters, fluctuations in interest rates, changes 
in the investment environment that affect market prices of investments 
and inflationary pressures that may tend to affect the size of losses 
experienced by insureds. We cannot predict with accuracy whether 
market conditions will remain constant, improve or deteriorate. We 
expect that our business will continue to experience the effects of 
this cyclicality which, over the course of time, could result in material 
fluctuations in our premium volume, revenues or expenses.

We may not be successful in our diversification efforts which could 
adversely affect our results.
Over the past decade, we have diversified our business from being an 
ocean marine specialist to underwrite in a targeted number of special-
ties, including numerous third- party liability products in the casualty 
and professional liability niches. Our ability to produce profitable under-
writing results and grow those businesses is highly dependent upon 
the quality of our underwriting and claims professionals and the extent 
of their expertise and quality of their individual risk- taking decisions. In 
addition, our results can be impacted by change in the competitive, reg-
ulatory and economic environment impacting those specific products.

We may incur additional losses if our loss reserves are insufficient.
We maintain loss reserves to cover our estimated ultimate unpaid 
liability for losses and LAE with respect to reported and unreported 
claims incurred as of the end of each accounting period. Reserves 
do not represent an exact calculation of liability, but instead repre-
sent estimates, generally utilizing actuarial projection techniques and 
judgment at a given accounting date. These reserve estimates are 
expectations of what the ultimate settlement and administration of 
claims will cost based on our assessment of facts and circumstances 
then known, review of historical settlement patterns, estimates of 
trends in claims severity, frequency, legal theories of liability and other 
factors. Both internal and external events, including changes in claims 
handling procedures, economic inflation, legal trends and legislative 
changes, may affect the reserve estimation process. Many of these 
items are not directly quantifiable, particularly on a prospective basis. 
Additionally, there may be significant lags between the occurrence 
of the insured event and the time it is actually reported to us. We 
continually refine reserve estimates in a regular ongoing process as 
historical loss experience develops and additional claims are reported 
and settled. Adjustments to reserves are reflected in the results of the 
periods in which the estimates are changed. Because establishment 
of reserves is an inherently uncertain process involving estimates, cur-
rently established reserves may not be sufficient. If estimated reserves 
are insufficient, we will incur additional charges to earnings which could 
have a material adverse effect on future results of operations, financial 
position or cash flows.

Our loss reserves include amounts related to short tail and long tail 
classes of business. Short tail business means that claims are generally 
reported quickly upon occurrence of an event, making estimation of 
loss reserves less complex. For the long tail lines, significant periods 
of time, ranging up to several years or more, may elapse between the 
occurrence of the loss, the reporting of the loss and the settlement of 
the claim. The longer the time span between the incidence of a loss 
and the settlement of the claim, the more likely the ultimate settlement 

amount will vary. Our longer tail business includes general liability, 
including construction defect claims, as well as historical claims for 
asbestos exposures through our marine and aviation businesses and 
claims relating to our run- off businesses. Our professional liability busi-
ness, though long tail with respect to settlement period, is produced 
on a claims- made basis (which means that the policy in- force at the 
time the claim is filed, rather than the policy in- force at the time the loss 
occurred, provides coverage) and is therefore, we believe, less likely to 
result in a significant time lag between the occurrence of the loss and 
the reporting of the loss. There can be no assurance, however, that 
we will not suffer substantial adverse prior period development in our 
business in the future.

In addition, reinsurance reserves are subject to greater uncertainty 
than insurance reserves primarily because a reinsurer relies on the 
original underwriting decisions made by ceding companies. As a result, 
in relation to our reinsurance business, we are subject to the risk that 
our ceding companies may not have adequately evaluated the risks 
reinsured by us and the premiums ceded may not adequately com-
pensate us for the risks we assume. In addition, reinsurance reserves 
may be less reliable than insurance reserves because there is generally 
a longer lapse of time from the occurrence of the event to the report-
ing of the loss or benefit to the reinsurer to the ultimate resolution or 
settlement of the loss.

The effects of emerging claim and coverage issues on our busi-
ness are uncertain.
As industry practices and legislative, regulatory, judicial, social, finan-
cial, and other environmental conditions change, unexpected and 
unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge. These 
issues may adversely affect our business by either extending cover-
age beyond our underwriting intent or by increasing the frequency and 
severity of claims. In some instances, these changes may not become 
apparent until some time after we have issued insurance or reinsurance 
contracts that are affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent 
of liability under our insurance or reinsurance contracts may not be 
known for many years after a contact is issued.

In addition to loss reserves, preparation of our financial state-
ments requires us to make many estimates and judgments.
In addition to loss reserves discussed above, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements contain estimates and judgments that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related 
disclosures. On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates based 
on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Any significant change in these 
estimates could adversely affect our results of operations and/or our 
financial condition.

We may not have access to adequate reinsurance to protect us 
against losses.
We purchase reinsurance by transferring part of the risk we have 
assumed to a reinsurance company in exchange for part of the premium 
we receive in connection with the risk. The availability and cost of rein-
surance are subject to prevailing market conditions, both in terms of 
price and available capacity, which can affect our business volume and 
profitability. Our reinsurance programs are generally subject to renewal 
on an annual basis. If we are unable to renew our expiring facilities or 
to obtain new reinsurance facilities, either our net exposures would 
increase, which could increase our costs, or, if we were unwilling to 
bear an increase in net exposures, we would have to reduce the level of 
our underwriting commitments, especially catastrophe exposed risks, 
which would reduce our revenues and possibly net income.
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Our reinsurers may not pay on losses in a timely fashion, or at all, 
which may increase our costs.
Although reinsurance makes the reinsurer liable to us to the extent 
the risk is transferred or ceded to the reinsurer, ceded reinsurance 
arrangements do not eliminate our obligation to pay claims to our 
policyholders. Accordingly, we bear credit risk with respect to our rein-
surers. Specifically, our reinsurers may not pay claims made by us on 
a timely basis, or they may not pay some or all of these claims. Either 
of these events would increase our costs and could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.

Intense competition for our products could harm our ability to 
maintain or increase our profitability and premium volume.
The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. 
We face competition from both domestic and foreign insurers, many of 
whom have longer operating histories and greater financial, marketing 
and management resources. Competition in the types of insurance in 
which we are engaged is based on many factors, including our per-
ceived overall financial strength, pricing and other terms and conditions 
of products and services offered, business experience, marketing and 
distribution arrangements, agency and broker relationships, levels 
of customer service (including speed of claims payments), product 
differentiation and quality, operating efficiencies and underwriting. 
Furthermore, insureds tend to favor large, financially strong insurers, 
and we face the risk that we will lose market share to higher rated 
insurers. We may have difficulty in continuing to compete successfully 
on any of these bases in the future. If competition limits our ability to 
write new business at adequate rates, our ability to transact business 
would be materially and adversely affected and our results of operations 
would be adversely affected.

We may be unable to attract and retain qualified employees.
We depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified executive 
officers, experienced underwriters, claims professionals and other 
skilled employees who are knowledgeable about our specialty lines of 
business. If the quality of our executive officers, underwriting or claims 
team and other personnel decreases, we may be unable to maintain our 
current competitive position in the specialty markets in which we oper-
ate and be unable to expand our operations into new specialty markets.

Increases in interest rates may cause us to experience losses.
Because of the unpredictable nature of losses that may arise under 
insurance policies, we may require substantial liquidity at any time. 
Our investment portfolio, which consists largely of fixed- income 
investments, is our principal source of liquidity. The market value of 
our fixed- income investments is subject to fluctuation depending on 
changes in prevailing interest rates and various other factors. We do not 
hedge our investment portfolio against interest rate risk. Increases in 
interest rates during periods when we must sell fixed- income securities 
to satisfy liquidity needs may result in substantial realized invest-
ment losses.

Our investment portfolio is subject to certain risks that could 
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or 
cash flows.
Although our investment policy guidelines emphasize total investment 
return in the context of preserving and enhancing shareholder value 
and statutory surplus of the insurance subsidiaries, our investments are 
subject to market- wide risks and fluctuations, as well as to risks inher-
ent in particular types of securities. Due to these risks we may not be 
able to realize our investment objectives. In addition, we may be forced 
to liquidate investments at times and prices that are not optimal, which 
could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Investment 

losses could significantly decrease our asset base, thereby adversely 
affecting our ability to conduct business and pay claims.

We are exposed to significant capital market risks related to 
changes in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices and foreign 
exchange rates which may adversely affect our results of opera-
tions, financial condition or cash flows.
We are exposed to significant capital markets risk related to changes 
in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices and foreign currency 
exchange rates. If significant, declines in equity prices, changes in 
interest rates, changes in credit spreads and the strengthening or 
weakening of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar, individually or 
in tandem, could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated 
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Our exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the market 
price and cash flow variability associated with changes in interest rates. 
Our investment portfolio contains interest rate sensitive instruments, 
such as fixed income securities, which may be adversely affected by 
changes in interest rates from governmental monetary policies, domes-
tic and international economic and political conditions and other factors 
beyond our control. A rise in interest rates would reduce the fair value of 
our investment portfolio. It would also provide the opportunity to earn 
higher rates of return on funds reinvested. Conversely, a decline in inter-
est rates would increase the fair value of our investment portfolio. We 
would then presumably earn lower rates of return on assets reinvested. 
We may be forced to liquidate investments prior to maturity at a loss 
in order to cover liabilities. Although we take measures to manage the 
economic risks of investing in a changing interest rate environment, we 
may not be able to mitigate the interest rate risk of our assets relative 
to our liabilities.

Included in our fixed income securities are asset- backed and 
mortgage- backed securities. Changes in interest rates can expose us to 
prepayment risks on these investments. In periods of declining interest 
rates, mortgage prepayments generally increase and mortgage- backed 
securities are prepaid more quickly, requiring us to reinvest the pro-
ceeds at the then current rates.

Our fixed income portfolio is invested in high quality, investment- 
grade securities. However, we are generally permitted to hold up to 
2% of our total investment portfolio in below investment- grade high 
yield fixed income securities. These securities, which pay a higher rate 
of interest, also have a higher degree of credit or default risk. These 
securities may also be less liquid in times of economic weakness or 
market disruptions. While we have put in place procedures to monitor 
the credit risk and liquidity of our invested assets, it is possible that, 
in periods of economic weakness, we may experience default losses 
in our portfolio. This may result in a reduction of net income, capital 
and cash flows.

We invest a portion of our portfolio in common stock or preferred 
stocks. The value of these assets fluctuates with the equity markets. 
In times of economic weakness, the market value and liquidity of these 
assets may decline, and may impact net income, capital and cash flows.

The functional currencies of the Company’s principal insurance and 
reinsurance subsidiaries are the U.S. dollar, U.K. pound and Canadian 
dollar. Exchange rate fluctuations relative to the functional currencies 
may materially impact our financial position. Certain of our subsidiar-
ies maintain both assets and liabilities in currencies different than their 
functional currency, which exposes us to changes in currency exchange 
rates. In addition, locally- required capital levels are invested in local 
currencies in order to satisfy regulatory requirements and to support 
local insurance operations regardless of currency fluctuations.

Despite our mitigation efforts, an increase in interest rates or a 
change in foreign exchange rates could have a material adverse effect 
on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
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Capital may not be available to us in the future or may only be 
available on unfavorable terms.
The capital needs of our business are dependent on several factors, 
including our ability to write new business successfully and to establish 
premium rates and reserves at levels sufficient to cover our losses. If 
our current capital becomes insufficient for our future plans, we may 
need to raise additional capital through the issuance of stock or debt. 
Otherwise, in the case of insufficient capital, we may need to limit our 
growth. The terms of an equity or debt offering could be unfavorable, 
for example, causing dilution to our current shareholders or such 
securities may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior 
to our existing securities. If we were in a situation of having inadequate 
capital and if we were not able to obtain additional capital, our busi-
ness, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely 
affected to a material extent.

A downgrade in our ratings could adversely impact the competi-
tive positions of our operating businesses or negatively affect our 
ability to implement our business strategy successfully.
Ratings are a critical factor in establishing the competitive position of 
insurance companies. The Insurance Companies are rated by A.M. 
Best and S&P. A.M. Best’s and S&P’s ratings reflect their opinions of 
an insurance company’s financial strength, operating performance, 
strategic position and ability to meet its obligations to policyholders, 
and are not evaluations directed to investors. Our ratings are subject to 
periodic review by A.M. Best and S&P. Our rating with S&P is subject to 
a negative outlook. Because these ratings have become an increasingly 
important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance 
companies, if these ratings are reduced, our competitive position in the 
industry, and therefore our business, could be adversely affected in a 
material manner. A significant downgrade could result in a substantial 
loss of business as policyholders might move to other companies with 
higher ratings. In addition, a significant downgrade could subject us 
to higher borrowing costs and our ability to access the capital markets 
could be negatively impacted. If we were to be downgraded below an 
“A-” an event of default would occur under our letter of credit facility. 
Further, a downgrade below BBB- by S&P would subject us to higher 
interest rates payable on our 5.75% Senior Notes due October 15, 2023. 
Refer to Note 8, Credit Facility, and Note 9, Senior Note, in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding 
our credit facility and 5.75% Senior Notes, respectively.

There can be no assurance that our current ratings will continue for 
any given period of time. For a further discussion of our ratings, refer 
to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations —  Ratings” included herein.

Continued or increased premium levies by Lloyd’s for the Lloyd’s 
Central Fund and cash calls for trust fund deposits or a signifi-
cant downgrade of Lloyd’s A.M. Best rating could materially and 
adversely affect us.
The Lloyd’s Central Fund protects Lloyd’s policyholders against the 
failure of a member of Lloyd’s to meet its obligations. The Central Fund 
is a mechanism which in effect mutualizes unpaid liabilities among all 
members, whether individual or corporate. The fund is available to back 
Lloyd’s policies issued after 1992. Lloyd’s requires members to contrib-
ute to the Central Fund, normally in the form of an annual contribution, 
although a special contribution may be levied. The Council of Lloyd’s 
has discretion to call up to 3% of underwriting capacity in any one year.

Policies issued before 1993 have been reinsured by Equitas 
Insurance Limited (“Equitas”), an independent insurance company 
authorized by the Financial Services Authority. However, if Equitas 
were to fail or otherwise be unable to meet all of its obligations, Lloyd’s 
may take the view that it is appropriate to apply the Central Fund to 

discharge those liabilities Equitas failed to meet. In that case, the 
Council of Lloyd’s may resolve to impose a special or additional levy 
on the existing members, including Lloyd’s corporate members, to 
satisfy those liabilities.

Additionally, Lloyd’s insurance and reinsurance business is subject 
to local regulation, and regulators in the United States require Lloyd’s 
to maintain certain minimum deposits in trust funds as protection for 
policyholders in the United States. These deposits may be used to cover 
liabilities in the event of a major claim arising in the United States and 
Lloyd’s may require us to satisfy cash calls to meet claims payment 
obligations and maintain minimum trust fund amounts.

Any premium levy or cash call would increase the expenses of 
Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd., our corporate members, 
without providing compensating revenues, and could have a material 
adverse effect on our results.

We believe that in the event that Lloyd’s rating is downgraded, 
the downgrade could have a material adverse effect on our ability to 
underwrite business through our Lloyd’s Operations and therefore on 
our financial condition or results of operations.

Our businesses are heavily regulated, and changes in regulation 
may reduce our profitability and limit our growth.
Our insurance subsidiaries are subject to extensive regulation and 
supervision in the jurisdictions in which they conduct business. This 
regulation is generally designed to protect the interests of policyhold-
ers, as opposed to insurers and their stockholders and other investors, 
and relates to authorization for lines of business, capital and surplus 
requirements, investment limitations, underwriting limitations, transac-
tions with affiliates, dividend limitations, changes in control, premium 
rates and a variety of other financial and non- financial components of 
an insurance company’s business.

Virtually all states require insurers licensed to do business in that 
state to bear a portion of the loss suffered by some insureds as the 
result of impaired or insolvent insurance companies through the 
operation of guaranty funds. The effect of these arrangements could 
reduce our profitability in any given period or limit our ability to grow 
our business.

In recent years, the state insurance regulatory framework has come 
under increased federal scrutiny, and some state legislatures have 
considered or enacted laws that may alter or increase state authority 
to regulate insurance companies and insurance holding companies. 
Further, the NAIC and state insurance regulators are re- examining 
existing laws and regulations, specifically focusing on modifications 
to holding company regulations, interpretations of existing laws and 
the development of new laws. Additionally, the Dodd- Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which became effective on 
July 21, 2010, established a Federal Insurance Office to, among other 
responsibilities, identify issues or gaps in the regulation of insurers that 
could contribute to a systemic crisis in the insurance industry or the 
United States financial system. Any proposed or future legislation or 
NAIC initiatives may be more restrictive than current regulatory require-
ments or may result in higher costs.

In response to the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the United 
States Congress has enacted legislation designed to ensure, among 
other things, the availability of insurance coverage for terrorist acts, 
including the requirement that insurers provide such coverage in 
certain circumstances. Refer to “Business —  Regulation —  United 
States” included herein for a discussion of the TRIA, TRIEA and 
TRIPRA legislation.

Extensive changes to the regulatory regime for financial services 
in the United Kingdom have been enacted. Refer to “Business —  
Regulation —  United Kingdom” included herein for a discussion of 
such proposals.
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The E.U. Directive on Solvency II may affect how we manage our 
business, subject us to higher capital requirements and cause 
us to incur additional costs to conduct our business in the E.U. 
(including the United Kingdom) and possibly elsewhere.
An E.U. directive covering the capital adequacy, risk management 
and regulatory reporting for insurers, known as Solvency II, was 
adopted by the European Parliament in April 2009. Solvency II will 
introduce a new system of regulation for insurers operating in the E.U. 
(including the United Kingdom) and presents a number of risks to us. 
Although Solvency II was originally stated to have become effective 
by October 31, 2012, implementation has been delayed several times. 
On January 31, 2014, EIOPA set up the timeline for the delivery of the 
Solvency II Implementing Technical Standards and Guidelines. It was 
stated that the overall goal was to deliver the regulatory and super-
visory framework for the technical implementation of the Solvency II 
regime from the first day of application, January 1, 2016. Over the last 
few years we have undertaken a significant amount of work to ensure 
that we meet the new requirements and this work will continue into 
2014. There is also a risk that if the Solvency II requirements are not 
met on an on- going basis they may impact our capital requirements 
for Navigators Insurance Company’s U.K. Branch and Syndicate 1221. 
These new regulations have the potential to adversely affect the profit-
ability of Navigators Insurance Company, NUAL and Syndicate 1221, 
and to restrict their ability to carry on their businesses as currently 
conducted. An outstanding issue is the question about how Solvency 
II will be implemented is whether the new regulations will apply to 
Navigators Insurance Company’s U.K. Branch or to all of its operations, 
both within and outside of the United Kingdom and the other E.U. coun-
tries in which it operates. If the regulations are applied to Navigators 
Insurance Company in its entirety, we could be subject to even more 
onerous requirements under the new regulations. Work is ongoing in 
this area to find a solution that aligns to our longer term strategy.

The inability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends to us in sufficient 
amounts would harm our ability to meet our obligations.
The Parent Company is a holding company and relies primarily on 
dividends from our subsidiaries to meet our obligations for payment of 
interest and principal on outstanding debt obligations and corporate 
expenses. The ability of our insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends 
to the Parent Company in the future will depend on their statutory 
surplus, on earnings and on regulatory restrictions. For a discussion 
of our insurance subsidiaries’ current dividend- paying ability, please 
refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations —  Capital Resources”, included herein. The 
Parent Company, as an insurance holding company, and our under-
writing subsidiaries are subject to regulation by some states. Such 
regulation generally provides that transactions between companies 
within our consolidated group must be fair and equitable. Transfers of 
assets among affiliated companies, certain dividend payments from 
underwriting subsidiaries and certain material transactions between 
companies within our consolidated group may be subject to prior notice 
to, or prior approval by, state regulatory authorities. Our underwriting 
subsidiaries are also subject to licensing and supervision by govern-
ment regulatory agencies in the jurisdictions in which they do business. 
These regulations may set standards of solvency that must be met and 
maintained, such as the nature of and limitations on investments, the 
nature of and limitations on dividends to policyholders and stockhold-
ers and the nature and extent of required participation in insurance 
guaranty funds. These regulations may affect our subsidiaries’ ability 
to provide us with dividends.

Catastrophe losses could materially reduce our profitability.
We are exposed to claims arising out of catastrophes, particularly in 
our marine insurance line of business and our NavTech and NavRe 
businesses. We have experienced, and will experience in the future, 
catastrophe losses which may materially reduce our profitability or 
harm our financial condition. Catastrophes can be caused by various 
natural events, including, but not limited to, hurricanes, windstorms, 
earthquakes, tornadoes, floods, hail, severe winter weather and fires. 
Catastrophes can also be man- made, such as war, explosions or the 
World Trade Center attack, or caused by unfortunate events such as 
the Deepwater Horizon oil rig disaster or the grounding of the cruise 
ship Costa Concordia. In addition, changing climate conditions could 
result in an increase in the frequency or severity of natural catastrophes, 
which could increase our exposure to such losses. The incidence and 
severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. Although we will 
attempt to manage our exposure to such events, the frequency and 
severity of catastrophic events could exceed our estimates, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

The market price of Navigators common stock may be volatile.
There has been significant volatility in the market for equity securities. 
The price of Navigators common stock may not remain at or exceed 
current levels. In addition to the other risk factors detailed herein, the 
following factors may have an adverse impact on the market price of 
Navigators common stock:

• actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly results of operations, 
including the result of catastrophes,

• changes in market valuations of companies in the insurance and 
reinsurance industry,

• changes in expectations of future financial performance or changes 
in estimates of securities analysts,

• issuances of common shares or other securities in the future,
• a downgrade in our credit ratings,
• the addition or departure of key personnel, and
• announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, invest-

ments or strategic alliances.

Stock markets in the United States often experience price and volume 
fluctuations. Market fluctuations, as well as general political and eco-
nomic conditions such as a recession or interest rate or currency rate 
fluctuations, could adversely affect the market price of Navigators 
common stock.

There is a risk that we may be directly or indirectly exposed 
to recent uncertainties with regard to European sovereign debt 
holdings.
We are protected by various treaty and facultative reinsurance agree-
ments. Our exposure to credit risk from any one reinsurer is managed 
through diversification by reinsuring with a number of different reinsur-
ers, principally in the United States and European reinsurance markets. 
Consequently, we may be indirectly exposed to recent uncertainties 
with regard to European sovereign debt holdings through certain of 
our reinsurers. A table of our 20 largest reinsurers by the amount of 
reinsurance recoverable for ceded losses and LAE and ceded unearned 
premium is presented in “Business” along with their rating from two 
rating agencies. The 20 largest reinsurers from the United States 
and Europe represent 76.3% of our Reinsurance Recoverables at 
December 31, 2013.
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In addition, we invest in non- sovereign fixed maturities where the 
issuer is located in the Euro Area, an economic and monetary union of 
certain member states within the European Union that have adopted 
the Euro as their common currency. As of December 31, 2013, the fair 
value of such securities was $83.1 million, with an amortized cost of 
$82.8 million representing 3.8% of our total fixed income and equity 
portfolio. Our largest exposure is in France with a total of $42.8 mil-
lion followed by the Netherlands with a total of $25.3 million. We have 
no direct material exposure to Greece, Portugal, Italy or Spain as of 
December 31, 2013.

Nonetheless, the failure of the European Union member states to 
successfully resolve this crisis could result in the devaluation of the 
Euro, the abandonment of the Euro by one or more members of the 
European Union or the dissolution of the European Union and it is 
impossible to predict all of the consequences that this could have on 
the global economy in general or more specifically on our business. 
Any or all of these events could have a material adverse effect on the 
results of our operations, liquidity and financial condition.

The determination of the impairments taken on our investments 
is subjective and could materially impact our financial position or 
results of operations.
The determination of the impairments taken on our investments varies 
by investment type and is based upon our periodic evaluation and 
assessment of known and inherent risks associated with the respective 
asset class. Such evaluations and assessments are revised as condi-
tions change and new information becomes available. Management 
updates its evaluations regularly and reflects impairments in opera-
tions as such evaluations are revised. We cannot assure you that 
we have accurately assessed the level of impairments taken in our 
financial statements. Furthermore, additional impairments may need 
to be taken in the future, which could materially impact our financial 
position or results of operations. Historical trends may not be indicative 
of future impairments.

If we experience difficulties with our information technology and 
telecommunications systems and/or data security, our ability to 
conduct our business might be adversely affected.
We rely heavily on the successful, uninterrupted functioning of our 
information technology (“IT”) and telecommunications systems. Our 
business and continued expansion is highly dependent upon our abil-
ity to perform, in an efficient and uninterrupted fashion, necessary 
business functions, such as pricing, quoting and processing policies, 
paying claims, performing actuarial and other modeling functions. 
A failure of our IT and telecommunication systems or the termina-
tion of third- party software licenses we rely on in order to maintain 
such systems could materially impact our ability to write and process 
business, provide customer service, pay claims in a timely manner or 
perform other necessary actuarial, legal, financial and other business 
functions. Computer viruses, hackers and other external hazards, as 
well as internal exposures such as potentially dishonest employees, 
could expose our IT and data systems to security breaches that may 
result in liability to us, cause our data to be corrupted and cause us to 
commit resources, management time and money to prevent or correct 
security breaches. If we do not maintain adequate IT and telecom-
munications systems, we could experience adverse consequences, 
including inadequate information on which to base critical decisions, 
the loss of existing customers, difficulty in attracting new customers, 
litigation exposures and increased administrative expenses. As a result, 
our ability to conduct our business might be adversely affected.

Compliance by our marine business with the legal and regulatory 
requirements to which they are subject is evolving and unpredict-
able. In addition, compliance with new sanctions and embargo 
laws could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our marine business, like our other business lines, is required to comply 
with a wide variety of laws and regulations, including economic sanc-
tions and embargo laws and regulations, applicable to insurance or 
reinsurance companies, both in the jurisdictions in which they are 
organized and where they sell their insurance and reinsurance products, 
and that implicate the conduct of our insureds. The insurance industry, 
in particular as relates to international insurance and reinsurance com-
panies, has become subject to increased scrutiny in many jurisdictions, 
including the United States, various states within the United States and 
the United Kingdom. For example, in 2012, President Obama signed 
into law the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 
(the “Act”) which created new sanctions and strengthened existing 
sanctions against Iran. Among other things, the Act intensifies existing 
sanctions regarding the provision of goods, services, infrastructure or 
technology to Iran’s petroleum or petrochemical sector, and included 
provisions relating to persons that engage in certain insurance or re- 
insurance activities.

Increased regulatory focus on us, such as in connection with the 
matters discussed above, may result in costly compliance burdens 
and/or may otherwise increase our costs, which could materially and 
adversely impact our financial performance. The introduction of new 
or expanded economic sanctions applicable to marine insurance could 
also force us to exit certain geographic areas or product lines, which 
could have an adverse impact our profitability.

Although we intend to maintain compliance with all applicable 
sanctions and embargo laws and regulations, and have established 
protocols, policies and procedures reasonably tailored to ensure com-
pliance with all applicable embargo laws and regulations, there can be 
no assurance that we will be in compliance in the future, particularly as 
the scope of certain laws may be unclear and may be subject to chang-
ing interpretations. Any such violation could result in fines, penalties or 
other sanctions that could severely impact our ability to access U.S. 
capital markets and conduct our business, and could result in some 
investors deciding, or being required, to divest their interest, or not to 
invest, in us. In addition, certain institutional investors may have invest-
ment policies or restrictions that prevent them from holding securities 
of companies that have contracts with countries identified by the U.S. 
government as state sponsors of terrorism. The determination by these 
investors not to invest in, or to divest from, investing in our common 
stock may adversely affect the price at which our common stock trades.

Moreover, our subsidiaries, such as our Lloyd’s Operations, may be 
subject to different sanctions and embargo laws and regulations. Our 
reputation and the market for our securities may be adversely affected 
if our Lloyd’s Operations engages in certain activities, even though 
such activities are lawful under applicable sanctions and embargo 
laws and regulations.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Our executive and administrative office is located at 400 Atlantic Street, 
Stamford, CT. Our lease for this space expires in October 2023. Our 
underwriting operations are in various locations with non- cancelable 
operating leases including Alpharetta, GA, Chicago, IL, Coral Gables, 
FL, Danbury, CT, Ellicott City, MD, Houston, TX, Irvine, CA, Iselin, NJ, 
Los Angeles, CA, New York City, NY, Philadelphia, PA, Pittsburgh, 
PA, Rye Brook, NY, San Francisco, CA, Schaumburg, IL, Seattle, WA, 
Stamford, CT, London, England, Antwerp, Belgium, Copenhagen, 
Denmark, Stockholm, Sweden.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of conducting business, our subsidiaries are 
involved in various legal proceedings, either indirectly as insurers 
for parties or directly as defendants. Most of the these proceedings 
consist of claims litigation involving our subsidiaries as either (a) liabil-
ity insurers defending or providing indemnity for third party claims 
brought against insureds or (b) insurers defending first party coverage 

claims brought against them. We account for such activity through 
the establishment of unpaid loss and loss adjustment reserves. Our 
management believes that the ultimate liability, if any, with respect to 
such ordinary- course claims litigation, after consideration of provisions 
made for potential losses and cost of defense, will not be material to our 
consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our subsidiaries are also from time to time involved with other legal 
actions, some of which assert claims for substantial amounts. These 
actions include claims asserting extra contractual obligations, such 
as claims involving allegations of bad faith in the handling of claims 
or the underwriting of policies. In general, we believe we have valid 
defenses to these cases. Our management expects that the ultimate 
liability, if any, with respect to such extra- contractual matters will not 
be material to our consolidated financial position. Nonetheless, given 
the large or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, 
and the inherent unpredictability of litigation, an adverse outcome in 
such matters could, from time to time, have a material adverse outcome 
on our consolidated results of operations or cash flows in a particular 
fiscal quarter or year.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFET Y DISCLOSURES
Not applicable

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTR ANT ’S COMMON EQUIT Y, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MAT TERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUIT Y SECURITIES

MARKET INFORMATION

The Company’s common stock is traded over- the-counter on NASDAQ under the symbol NAVG. Over- the-counter market quotations reflect 
inter- dealer prices, without retail mark- up, mark- down or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

The high, low and closing trade prices for the four quarters of 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

2013 2012

High Low Close High Low Close

First Quarter $59.50 $51.72 $58.75 $51.84 $44.43 $47.24
Second Quarter $62.02 $54.13 $57.04 $51.45 $44.95 $50.05
Third Quarter $61.50 $53.58 $57.77 $54.22 $46.41 $49.22
Fourth Quarter $67.56 $54.28 $63.16 $54.00 $49.22 $51.07

Information provided to us by our transfer agent and proxy solicitor indicates that there are approximately 318 holders of record and 3,988 
beneficial holders of our common stock, as of January 17, 2014.
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FIVE YEAR STOCK PERFORMANCE GR APH

The Five Year Stock Performance Graph and related Cumulative Indexed Returns table, as presented below, reflects the cumulative return on 
the Company’s common stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P 500 Index”) and the S&P Property and Casualty Insurance Index (the 
“Insurance Index”) assuming an original investment in each of $100 on December 31, 2008 (the “Base Period”) and reinvestment of dividends to 
the extent declared. Cumulative returns for each year subsequent to 2008 are measured as a change from this Base Period.

The comparison of five year cumulative returns among the Company, the companies listed in the S&P 500 Index and the Insurance Index are 
as follows:

Cumulative Indexed Returns 
Year Ended December 31,

Company/Index
Base Period 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

The Navigators Group, Inc. 100.00 85.79 91.69 84.97 90.58 112.02
S&P 500 Index 100.00 126.46 145.50 148.58 172.35 228.17
Insurance Index 100.00 112.21 122.57 122.25 146.83 203.05

The following Annual Return Percentage table reflects the annual return on the Company’s common stock, the S&P 500 Index and the Insurance 
Index including reinvestment of dividends to the extent declared.

Annual Return Percentage 
Year Ended December 31,

Company/Index 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

The Navigators Group, Inc. –14.21 6.88 –7.33 6.60 23.67
S&P 500 Index 26.46 15.06 2.11 16.00 32.39
Insurance Index 12.21 9.23 –0.26 20.11 38.29

DIVIDENDS

We have not paid or declared any cash dividends on our common 
stock. While there presently is no intention to pay cash dividends on 
the common stock, future declarations, if any, are at the discretion 
of our Board of Directors and the amounts of such dividends will be 
dependent upon, among other factors, our results of operations and 
cash flow, financial condition and business needs, restrictive covenants 
under our credit facility, the capital and surplus requirements of our 
subsidiaries and applicable government regulations.

Refer to Note 13, Dividends and Statutory Financial Information, in 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional informa-
tion regarding dividends, including dividend restrictions and net assets 
available for dividend distribution.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

None

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM PUBLIC OFFERING  
OF DEBT SECURITIES

On October 4, 2013 we completed a public offering of $265 million prin-
cipal amount of 5.75% Senior Notes. The Company used the proceeds 
for general corporate purposes, including the redemption of our 7.0% 
Senior Notes due May 1, 2016.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER

None

The Navigators Group, Inc.

S&P 500 Index

S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data including consolidated financial information of the Company for each of the 
last five calendar years, derived from the Company’s audited Consolidated Financial Statements. You should read the table in conjunction 
with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, and Item 8, “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data”, included herein.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

In thousands, except share and per share amounts

Operating Information:
Gross written premiums  $ 1,370,517  $ 1,286,465  $ 1,108,216  $ 987,201  $ 1,044,918
Net written premiums   887,922   833,655   753,798   653,938   701,255
Net earned premiums   841,939   781,964   691,645   659,931   683,363
Net investment income   56,251   54,248   63,500   71,662   75,512
Net other- than-temporary impairment losses   (2,393)   (858)   (1,985)   (1,080)   (11,876)
Net realized gains (losses)   22,939   41,074   11,996   41,319   9,216
Total revenues   917,564   877,916   766,385   776,975   762,880
Income (loss) before income taxes   92,273   91,736   32,734   98,829   86,848
Net income (loss)   63,466   63,762   25,597   69,578   63,158
Net income per share:

Basic  $ 4.49  $ 4.54  $ 1.71  $ 4.33  $ 3.73
Diluted  $ 4.42  $ 4.45  $ 1.69  $ 4.24  $ 3.65

Average common shares outstanding:
Basic   14,133,925   14,052,311   14,980,429   16,064,770   16,935,488
Diluted   14,345,553   14,327,820   15,183,285   16,415,266   17,322,020

Combined loss and expense ratio(1):
Loss ratio   61.6%   63.6%   69.0%   63.8%   63.8%
Expense ratio   33.2%   35.7%   35.7%   36.9%   33.4%

Total   94.8%   99.3%   104.7%   100.7%   97.2%

Balance sheet information:
Total investments and cash  $ 2,574,586  $ 2,422,254  $ 2,233,498  $ 2,154,328  $ 2,056,587
Total assets   4,169,452   4,007,670   3,670,007   3,531,459   3,453,994
Gross losses and LAE reserves   2,045,071   2,097,048   2,082,679   1,985,838   1,920,286
Net losses and LAE reserves   1,222,633   1,216,909   1,237,234   1,142,542   1,112,934
Senior Notes   263,308   114,424   114,276   114,138   114,010
Stockholders’ equity   902,212   879,485   803,435   829,354   801,519
Common shares outstanding   14,198,496   14,046,666   13,956,235   15,743,511   16,846,484
Book value per share(2)  $ 63.54  $ 62.61  $ 57.57  $ 52.68  $ 47.58
Statutory surplus of Navigators Insurance Company  $ 804,073  $ 682,881  $ 662,162  $ 686,919  $ 645,820

(1) Calculated based on earned premiums.
(2)  Calculated as stockholders’ equity divided by actual shares outstanding as of the date indicated.



25

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPER ATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition 
and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our 
Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes which 
appear elsewhere in this Form 10-K. It contains forward- looking state-
ments that involve risks and uncertainties. Please refer to “Note on 
Forward- Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for more information. 
Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward- looking statements as a result of various factors, including 
those discussed below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

We are an international insurance company focusing on specialty 
products within the overall property and casualty insurance market. 
Our largest product line and most long- standing area of specialization 
is ocean marine insurance. We have also developed other specialty 
insurance lines such as commercial primary and excess liability as 
well as specialty niches in professional liability, and have expanded 
our specialty reinsurance business since launching Navigators Re in 
the fourth quarter of 2010.

Our revenue is primarily comprised of premiums and investment 
income. We derive our premiums primarily from business written by 
wholly- owned underwriting management companies which produce, 
manage and underwrite insurance and reinsurance for us. Our products 
are distributed through multiple channels, utilizing global, national and 
regional retail and wholesale insurance brokers.

We conduct operations through our Insurance Companies and 
our Lloyd’s Operations segments. The Insurance Companies seg-
ment consists of Navigators Insurance Company, which includes a 
United Kingdom Branch (the “U.K. Branch”), and Navigators Specialty 
Insurance Company, which underwrites specialty and professional 
liability insurance on an excess and surplus lines basis. All of the insur-
ance business written by Navigators Specialty Insurance Company is 
fully reinsured by Navigators Insurance Company pursuant to a 100% 
quota share reinsurance agreement. The insurance and reinsurance 
business written by our Insurance Companies is underwritten through 
our wholly- owned underwriting management Companies, Navigators 
Management Company, Inc. (“NMC”) and Navigators Management 
(UK) Ltd. (“NMUK”).

Our Lloyd’s Operations segment includes Navigators Underwriting 
Agency Ltd. (“NUAL”), a Lloyd’s of London (“Lloyd’s”) underwriting 
agency which manages Lloyd’s Syndicate 1221 (“Syndicate 1221”). 
Our Lloyd’s Operations primarily underwrite marine and related lines 
of business along with offshore energy, professional liability insurance 
and construction coverages for onshore energy business at Lloyd’s 
through Syndicate 1221. We controlled 100% of Syndicate 1221’s 
stamp capacity for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 underwriting years through 
our wholly- owned subsidiary, Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd. 
which is referred to as a corporate name in the Lloyd’s market. We 
have also established underwriting agencies in Antwerp, Belgium, 
Stockholm, Sweden, and Copenhagen, Denmark, which underwrite 
risks pursuant to binding authorities with NUAL into Syndicate 1221. 
We have also established a presence in Brazil and China through con-
tractual arrangements with local affiliates of Lloyd’s.

While management takes into consideration a wide range of factors 
in planning our business strategy and evaluating results of operations, 
there are certain factors that management believes are fundamental 
to understanding how we are managed. First, underwriting profit is 
consistently emphasized as a primary goal, above premium growth. 
Management’s assessment of our trends and potential growth in 
underwriting profit is the dominant factor in its decisions with respect 

to whether or not to expand a business line, enter into a new niche, 
product or territory or, conversely, to contract capacity in any business 
line. In addition, management focuses on controlling the costs of our 
operations. Management believes that careful monitoring of the costs 
of existing operations and assessing the costs of potential growth 
opportunities are important to our profitability. Access to capital also 
has a significant impact on management’s outlook for our operations. 
The Insurance Companies’ operations and ability to grow their busi-
ness and take advantage of market opportunities are constrained by 
regulatory capital requirements and rating agency assessments of 
capital adequacy. Similarly, the ability to grow our operations at Lloyd’s 
is subject to capital and operating requirements of Lloyd’s and the U.K. 
regulatory authorities.

Management’s decisions are also greatly influenced by access to 
specialized underwriting and claims expertise in our lines of business. 
We have chosen to operate in specialty niches with certain common 
characteristics which we believe provide us with the opportunity to use 
our technical underwriting expertise in order to realize underwriting 
profit. As a result, we have focused on underserved markets for busi-
nesses characterized by higher severity and lower frequency of loss 
where we believe our intellectual capital and financial strength bring 
meaningful value. In contrast, we have avoided niches that we believe 
have a high frequency of loss activity and/or are subject to a high level 
of regulatory requirements, such as workers compensation and per-
sonal automobile insurance, because we do not believe our technical 
underwriting expertise is of as much value in these types of businesses. 
Examples of niches that have the characteristics we look for include 
offshore energy which provides coverage for physical damage to, for 
example, high value offshore oil drilling rigs, and Directors and Officers 
(“D&O”) insurance which covers litigation exposure of a corporation’s 
directors and officers. These types of exposures require substantial 
technical expertise. We attempt to mitigate the financial impact of 
severe claims on our results by conservative and detailed underwriting, 
prudent use of reinsurance and a balanced portfolio of risks.

For additional information regarding our business, refer to 
“Business —  Overview”, included herein.

R ATINGS

Our ability to underwrite business is dependent upon the financial 
strength of the Insurance Companies and Lloyd’s. Financial strength 
ratings represent the opinions of the rating agencies on the financial 
strength of a company and its capacity to meet the obligations of insur-
ance policies. Independent ratings are one of the important factors that 
establish our competitive position in the insurance markets. The rating 
agencies consider many factors in determining the financial strength 
rating of an insurance company, including the relative level of statutory 
surplus necessary to support the business operations of the com-
pany. These ratings are based upon factors relevant to policyholders, 
agents and intermediaries and are not directed toward the protection 
of investors. Such ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold 
securities. We could be adversely impacted by a downgrade in the 
Insurance Companies’ or Lloyd’s financial strength ratings, including a 
possible reduction in demand for our products, higher borrowing costs 
and our ability to access the capital markets.

For the Insurance Companies, Navigators Insurance Company and 
Navigators Specialty Insurance Company utilize the financial strength 
ratings from A.M. Best and S&P for underwriting purposes. Navigators 
Insurance Company and Navigators Specialty Insurance Company 
are both rated “A” (Excellent —  stable outlook) by A.M. Best and “A” 
(Strong —  stable outlook) by S&P. Syndicate 1221 utilizes the ratings 
from A.M. Best and S&P for underwriting purposes which apply to all 
Lloyd’s syndicates. Lloyd’s is rated “A” (Excellent —  stable outlook) by 
A.M. Best and A+ (Strong —  stable outlook) by S&P.
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Debt ratings apply to short- term and long- term debt as well as pre-
ferred stock. These ratings are assessments of the likelihood that we 
will make timely payments of the principal and interest for our senior 
debt. It is possible that, in the future, one or more of the rating agen-
cies may reduce our existing debt ratings. If one or more of our debt 
ratings were downgraded, we could incur higher borrowing costs and 
our ability to access the capital markets could be impacted.

We utilize the senior debt ratings from S&P. Our senior debt is rated 
BBB (Adequate) by S&P.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with GAAP, which 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions. The following account-
ing estimates are viewed by management to be critical because they 
require significant judgment on the part of management. Management 
has discussed and reviewed the development, selection, and disclosure 
of critical accounting estimates with the Company’s Audit Committee. 
Financial results could be materially different if other methodologies 
were used or if management modified its assumptions.

Our most critical accounting policies involve the reporting of the 
reserves for losses and LAE (including losses that have occurred 
but were not reported to us by the financial reporting date), reinsur-
ance recoverables, written and unearned premium, the recoverability 
of deferred tax assets, the impairment of investment securities and 
accounting for Lloyd’s results.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
Reserves for losses and LAE represent an estimate of the expected 
cost of the ultimate settlement and administration of losses, based 
on facts and circumstances then known less the amount paid to date. 
Actuarial methodologies are employed to assist in establishing such 
estimates and include judgments relative to estimates of future claims 
severity and frequency, length of time to develop to ultimate, judicial 
theories of liability and other third party factors which are often beyond 
our control. No assurance can be given that actual claims made and 
related payments will not be in excess of the amounts reserved. During 
the loss settlement period, it often becomes necessary to refine and 
adjust the estimates of liability on a claim either upward or downward. 
Even after such adjustments, ultimate liability may exceed or be less 
than the revised estimates.

The numerous factors that contribute to the inherent uncertainty 
in the process of establishing loss reserves include: interpreting loss 
development activity, emerging economic and social trends, inflation, 
changes in the regulatory and judicial environment and changes in our 
operations, including changes in underwriting standards and claims 
handling procedures. The process of establishing loss reserves is 
complex and imprecise as it must take into account many variables 
that are subject to the outcome of future events. As a result, informed 
subjective judgments as to our ultimate exposure to losses are an 
integral component of our loss reserving process.

Our actuaries calculate indicated IBNR loss reserves for each line 
of business by underwriting year by major product groupings using 
standard actuarial methodologies which are projection or extrapolation 
techniques: the loss ratio method, the loss development method and 
the Bornheutter- Ferguson method. In general the loss ratio method 
is used to calculate the IBNR for only the most recent underwriting 
years or in the absence of any statistical data upon which to estimate 
ultimate losses while the Bornheutter- Ferguson method is used to 
calculate the IBNR for recent years where a statistical basis exists for 
that computation with the loss development method used for more 
mature underwriting years. When appropriate such methodologies 
are supplemented by the frequency/severity method, which are used 
to analyze and better comprehend loss development patterns and 

trends in the data when making selections and judgments. Each of 
these methodologies, which are described below, are generally appli-
cable to both long tail and short tail lines of business depending on a 
variety of circumstances. In utilizing these methodologies to develop 
our IBNR loss reserves, a key objective of management in making their 
final selections is to deliberate with our actuaries to identify aberra-
tions and systemic changes occurring within historical experience and 
accurately adjust for them. This process requires the substantial use of 
informed judgment and is inherently uncertain as it can be influenced 
by numerous factors including:

• Inflationary pressures (medical and economic) that affect the size 
of losses;

• Judicial, regulatory, legislative, and legal decisions that affect insur-
ers’ liabilities;

• Changes in the frequency and severity of losses;
• Changes in the underlying loss exposures of our policies;
• Changes in our claims handling procedures.

For non- statistical claim events, i.e., where historical patterns are not 
available for applicable, expert judgment by claims professionals with 
input from underwriting and management are used. Such instances 
relate to the IBNR loss reserve processes for our Hurricanes losses 
and our asbestos exposures.

A brief summary of each actuarial method discussed above follows:
Loss ratio method: This method is based on the assumption that 

ultimate losses vary proportionately with premiums. Pursuant to the 
loss ratio method, IBNR loss reserves are calculated by multiplying 
the earned premium by an expected ultimate loss ratio to estimate 
the ultimate losses for each underwriting year, then subtracting the 
reported losses, consisting of paid losses and case loss reserves, 
to determine the IBNR loss reserve amount. The ultimate loss ratios 
applied are the Company’s best estimates for each underwriting year 
and are generally determined after evaluating a number of factors which 
include: information derived by underwriters and actuaries in the initial 
pricing of the business, the ultimate loss ratios established in the prior 
accounting period and the related judgments applied, the ultimate loss 
ratios of previous underwriting years, premium rate changes, underwrit-
ing and coverage changes, changes in terms and conditions, legislative 
changes, exposure trends, loss development trends, claim frequency 
and severity trends, paid claims activity, remaining open case reserves 
and industry data where deemed appropriate. Such factors are also 
evaluated when selecting ultimate loss ratios and/or loss development 
factors in the methods described below.

Bornheutter- Ferguson method: The Bornheutter- Ferguson 
method calculates the IBNR loss reserves as the product of the earned 
premium, an expected ultimate loss ratio, and a loss development factor 
that represents the expected percentage of the ultimate losses that 
have been incurred but not yet reported. The loss development factor 
equals one hundred percent less the expected percentage of losses 
that have thus far been reported, which is generally calculated as an 
average of the percentage of losses reported for comparable reporting 
periods of prior underwriting years. The expected ultimate loss ratio is 
generally determined in the same manner as in the loss ratio method.

Loss development method: The loss development method, also 
known as the chainladder or the link- ratio method, develops the IBNR 
loss reserves by multiplying the paid or reported losses by a loss 
development factor to estimate the ultimate losses, then subtracting 
the reported losses, consisting of paid losses and case loss reserves, 
to determine the IBNR loss reserves. The loss development factor is 
the reciprocal of the expected percentage of losses that have thus 
far been reported, which is generally calculated as an average of the 
percentage of losses reported for comparable reporting periods of 
prior underwriting years.
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Frequency/severity method: The frequency/severity method cal-
culates the IBNR loss reserves by separately projecting claim count 
and average cost per claim data on either a paid or incurred basis. It 
estimates the expected ultimate losses as the product of the ultimate 
number of claims that are expected to be reported and the expected 
average amount of these claims.

Actuarial loss studies are conducted by the Company’s actuaries at 
various times throughout the year for major lines of business employing 
the methodologies as described above. Additionally, a review of the 
emergence of actual losses relative to expectations for each line of 
business, generally derived from the annual loss studies, is conducted 
each quarter to determine whether the assumptions used in the reserv-
ing process continue to form a reasonable basis for the projection of 
liabilities for each product line. Such reviews may result in maintaining 
or revising assumptions regarding future loss development based on 
various quantitative and qualitative considerations. If actual loss activity 
differs from expectations, an upward or downward adjustment to loss 
reserves may occur. As time passes, estimated loss reserves for an 
underwriting year will be based more on historical loss activity and loss 
development patterns rather than on assumptions based on underwrit-
ers’ input, pricing assumptions or industry experience.

The following discusses the method used for calculating the IBNR 
for each line of business and key assumptions used in applying the 
actuarial methods described.

Marine: Generally, two key assumptions are used by our actuaries in 
setting IBNR loss reserves for major products in this line of business. 
The first assumption is that our historical experience regarding paid and 
reported losses for each product where we have sufficient history can 
be relied on to predict future loss activity. The second assumption is 
that our underwriters’ assessments as to potential loss exposures are 
reliable indicators of the level of our expected loss activity. The specific 
loss reserves for marine are then analyzed separately by product based 
on such assumptions, except where noted below, with the major prod-
ucts including marine liability, cargo, P&I, transport and bluewater hull.

The claims emergence patterns for various marine product lines 
vary substantially. Our largest marine product line is marine liability, 
which has one of the longer loss development patterns. Marine liability 
protects an insured’s business from liability to third parties stemming 
from their marine- related operations, such as terminal operations, ste-
vedoring and marina operations. Since marine liability claims generally 
involve a dispute as to the extent and amount of legal liability that our 
insured has to a third party, these claims tend to take a longer time 
to develop and settle. Other longer- tail marine product lines include 
P&I insurance, which provides coverage for third party liability as well 
as injury to crew for vessel operators, and transport insurance, which 
provides both property and third party liability on a primary basis to 
businesses such as port authorities, marine terminal operators and 
others engaged in the infrastructure of international transportation. 
Other marine product lines have considerably shorter periods in which 
losses develop and settle. Ocean cargo insurance, for example, pro-
vides physical damage coverage to goods in the course of transit by 
water, air or land. By their nature, cargo claims tend to be reported 
quickly as losses typically result from an obvious peril such as fire, 
theft or weather. Similarly, bluewater hull insurance provides cover-
age against physical damage to ocean- going vessels. Such claims 
for physical damage generally are discovered, reported and settled 
quickly. The Company currently has extensive experience for all of 
these products and thus the IBNR loss reserves for all of the marine 
products are determined using the key assumptions and actuarial 
methodologies described above. Prior to 2007, however, as discussed 
below in the sensitivity analysis, the Company did not have sufficient 
experience in the transport product line and instead used its hull and 
liability products loss development experience as a key assumption in 
setting the IBNR loss reserves for its transport product.

Property Casualty: The reserves for property and casualty are 
established separately for each major product line, such as offshore 
energy, excess casualty, and accident and health reinsurance. Within 
Primary Casualty, the reserves are established separately for construc-
tion and non- construction risks. Our actuaries generally assume that 
historical loss development patterns are reasonable predictors of future 
loss patterns and deploy a variety of traditional actuarial techniques 
to develop a reasonable expectation of ultimate losses. However, 
there are a number of products for which the company has insufficient 
experience so as to generate credible actuarial projections. In those 
instances, we typically evaluate overall industry experience and rely on 
the input of underwriting and claims executives in setting assumptions 
for our IBNR reserves. We also attempt to make reasonable provisions 
for the impact of economic, legal and competitive trends in projecting 
future loss development.

A substantial portion of our Primary Casualty loss reserves are 
for liability policies issued to contractors, many of which are operat-
ing in California and other western states which have experiences 
significant amounts of litigation involving allegations of construction 
defect. Accordingly, contractor liability claims are categorized into 
two claim types: construction defect and other general liability. Other 
general liability claims typically derive from worksite accidents or from 
negligence alleged by third parties, and frequently take a long time to 
report and settle. Construction defect claims involve the discovery of 
damage to buildings that was caused by latent construction defects. 
These claims take a very long time to report and to settle compared to 
other general liability claims. Since construction defect claims report 
much later than other contractor liability claims, they are analyzed 
separately in an annual actuarial loss study.

We have extensive history in the contractors’ liability business upon 
which to perform actuarial analyses and we use the key assumption 
noted above relating to our own historical experience as a reliable 
indicator of the future for this product. However, there is inherent uncer-
tainty in the loss reserve estimation process for this line of business 
given both the long- tail nature of the liability claims and the continu-
ing underwriting and coverage changes, claims handling and reserve 
changes, and legislative changes that have occurred over a several year 
period. Such factors are judgmentally taken into account in this line of 
business in specific periods. The underwriting and coverage changes 
include the migration to a non- admitted business from admitted busi-
ness in 2003, which allowed us to exclude certain exposures previously 
permitted (for example, exposure to construction work performed prior 
to the policy inception), withdrawals from certain contractor classes 
previously underwritten and expansion into new states beginning in 
2005. Claims changes include bringing the claim handling in- house 
in 1999 and changes in case reserving practices in 2003, 2006 and 
2011. During 2010 and 2011, we also significantly increased our claims 
staff and improved our claims procedures, which has allowed the 
Company to respond more quickly to reported construction defect 
claims. The Company is closely monitoring the impact of these effects 
on the adequacy of our case and IBNR loss reserves. After analysis 
of the factors above, Management believes that our reserves remain 
adequate to address our exposure to construction defect losses, but 
given the uncertainties noted above, there is a risk that our reserves 
for construction defect losses may ultimately prove to be inadequate, 
perhaps in a material manner.

Offshore energy provides physical damage coverage to offshore 
oil platforms along with offshore operations related to oil exploration 
and production. The significant offshore energy claims are generally 
caused by fire or storms, and thus tend to be large, infrequent, quickly 
reported, but occasionally not quickly settled because the damage is 
often extensive but not always immediately known.

Primary Casualty insurance provides primary general liability cov-
erage principally to corporations in the construction, real estate and 



28

manufacturing sector. Excess casualty insurance is purchased by 
corporations which seek higher limits of liability than are provided in 
their Primary Casualty policies.

Specialty assumed reinsurance provides proportional and excess of 
loss treaty coverage for several niche lines: Accident & Health (“A&H”), 
Agriculture, Latin America, and Professional Liability. The A&H reinsur-
ance line primarily provides reinsurance coverage for large individual 
medical claims that occur with small frequency. The Agriculture rein-
surance line primarily provides reinsurance coverage related to crop 
insurance schemes, most of which are sponsored by governmen-
tal bodies in the U.S. and Canada. The Latin America line primarily 
provides reinsurance coverage for individual risk and catastrophic prop-
erty exposures, liability exposures, and surety bonds in Central and 
South America and the Spanish- speaking Caribbean. The Professional 
Liability line primarily provides reinsurance coverage for exposure 
related to medical malpractice and other miscellaneous professional 
liability policies.

Professional Liability: The professional liability policies mainly pro-
vide coverage on a claims- made basis mostly for a one- year period. 
The reserves for professional liability are analyzed separately by 
product. The major products are Directors’ and Officers’ Liability and 
Errors and Omissions Insurance. For Directors’ and Officers’ Liability, 
we evaluate and set loss reserves separately for primary policies for 
U.S. corporations; excess policies for U.S. corporations; and interna-
tional companies.

The losses for D&O business are generally very severe and infre-
quent, and with some cases involving securities class actions. D&O 
claims report reasonably quickly, but take years to settle. In addition, 
our potential liability to pay a covered claim depends upon whether we 
have issued a primary policy, in which case the cost of defense is a large 
component of the ultimate loss, or an excess policy at a higher attach-
ment point, in which case our policy is not impacted until the covered 
claim has exceeded the coverage available in the other policies that our 
policy is in excess of. Our loss estimates are based on expected losses, 
an assessment of the characteristics of reported losses at the claim 
level, evaluation of loss trends, industry data, and the legal, regulatory 
and current risk environment. Significant judgment is involved because 
anticipated loss experience in this area is less predictable due to the 
small number of claims and/or erratic claim severity patterns. As time 
passes for a given underwriting year, we place additional weight on 
assumptions relating to our actual experience and claims outstand-
ing. The expected ultimate losses may be adjusted up or down as the 
underwriting years mature.

Lloyd’s Operations: Reserves for the Company’s Lloyd’s Operations 
are reviewed separately for the marine, property and casualty, and 
professional liability lines by product. The major marine products are 
marine liability, transport, marine energy liability, cargo, specie and 
marine reinsurance. The major property and casualty products are 
offshore energy, engineering, onshore energy, operational engineering 
and direct and facultative property. The major products for professional 
liability are international D&O and international E&O.

The marine liability, offshore energy and cargo products and related 
loss exposures are similar in nature to that described for marine busi-
ness above. Specie insurance provides property coverage for jewelry, 
fine art, vault and cash in transit risks. Claims tend to be from theft or 
damage, quick to report and, in most cases, quick to settle. Marine 
reinsurance is a diversified global book of reinsurance, the majority of 
which consists of excess- of-loss reinsurance policies for which claims 
activity tends to be large and infrequent with loss development some-
what longer than for such products written on a direct basis. Marine 
reinsurance reinsures liability, cargo, hull and offshore energy expo-
sures that are similar in nature to the marine business described above.

The process for establishing the IBNR loss reserves for the marine 
and professional liability lines of the Lloyd’s Operations, and the 
assumptions used as part of this process, are similar in nature to the 
process employed by the Insurance Companies.

The Lloyd’s Operations products also include property coverages 
for engineering and construction projects and onshore energy busi-
ness, which are substantially reinsured. Losses from engineering and 
construction projects tend to result from loss of use due to construction 
delays while losses from onshore energy business are usually caused 
by fires or explosions. Large losses tend to be catastrophic in nature 
and are heavily reinsured. IBNR loss reserves for attritional losses are 
established based on the Syndicate’s extensive loss experience.

Sensitivity Analysis
A range of reasonable estimates has been developed based on the 
historical volatility of held reserves vs. current estimates. The history 
indicates that Navigators held reserves tend to be 9% redundant with a 
standard deviation of 11%. We have ignored the historical conservatism 
and built a range around the current held amounts. The Company’s 
lines of business, the market pricing adequacy and the Company’s 
underwriting strategies have changed dynamically over the past eleven 
years. There is thus a significant risk that the potential volatility of the 
current reserve estimates could differ in a material manner from the 
historical trends.

Actual emergence will vary and may exceed the historical variation. 
The actual losses may not emerge as expected which would cause the 
ranges to expand or contract from year to year. The impact from the 
shift on ranges will be greater for lines with longer emergence patterns. 
The individual lines will also have greater variance than the range for 
the entire book of business. The statistical variation is expected to have 
a somewhat higher range of deterioration than savings. The history in 
itself is only a rough estimate of the potential volatility. The ranges have 
been refined by reserve segment in three categories —  Marine, Property 
Casualty and Professional Liability. These groupings give a sense of the 
volatility by sub- group but are not intended to be rigorous estimates 
even if such were possible. The total reserve variability is not equal to 
the sum of the segment variability due to the benefit of diversification.
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The range of ultimate unpaid amounts determined as described above are as follows:

Reasonably Likely Range of Deviation

Total Net Loss 
Reserve

Redundancy 
Amount %

Deficiency 
Amount %

In thousands, except per share amounts

Insurance Companies:
Marine  $ 223,986  $ 21,701   9.7%  $ 24,030   10.7%
Property Casualty   527,650   65,121   12.3%   74,290   14.1%
Professional Liability   150,982   35,348   23.4%   46,154   30.6%

Total Insurance Companies(1)   902,618   84,577   9.4%   93,321   10.3%
Lloyd’s Operations:

Marine   218,745   13,178   6.0%   14,023   6.4%
Property Casualty   44,141   3,407   7.7%   3,691   8.4%
Professional Liability   57,129   8,575   15.0%   10,089   17.7%

Total Lloyd’s Operations(1)   320,015   18,633   5.8%   19,785   6.2%

Subtotal   1,222,633   103,209   113,106
Portfolio effect   –   (16,387)   (19,646)

Total  $ 1,222,633  $ 86,823   7.1%  $ 93,460   7.6%

Increase (decrease) to net income
Amount  $ 56,435  $ (60,749)
Per Share(2)  $ 3.93  $ (4.23)

(1) The totals for each segment are adjusted for portfolio effect. The portfolio effect is the reduction in risk which arises out of diversification in 
the portfolio.

(2) Calculated using average diluted shares of 14,345,553 for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Reinsurance Recoverables
Reinsurance recoverables are established for the portion of the loss 
reserves that are ceded to reinsurers. Reinsurance recoverables are 
determined based upon the terms and conditions of reinsurance con-
tracts which could be subject to interpretations that differ from our 
own based on judicial theories of liability. In addition, we bear credit 
risk with respect to our reinsurers which can be significant consider-
ing that certain of the reserves remain outstanding for an extended 
period of time. We are required to pay losses even if a reinsurer fails 
to meet its obligations under the applicable reinsurance agreement. 
Additional information regarding our reinsurance recoverables can 
be found in the “Business —  Reinsurance Recoverables” section and 
Note 6, Reinsurance, to our consolidated financial statements, both 
included herein.

Written and Unearned Premium
Written premium is recorded based on the insurance policies that 

have been reported to us and the policies that have been written 
by agents but not yet reported to us. We must estimate the amount 
of written premium not yet reported based on judgments relative 
to current and historical trends of the business being written. Such 
estimates are regularly reviewed and updated and any resulting adjust-
ments are included in the current year’s results. An unearned premium 
reserve is established to reflect the unexpired portion of each policy 
at the financial reporting date. Reinsurance reinstatement premium is 
earned in the period in which the event occurred which created the 
need to record the reinstatement premium. Additional information 
regarding our written and unearned premium can be found in Note 1, 
Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 
6, Reinsurance, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
both included herein.

Substantially all of our business is placed through agents and bro-
kers. We record estimates for both unreported direct and assumed 

premium. We also record the ceded portion of the estimated gross 
written premium and related acquisition costs. The earned gross, ceded 
and net premiums are calculated based on our earning methodology 
which is generally pro- rata over the policy period. Losses are also 
recorded in relation to the earned premium. The estimate for losses 
incurred on the estimated premium is based on an actuarial calculation 
consistent with the methodology used to determine incurred but not 
reported loss reserves for reported premiums.

A portion of our premium is estimated for unreported premium, 
mostly for the Marine business written by our U.K. Branch and Lloyd’s 
Operations as well as the Accident & Health and Latin American & 
Caribbean property casualty and surety reinsurance business written 
by NavRe. We generally do not experience any significant backlog in 
processing premiums. Such premium estimates are generally based on 
submission data received from brokers and agents and recorded when 
the insurance policy or reinsurance contract is written or bound. The 
estimates are regularly reviewed and updated taking into account the 
premium received to date versus the estimate and the age of the esti-
mate. To the extent that the actual premium varies from the estimates, 
the difference, along with the related loss reserves and underwriting 
expenses, is recorded in current operations.

Deferred Tax Assets
We apply the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes 
whereby deferred assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax basis. In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, 
management considers whether it is more likely than not that the 
deferred tax assets will be realized. Additional information regarding our 
deferred tax assets can be found in Note 1, Organization and Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 7, Income Taxes, in the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, both included herein.
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Impairment of Invested Assets
Management regularly reviews our fixed maturity and equity securities 
portfolios to evaluate the necessity of recording impairment losses for 
other- than-temporary declines in the fair value of investments.

For fixed maturity securities, we consider our intent to sell a security 
and whether it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell 
a security before the anticipated recovery as part of the process of 
evaluating whether a security’s unrealized loss represents an other- 
than-temporary decline. For structured securities, we assess whether 
the amortized cost basis of a fixed maturity security will be recovered 
by comparing the present value of cash flows expected to be collected 
to the current book value. Any shortfalls of the present value of the cash 
flows expected to be collected in relation to the amortized cost basis is 
considered the credit loss portion of other- than-temporary impairment 
(“OTTI”) losses and is recognized in earnings. All non- credit losses are 
recognized as changes in OTTI losses within Other Comprehensive 
Income (“OCI”).

For equity securities, in general, the Company focuses its attention 
on those securities with a fair value less than 80% of their cost for six 
or more consecutive months. If warranted as the result of conditions 
relating to a particular security, the Company will focus on a significant 
decline in fair value regardless of the time period involved. Factors 
considered in evaluating potential impairment include, but are not lim-
ited to, the current fair value as compared to cost of the security, the 
length of time the investment has been below cost and by how much 
the investment is below cost. If these securities are deemed to be 
other- than-temporarily impaired, the cost is written down to fair value 
with the loss recognized in earnings.

For equity securities, the Company also considers its intent to 
hold securities as part of the process of evaluating whether a decline 
in fair value represents an other- than-temporary decline in value. For 
fixed maturity securities, the Company considers its intent to sell a 
security and whether it is more likely than not that the Company will be 
required to sell a security before the anticipated recovery as part of the 
process of evaluating whether a security’s unrealized loss represents 
an other- than-temporary decline. The Company’s ability to hold such 
securities is supported by sufficient cash flow from its operations 
and from maturities within its investment portfolio in order to meet its 
claims payment and other disbursement obligations arising from its 
underwriting operations without selling such investments. With respect 
to securities where the decline in value is determined to be temporary 
and the security’s value is not written down, a subsequent decision may 
be made to sell that security and realize a loss. Subsequent decisions 
on security sales are made within the context of overall risk monitoring, 
changing information and market conditions.

The day to day management of our investment portfolio is out-
sourced to third party investment managers. While these investment 
managers may, at a given point in time, believe that the preferred course 
of action is to hold securities with unrealized losses that are considered 
temporary until such losses are recovered, the dynamic nature of the 
portfolio management may result in a subsequent decision to sell the 
security and realize the loss based upon a change in the market and 
other factors described above. Investment managers are required to 
notify management of rating agency downgrades of securities in their 
portfolios as well as any potential investment valuation issues at the 
end of each quarter. Investment managers are also required to notify 
management, and receive approval, prior to the execution of a transac-
tion or series of related transactions that may result in a realized loss 
above a certain threshold. Additionally, management monitors the 
execution of a transaction or series of related transactions that may 
result in any realized loss up until a certain period beyond the close of 
a quarterly accounting period.

RESULTS OF OPER ATIONS

The following is a discussion and analysis of our consolidated and 
segment results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011. Our financial results are presented on the basis of 
U.S. GAAP. However, in presenting our financial results, we discuss 
our performance with reference to operating earnings, book value per 
share, underwriting profit or loss, and the combined ratio, all of which 
are non- GAAP financial measures of performance and/or underwrit-
ing profitability. Operating earnings is calculated as net income less 
after- tax net realized gains (losses),net OTTI losses recognized in 
earnings, and the after- tax call premium charge in connection with 
the redemption of our 7.0% Senior Notes due May 1, 2016. Book value 
per share is calculated by dividing stockholders’ equity by the number 
of outstanding shares at any period end. Underwriting profit or loss 
is calculated from net earned premiums, less the sum of net losses 
and LAE, commission expenses, other operating expenses and other 
income (expense). The combined ratio is derived by dividing the sum of 
net losses and LAE, commission expenses, other operating expenses 
and other income (expense) by net earned premiums. A combined ratio 
of less than 100% indicates an underwriting profit and greater 100% 
indicates an underwriting loss. We consider such measures, which 
may be defined differently by other companies, to be important in the 
understanding of our overall results of operations by highlighting the 
underlying profitability of our insurance business.
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Summary of Consolidated Results
The following table presents a summary of our consolidated financial results for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands, except for per share amounts

Gross written premiums  $ 1,370,517  $ 1,286,465  $ 1,108,216   6.5%   16.1%
Net written premiums   887,922   833,655   753,798   6.5%   10.6%
Total revenues   917,564   877,916   766,385   4.5%   14.6%
Total expenses   825,291   786,180   733,651   5.0%   7.2%

Pre- tax income (loss)  $ 92,273  $ 91,736  $ 32,734   0.6%   NM
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   28,807   27,974   7,137   3.0%   NM

Net income (loss)  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597   –0.5%   149.1%

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic  $ 4.49  $ 4.54  $ 1.71
Diluted  $ 4.42  $ 4.45  $ 1.69

NM —  Percentage change not meaningful.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $63.5 million or 
$4.42 per diluted share compared to $63.8 million or $4.45 per diluted 
share for the year ended December 31, 2012. Operating earnings for the 
year ended December 31, 2013 were $61.7 million or $4.30 per diluted 
share compared to $37.6  million or $2.63 per diluted share for the 
comparable period in 2012. In comparison to net income, our operating 
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2013 excluded after- tax net 
realized gains of $14.9 million, after- tax OTTI losses of $1.5 million and 
an after- tax charge of $11.6 million for the call premium in connection 
with the redemption of our 7.0% Notes due May 1, 2016. For the year 
ended December 31, 2012, operating earnings excluded after- tax net 
realized gains of $26.7 million and after- tax OTTI losses of $0.6 mil-
lion. The increase in our operating earnings was largely attributable to 
stronger underwriting results.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $63.8 million 
or $4.45 per diluted share compared to net income of $25.6 million or 
$1.69 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2011. Operating 
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $37.6 million or 
$2.63 per diluted share compared to $19.1 million or $1.26 per diluted 
share for the comparable period in 2011. In comparison to net income, 
operating earnings excludes after- tax net realized gains of $26.7 million 
and $7.8 million and after- tax OTTI losses of $0.6 million and $1.3 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The 
increase in our operating earnings was largely attributable to stronger 

underwriting results, partially offset by a decrease in net investment 
income driven by lower investment yields. The underwriting results for 
the year ended December 31, 2012 include net losses of $20.4 million 
related to Superstorm Sandy, $14.5 million from our Agriculture busi-
ness driven by significant drought related crop losses across the U.S., 
and $13.9 million related to significant large losses from our Marine 
business, including the grounding of the cruise ship Costa Concordia 
off the coast of Italy.

Our book value per share as of December 31, 2013 was $63.54, 
increasing 1.5% from $62.61 as of December 31, 2012. The slight growth 
in our book value per share is driven by the results of our operations 
and is mostly offset by a reduction in unrealized gains from our invest-
ment portfolio across all fixed income classes due to an increase in 
interest rates. Our consolidated stockholders’ equity increased 2.6% 
to $902.2 million as of December 31, 2013 compared to $879.5 million 
as of December 31, 2012.

Cash flow from operations were $136.9 million, $96.7 million and 
$118.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. 
The increase in cash flow from operations for 2013 is largely attribut-
able to the growth of our business as well as improved collections 
on premiums receivable. The decrease in cash flow from operations 
for 2012 was primarily due to an increase in claim payments, partially 
offset by improved collections on reinsurance recoverables as well as 
premiums receivables.



32

The following table presents our consolidated underwriting results and provides a reconciliation of our underwriting profit or loss to GAAP net 
income or loss for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Gross written premiums  $ 1,370,517  $ 1,286,465  $ 1,108,216   6.5%   16.1%
Net written premiums   887,922   833,655   753,798   6.5%   10.6%
Net earned premiums   841,939   781,964   691,645   7.7%   13.1%
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses   (518,961)   (497,433)   (476,997)   4.3%   4.3%
Commission expenses   (113,494)   (121,470)   (110,437)   –6.6%   10.0%
Other operating expenses   (164,434)   (159,079)   (138,029)   3.4%   15.3%
Other income (expenses)   (1,172)   1,488   1,229   NM   21.1%

Underwriting profit (loss)  $ 43,878  $ 5,470  $ (32,589)   NM   NM
Net investment income   56,251   54,248   63,500   3.7%   –14.6%
Net other-than-temporary impairment losses 

recognized in earnings   (2,393)   (858)   (1,985)   NM   –56.8%
Net realized gains (losses)   22,939   41,074   11,996   –44.2%   NM
Call premium on Senior Notes   (17,895)   –   –   NM   NM
Interest expense   (10,507)   (8,198)   (8,188)   28.2%   0.1%

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 92,273  $ 91,736  $ 32,734   0.6%   NM
Income tax expense (benefit)   28,807   27,974   7,137   3.0%   NM

Net income (loss)  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597   –0.5%   149.1%

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ratio   61.6%   63.6%   69.0%
Commission expense ratio   13.5%   15.5%   16.0%
Other operating expense ratio(1)   19.7%   20.2%   19.7%

Combined ratio   94.8%   99.3%   104.7%

(1) Includes Other operating expenses & Other income (expense).
NM — Percentage change not meaningful.

The combined ratio for the year ended December 31, 2013 was 94.8%. 
Our pre- tax underwriting profit increased $38.4 million to a $43.9 million 
underwriting profit for December 31, 2013 compared to $5.5 million for 
the same period in 2012.

Our pre- tax underwriting profit for 2013 is driven by strong under-
writing results affected by the mix of business and favorable loss 
trends of our Insurance Companies and our Lloyd’s Operations. Our 
Insurance Companies reported an underwriting profit of $25.6 million 
inclusive of $13.6 million and $16.3 million of underwriting profit from 
our Energy & Engineering and Marine businesses, respectively, in 
connection with favorable loss emergence from UY’s 2011 and prior. 
In addition, our Excess Casualty business produced an underwriting 
profit of $6.1 million as a result of continued strong production attribut-
able to the expansion of those underwriting teams and the continued 
dislocation of certain competitors, partially offset by an underwriting 
loss of $5.8  million from our D&O business due to net prior period 
reserve strengthening from UYs 2010 and prior, and an underwriting 
loss of $3.4 million from businesses in run- off. Our Lloyd’s Operations 
reported an underwriting profit of $18.2 million due to continued favor-
able loss emergence from all businesses from UYs 2011 and prior, 
partially offset by large current accident year losses from our Lloyd’s 
Marine and Lloyd’s Energy & Engineering businesses.

The combined ratio for the year ended December  31, 2012 was 
99.3%. Our pre- tax underwriting profit increased $38.1  million to a 
$5.5 million underwriting profit for December 31, 2012 compared to 
an underwriting loss of $32.6 million for the same period in 2011. Our 
pre- tax underwriting profit for 2012 includes the following:

• Net loss of $20.4  million, inclusive of $8.3  million in reinsurance 
reinstatement premiums (“RRPs”), related to Superstorm Sandy. 
Gross of reinsurance our loss related to Superstorm Sandy was 
approximately $66.7 million. Refer to subsection “Net Losses and 
Loss Adjustment Expenses” within this section of the MD&A for 
additional disclosure related to Superstorm Sandy.

• Current accident year loss emergence of $14.5  million from our 
Agriculture business that was driven by significant drought related 
crop losses across the U.S.

• Net losses of $13.9 million, inclusive of $11.1 million in RRPs, related 
to several large losses from our Marine business, including the 
grounding of the cruise ship Costa Concordia off the coast of Italy.

• Net reserve redundancies of $47.2  million from our Lloyd’s 
Operations across all businesses and all divisions, most notably 
Lloyd’s Marine.

In addition to the above, the increase in our pre- tax underwriting profit 
in 2012 was affected by the mix of business and loss trends.

The combined ratio for the year ended December  31, 2011 was 
104.7% compared to 100.7% for the comparable period in 2010. Our 
pre- tax underwriting loss increased by $27.7 million to $32.6 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to a $4.9 million loss 
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for the same period in 2010. Our pre- tax underwriting profit for 2011 
includes the following:

• 2011 accident year energy losses with a net loss of $25.6 million, 
inclusive of $8.2 million in RRPs, related to drilling operations in 
the North Sea, Gulf of Mexico and Russia, as well as an onshore 
industrial site.

• 2011 accident year loss emergence of approximately $11.0 million 
related to our Professional Liability business, of which approximately 
$8.0  million was specific to our D&O liability insurance for both 
publicly and privately held corporations. The remaining $3.0 million 
of emergence was specific to our small lawyers and miscellaneous 
professional liability coverages.

• An increase in our RRP accrual of $5.2 million. This accrual was 
driven by the recognition of the effect of a shift in our Marine 

reinsurance protections to an excess of loss program from a quota 
share program. As a result of this shift and the increased frequency 
of severity losses in recent periods, a greater portion of our IBNR 
was attributable to marine and energy losses that are or will be 
ceded to our Marine Excess- of-Loss Reinsurance program and such 
cession will trigger additional reinstatement premiums.

• Net adverse loss development of $2.1 million driven by significant 
loss emergence in our Professional Liability business mostly offset 
by redundancies from our Property Casualty business.

In addition to the net adverse impacts noted above, the increase in our 
pre- tax underwriting loss in 2011 was affected by the mix of business 
and loss trends.

Revenues
The following table sets forth our gross written premiums, net written premiums and net earned premiums by segment and line of business for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Gross 
Written 

Premiums %

Net 
Written 

Premiums

Net 
Earned 

Premiums

Gross 
Written 

Premiums %

Net 
Written 

Premiums

Net 
Earned 

Premiums

Gross 
Written 

Premiums %

Net 
Written 

Premiums

Net 
Earned 

Premiums

In thousands

Insurance Companies:
Marine $  171,822 13% $119,837 $129,276 $  200,095 16% $133,210 $142,181 $  228,500 21% $170,642 $169,018
Property Casualty 700,087 51% 462,942 409,480 590,741 46% 390,168 332,782 445,287 40% 293,758 231,297
Professional Liability 130,366 10% 97,229 100,582 130,489 10% 99,578 96,476 114,632 10% 77,991 72,148

Insurance 
Companies 1,002,275 74% 680,008 639,338 921,325 72% 622,956 571,439 788,419 71% 542,391 472,463

Lloyd’s Operations:
Marine 181,046 13% 134,627 138,690 194,423 15% 143,600 136,898 167,562 16% 137,206 145,659
Property Casualty 129,522 9% 42,334 37,722 127,028 10% 43,824 52,951 115,138 10% 56,249 55,903
Professional Liability 57,674 4% 30,953 26,189 43,689 3% 23,275 20,676 37,097 3% 17,952 17,620

Lloyd’s Operations 368,242 26% 207,914 202,601 365,140 28% 210,699 210,525 319,797 29% 211,407 219,182

Total $1,370,517 100% $887,922 $841,939 $1,286,465 100% $833,655 $781,964 $1,108,216 100% $753,798 $691,645

Gross Written Premiums
Gross written premiums increased $84.1 million, or 6.5%, to $1.37 bil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $1.29 billion 
for the same period in 2012. The increase in gross written premiums is 
primarily attributed to growth within our Insurance Companies Property 
Casualty business, specifically from our Excess Casualty and Primary 
Casualty divisions as a result of strong production attributable to an 
expansion of our underwriting teams and continued dislocation among 
certain competitors. In addition, we have experienced growth in Lloyd’s 
Professional Liability as a result of strong new business production. 
The aforementioned increases were partially offset by a decrease in 
our Insurance Companies Marine business in connection with the re- 
underwriting of our Inland Marine division and certain non- renewals 
from our Blue Water Hull product line, as well as a decrease in our 
Lloyd’s Marine business due to non- renewals from our Cargo and 
Transport product lines.

Gross written premiums increased $178.2  million, or 16.1%, to 
$1.29  billion for the year ended December  31, 2012 compared to 
$1.11 billion for the same period in 2011. The increases in gross writ-
ten premiums are primarily attributed to growth within our Property 

Casualty business, specifically our Assumed Reinsurance division, 
which writes Accident & Health (“A&H”), Agriculture, Latin American 
and Professional Liability reinsurance lines of business, as the division 
continues to achieve successful growth since its establishment in late 
2010. The increase within Property Casualty is also attributed to growth 
within our Excess Casualty division resulting from strong production 
attributable to an expansion of our underwriting team and dislocation 
among certain competitors.

Average renewal premium rates for our Insurance Companies seg-
ment for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased as compared 
to the same period in 2012 across substantially all of our businesses 
within each segment. Our Insurance Companies Marine business has 
realized a 4.7%, 8.5% and 6.2% increase in rates for the Marine Liability, 
Inland Marine and Craft divisions, respectively. Within our Insurance 
Companies Property Casualty business we have realized a 4.6% 
increase in rates for the Excess Casualty division and a 2.5% increase 
in the Primary Casualty division, partially offset by a 2.7% decrease 
from our Energy & Engineering division. Our Insurance Companies 
Professional Liability business has experienced an overall increase in 
its renewal rates of 3.4%, consisting of 5.0% and 2.7% for the D&O and 
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E&O divisions, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2013, 
average renewal premium rates for our Lloyd’s Operations segment 
include increases for Lloyd’s Marine and Lloyd’s Property Casualty of 
approximately 3.4% and 1.6%, respectively. Our Lloyd’s Professional 
Liability business experienced an average decrease of 1.7%.

Average renewal premium rates for our Insurance Companies 
segment also increased for the year ended December  31, 2012 as 
compared to the same period in 2011 across all segments. Our Marine 
business has realized a 4.4% and 4.5% increase in rates for the Marine 
Liability and Inland Marine divisions, respectively. Within our Property 
Casualty business we have realized a 2.9% increase in rates for the 
Energy and Engineering division, a 2.2% increase for the Excess 
Casualty division and a 7.9% increase in the Primary Casualty divi-
sion. Our Professional Liability business has experienced an overall 
increase in its renewal rates of 5.1%, consisting of 5.7% and 4.2% for 
the E&O and the Management Liability divisions, respectively. For the 
year ended December  31, 2012, average renewal premium rates for 
our Lloyd’s Operations segment include increases for Lloyd’s Marine 
and Lloyd’s Energy and Engineering for approximately 3.6% and 7.4%, 
respectively. Our Lloyd’s Professional Liability business experienced 
an average decrease of 1.4%.

The average premium rate increases or decreases as noted above 
for the Marine, Property Casualty and Professional Liability businesses 
are calculated primarily by comparing premium amounts on policies that 
have renewed. The premiums are adjusted for changes in exposures 
and sometimes represent an aggregation of several lines of business. 
The rate change calculations provide an indicated pricing trend and are 
not meant to be a precise analysis of the numerous factors that affect 
premium rates or the adequacy of such rates to cover all underwriting 
costs and generate an underwriting profit. The calculation can also be 
affected quarter by quarter depending on the particular policies and 
the number of policies that renew during that period. Due to market 
conditions, these rate changes may or may not apply to new business 
that generally would be more competitively priced compared to renewal 

business. The calculation does not reflect the rate on business that we 
are unwilling or unable to renew due to loss experience or competition.

Ceded Written Premiums
In the ordinary course of business, we reinsure certain insurance risks 
with unaffiliated insurance companies for the purpose of limiting our 
maximum loss exposure, protecting against catastrophic losses and 
maintaining desired ratios of net premiums written to statutory surplus. 
The relationship of ceded to gross written premium varies based upon 
the types of business written and whether the business is written by 
the Insurance Companies or the Lloyd’s Operations.

Our reinsurance program includes contracts for proportional rein-
surance, per risk and whole account excess- of-loss reinsurance for 
both property and casualty risks and property catastrophe excess- of-
loss reinsurance. In recent years we have increased our utilization of 
excess- of-loss reinsurance for marine, property and certain casualty 
risks. Our excess- of-loss reinsurance contracts generally provide for 
a specific amount of coverage in excess of an attachment point and 
sometimes provides for reinstatement of the coverage to the extent 
the limit has been exhausted for payment of additional premium. The 
number of reinsurance reinstatements available varies by contract.

We record an estimate of the expected RRPs for losses ceded to 
excess- of-loss agreements where this feature applies.

We incurred $3.0 million, $26.9 million and $14.8 million of RRPs 
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. 
The total RRPs recorded in 2013 relate to large losses in our Marine 
business. The total RRPs recorded in 2012 included $11.1 million from 
several large losses on our marine business, including the grounding 
of the cruise ship Costa Concordia off the coast of Italy as well as 
$8.3  million in connection with our loss on Superstorm Sandy. The 
total RRPs recorded in 2011 are due to the large energy losses from 
our NavTech business and the accrual for large losses from our Marine 
business reflective of our shift to excess- of-loss reinsurance protection.

The following table sets forth our ceded written premiums by segment and major line of business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Ceded 
Written 

Premiums

% of Gross 
Written 

Premiums

Ceded 
Written 

Premiums

% of Gross 
Written 

Premiums

Ceded 
Written 

Premiums

% of Gross 
Written 

Premiums

In thousands

Insurance Companies:
Marine  $ 51,985   30%  $ 66,885   33%  $ 57,858   25%
Property Casualty   237,145   34%   200,573   34%   151,529   34%
Professional Liability   33,137   25%   30,911   24%   36,641   32%

Insurance Companies   322,267   32%   298,369   32%   246,028   31%

Lloyd’s Operations:
Marine   46,419   26%   50,823   26%   30,356   18%
Property Casualty   87,188   67%   83,204   66%   58,889   51%
Professional Liability   26,721   46%   20,414   47%   19,145   52%

Lloyd’s Operations   160,328   44%   154,441   42%   108,390   34%

Total  $ 482,595   35%  $ 452,810   35%  $ 354,418   32%
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Overall, the percentage of total ceded written premiums to total gross 
written premiums for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 has 
remained constant at 35%. The decrease in percentage for Insurance 
Companies Marine is driven by a reduction in RRPs in connection with 
a reduction in large loss activity, partially offset by increase in ceded 
written premiums related to a true- up of certain estimated Minimum 
and Deposit (“M&D”) premium adjustments in the year. The Insurance 
Company Professional Liability percentage increased in 2013 due to an 
additional proportional contract covering this business. The increase in 
the percentage for the Lloyd’s Operations Property Casualty business 
is driven by an increased use of proportional reinsurance to support 
our offshore energy business for 2013.

The increase in percentage of total ceded written premiums to total 
gross written premiums for the year ended December 31, 2012 com-
pared to the same period in 2011 was primarily due to a lower retention 
ratio on our NavTech business as a result of a new quota share program 
for the offshore energy book and the RRPs recognized in our Marine 
business as a result of significant large loss activity during the year. 
The aforementioned increases were partially offset by a change in the 
mix of business resulting in the growth of our assumed reinsurance 
business written by NavRe and the continued growth of the real estate 
products offered by our Professional liability business where our reten-
tion ratios are higher.

Net Written Premiums
Net written premiums increased 6.5% for the year ended December 31, 
2013 compared to the same period in 2012. The increase is due to the 
mix of our Insurance Companies Property Casualty business and is 
specifically driven by the continued growth of our Excess Casualty 
and Primary Casualty businesses and more RRPs recorded in 2012 
in connection with several losses from our Marine businesses. The 

aforementioned increases are partially offset by a decrease in our 
Marine business in connection with the re- underwriting of our Inland 
Marine division.

Net written premiums increased 10.6% for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011. The increase 
is due to higher gross written premiums and the mix of business driven 
by our assumed reinsurance business written by NavRe, partially offset 
by higher premium cessions on our NavTech business and the addi-
tional RRPs recognized in our Marine business as discussed above.

Net Earned Premiums
Net earned premiums increased 7.7% for the year ended December 31, 
2013 compared to the same period in 2012, driven by earnings from 
the continued growth of our Insurance Companies Excess Casualty, 
Primary Casualty, and our Assumed Reinsurance business, which 
includes the A&H lines that are recognized in earnings over a longer 
exposure period than our other lines of business. In addition, the 
increases are also attributable to the RRPs recorded in 2012, and are 
partially offset by a decrease from the re- underwriting of our Inland 
Marine business, as described above.

Net earned premiums increased 13.1% for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 compared to the same period in 2011 as a result 
of continued growth in gross written premiums as well as a change 
in our mix of business driven by our assumed reinsurance business, 
which includes the A&H lines that are recognized in earnings over a 
longer exposure period than our other lines of business, and to a lesser 
extent, the expansion of products offered by our Professional Liability 
division where our retention ratios are higher. The increase in net earned 
premiums was partially offset by the additional RRPs in connection with 
loss activity in our Marine business, as discussed above.

Net Investment Income
Our net investment income was derived from the following sources:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Fixed maturities  $ 53,898  $ 58,995  $ 65,060   –8.6%   –9.3%
Equity securities   4,835   3,945   5,071   22.6%   –22.2%
Short- term investments   774   1,694   964   –54.3%   75.7%

Total investment income  $ 59,507  $ 64,634  $ 71,095   –7.9%   –9.1%
Investment expenses   (3,256)   (10,386)   (7,595)   –68.7%   36.7%

Net investment income  $ 56,251  $ 54,248  $ 63,500   3.7%   –14.6%

The decrease in total investment income before investment expenses 
for all years presented was primarily due to lower investment yields. 
The annualized pre- tax investment yield, excluding net realized gains 
and losses and net other- than-temporary impairment (“OTTI”) losses 
recognized in earnings, was 2.4%, 2.4% and 3.0% for the years ended 
December  31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The years ended 
2012 and 2011 included unusual amounts in investment expenses as 
discussed below. Excluding these items, the yields for 2012 and 2011 
would have been 2.7% and 3.2%, respectively.

The 2.4% and 3.0% annualized pre- tax yields for the years ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, include investment expenses of $4.5 mil-
lion and $4.7 million, respectively, for a total of $9.2 million, of interest 
expense related to the settlement of a dispute with Equitas over 
foregone interest on amounts that were due on certain reinsurance 

contracts. In the dispute Equitas alleged that we failed to make timely 
payments to them under certain reinsurance agreements in connec-
tion with subrogation recoveries received by us with respect to several 
catastrophe losses that occurred in the late 1980’s and early 1990’s. 
In addition, investment expenses for the year ended December  31, 
2012 includes a $2.8 million investment performance fee. Excluding 
the impact of the aforementioned interest expense and investment 
performance fee, the annualized pre- tax yield for the years ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 would have been 2.7% and 3.2%, reflec-
tive of the general decline in market yield.

The portfolio duration was 3.7 years for the year ended December 31, 
2013 and was 3.6 years for each of the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011.
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Net Other- Than-Temporary Impairment Losses Recognized In Earnings
Our net OTTI losses recognized in earnings for the periods indicated were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Fixed maturities  $ (1,821)  $ (11)  $ (1,093)   NM   –99.0%
Equity securities   (572)   (847)   (892)   –32.5%   –5.0%

OTTI recognized in earnings  $ (2,393)  $ (858)  $ (1,985)   NM   –56.8%

NM — Percentage change not meaningful.

Net OTTI losses for the year ended December 31, 2013 consisted of 
$1.8 million for one municipal bond and $0.6 million for three equity 
securities for which fair value was less than 80% of amortized cost for 
at least six months.

Net OTTI losses for the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily 
consists of $0.8 million for three equity securities which were previ-
ously impaired.

Net OTTI losses for the year ended December 31, 2011 consisted of 
$1.0 million of additional impairments for residential mortgage- backed 
securities that were previously impaired and $0.9 million for two equity 
securities for which fair value was less than 80% of amortized cost for 
at least six months.

Net Realized Gains and Losses
Realized gains and losses, excluding net OTTI losses recognized in earnings, for the periods indicated were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
Gains  $ 8,539  $ 28,789  $ 11,678   –70.3%   146.5%
Losses   (2,797)   (1,915)   (7,044)   46.1%   –72.8%

Fixed maturities, net  $ 5,742  $ 26,874  $ 4,634   –78.6%   NM
Equity securities:

Gains  $ 17,955  $ 14,673  $ 9,319   22.4%   57.5%
Losses   (758)   (473)   (1,957)   60.3%   –75.8%

Equity securities, net  $ 17,197  $ 14,200  $ 7,362   21.1%   92.9%

Net realized gains (losses)  $ 22,939  $ 41,074  $ 11,996   –44.2%   NM

NM —  Percentage change not meaningful.

Net realized gains and losses are generated as part of the normal 
ongoing management of our investment portfolio. Net realized gains of 
$22.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 are primarily due to 
the sale of equities. Net realized gains of $41.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 are primarily due to the sale of municipal bonds 
and equity securities in anticipation of continued market uncertainty, 
the proceeds of which were reinvested in U.S. Government Treasury 
bonds and equities. Net realized gains of $12.0  million for the year 
ended December  31, 2011 primarily included the sale of corporate 
bonds and equity mutual funds.

Other Income/Expense
Total other expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $1.2 mil-
lion compared to total other income of $1.5  million and $1.2  million 
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Other 
income consists of foreign exchange gains and losses from our Lloyd’s 
Operations, commission income and inspection fees related to our 
specialty insurance business.

Expenses
Net Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
The ratio of net losses and LAE to net earned premiums (“loss ratios”) 
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 is presented 
in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

Net Loss and LAE Ratio 2013 2012 2011

Net Loss and LAE Payments   61.0%   66.2%   55.3%
Change in reserves   0.7%   3.2%   13.4%

Subtotal —  current year loss ratio   61.7%   69.4%   68.7%
Prior year deficiencies 

(redundancies)   –0.1%   –5.8%   0.3%

Net loss and LAE ratio   61.6%   63.6%   69.0%

The net loss and LAE ratio for the year ended December  31, 2013 
decreased 2.0 percentage points to 61.6% from 63.6% for the year 
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in the loss ratio reflects an 
improvement in the current accident year driven by mix of business, 
loss trends, and a reduction in large loss events as compared to the 
same period in 2012.
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The net loss and LAE ratio for the year ended December 31, 2012 
decreased 5.4 percentage points to 63.6% from 69.0% for the year 
ended December  31, 2011. The decrease in the loss ratio reflects 
improved loss experience due to net prior year reserve redundancies 
of $47.2 million, or 6 loss ratio points, from our Lloyd’s Operations and 
loss ratio trends driven by mix of business. The improvement in the 
loss ratio was partially offset by $14.5 million, or 1.9 loss ratio points 
of current year loss emergence from our Agriculture reinsurance busi-
ness, and specific large loss events that occurred in the current year. 
The loss ratio includes a net loss of $12.1 million, exclusive of RRPs, 
or 1.5 loss ratio points, related to Superstorm Sandy and net losses 
of $2.8 million, exclusive of RRPs, or 0.4 loss ratio points, related to 
several large losses from our Marine business, including the grounding 
of the cruise ship Costa Concordia off the coast of Italy.

The segment and line of business breakdown of the net loss and LAE 
ratios for the years ended December  31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are 
as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Insurance Companies:
Marine   48.4%   77.4%   65.8%
Property Casualty   68.5%   70.8%   65.7%
Professional Liability   71.8%   73.8%   108.8%

Insurance Companies   65.0%   73.0%   72.3%
Lloyd’s Operations:

Marine   55.1%   37.3%   60.0%
Property Casualty   36.7%   44.7%   48.7%
Professional Liability   50.6%   26.8%   118.3%

Lloyd’s Operations   51.1%   38.2%   61.8%

Net loss and LAE ratio   61.6%   63.6%   69.0%

Prior Year Reserve Deficiencies/Redundancies
The relevant factors that may have a significant impact on the estab-
lishment and adjustment of losses and LAE reserves can vary by line 
of business and from period to period. As part of our regular review of 
prior reserves, management, in consultation with our actuaries, may 
determine, based on their judgment that certain assumptions made 
in the reserving process in prior year periods may need to be revised 
to reflect various factors, likely including the availability of additional 
information. Based on their reserve analyses, management may make 
corresponding reserve adjustments.

The segment and line of business breakdowns of prior period net 
reserve deficiencies (redundancies) for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Insurance Companies:
Marine  $ (15,227)  $ (10,010)  $ 1,348
Property Casualty   18,466   4,293   (6,828)
Professional Liability   10,191   7,613   17,582

Insurance Companies  $ 13,430  $ 1,896  $ 12,102
Lloyd’s Operations:

Marine  $ (2,998)  $ (30,735)  $ (10,311)
Property Casualty   (14,574)   (6,890)   (5,434)
Professional Liability   2,876   (9,562)   5,788

Lloyd’s Operations  $ (14,696)  $ (47,187)  $ (9,957)

Total deficiencies 
(redundancies)  $ (1,266)  $ (45,291)  $ 2,145

The following is a discussion of relevant factors related to the $1.3 mil-
lion prior period net reserve releases recorded for the year ended 
December 31, 2013:

The Insurance Companies recorded $13.4 million of net strengthen-
ing primarily driven by our Property Casualty and Professional Liability 
businesses. Within the Property Casualty business, we reported net 
prior period reserve strengthening of $18.5  million, which includes 
$13.2  million of net strengthening from our Assumed Reinsurance 
division mostly attributable to our excess- of-loss A&H treaty business 
in connection with UYs 2012 and 2011, $10.4 million of strengthening 
from our Primary Casualty business related to our general liability 
coverage for general and artisan contractors, and a total of $2.1 million 
of strengthening for business in run- off. The aforementioned net prior 
period reserve strengthening was partially offset by $8.0 million of net 
prior period reserve releases from our Energy & Engineering division 
in connection with favorable emergence on our offshore energy lines 
written by our UK Branch.

Our Insurance Companies Professional Liability business reported 
net prior period reserve strengthening of $10.2 million largely attribut-
able to $6.1 million reserve strengthening from our D&O division related 
to specific large claims for UYs 2010 and prior, and $4.4 million reserve 
strengthening from our E&O division related to specific large claims 
from our insurance agents, miscellaneous professional liability, and 
small lawyer lines from UYs 2011 and prior.

The aforementioned net prior period reserve strengthening from 
our Insurance Companies Property Casualty and Professional Liability 
were partially offset by $15.2 million of net reserve releases from our 
Insurance Companies Marine business in connection with favorable 
emergence from our Marine liability lines for UYs 2012 and prior.

Our Lloyd’s Operations recorded $14.7  million of net reserve 
releases driven by our Property Casualty and Marine businesses par-
tially offset by strengthening in our Professional Liability business. 
Within our Lloyd’s Property Casualty business we reported net prior 
period reserve releases of $14.6 million primarily from our Energy & 
Engineering division. Within our Lloyd’s Marine business we reported 
prior period reserve releases of $3.0 million driven by our marine liability 
business. Within our Lloyd’s Professional Liability business we reported 
strengthening of $2.9 million, inclusive of $6.1 million of strengthening 
in our Lloyd’s E&O business partially offset by $3.2 million of favorable 
emergence from our Lloyd’s D&O business.
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The following is a discussion of relevant factors related to the 
$45.3 million prior period net reserve releases recorded for the year 
ended December 31, 2012:

The Insurance Companies recorded $1.9 million net strengthening. 
The Marine business had $10.0 million of net reserve releases, which 
were primarily driven by:

• an IBNR adjustment of 4.0 million to reflect the actual emergence of 
claims for underwriting year “(UY)” 2010, which was more favorable 
than the expected emergence;

• case reserve releases of $3.4 million due to the favorable settlement 
of several large losses; and

• a favorable IBNR adjustment of $2.6 million attributable to changes 
in our assumptions for salvage and subrogation from our short tail 
marine lines that was based on our observation of a consistent and 
persistent historical pattern of favorable savings attributable to 
salvage and subrogation.

The Marine reserve releases were partially offset by net strengthening 
of $7.6 million from the small lawyer and accountants lines within our 
Professional Liability business. This strengthening was primarily driven 
by several large losses that caused the actual claims emergence for 
these lines to exceed the expected losses. We also incurred net reserve 
strengthening of $4.3 million within our Property Casualty segment, 
which were primarily attributable to two large hemophiliac claims from 
UY 2011 arising from our A&H business.

Our Lloyd’s Operations recorded $47.2 million of net prior period 
reserve releases across all businesses and divisions. In connection 
with the Company’s implementation of the Solvency II technical provi-
sions in its Lloyd’s operation, the Company’s actuaries undertook a 
comprehensive review during 2012 of the historical claims emergence 
patterns for all lines of business underwritten through Syndicate 1221. 
As a result of this review, the Company updated the loss emergence 
patterns used to project ultimate losses for all such lines of business, 
aligning these loss emergence factors with the historical median. This 
caused a reduction in ultimate loss estimates for all Lloyd’s segments 
other than certain lines of business in Property Casualty segment, 
which increased. The Lloyd’s Operation also experienced significant 
reserve redundancies in several large claims. The amount of reserve 
redundancies attributable to these settlements was $5.0 million, con-
sisting of $4.1 million from the Lloyd’s Marine business and $0.9 million 
from Lloyd’s Professional Liability business. A summary of the result-
ing prior period redundancies for each business within our Lloyd’s 
Operations by prior UY is set forth below:

Marine
Property 
Casualty

Professional 
Liability Total

In thousands

2010  $ 3,492  $ 378  $ 1,157  $ 5,027
2009   14,792   4,170   6,072   25,034
2008 and Prior   12,451   2,342   2,333   17,126

Total Redundancy  $ 30,735  $ 6,890  $ 9,562  $ 47,187

The following is a discussion of relevant factors related to the 
$2.1 million net reserve deficiency for the year ended December 31, 2011:

The adverse development of $1.3  million for our Insurance 
Companies Marine business was driven by $4.0 million of unfavorable 
loss emergence in Inland Marine in accident years 2009 and 2010 which 
was offset by $2.7 million favorable development in Ocean Marine. The 
Ocean Marine development was driven by $5.8  million of favorable 
development in accident years 2008 to 2010 and was partially offset 
by $3.2 million of adverse development for accident years 2007 and 
prior. Ocean Marine’s favorable development was driven by the Craft, 
protection and indemnity, and Transport classes with partial offsets 
from the Specie and Liability classes.

Our Insurance Companies Property Casualty business experienced 
$6.8 million of favorable development overall which was driven by favor-
able development of $8.4 million from Offshore Energy across several 
accident years and was partially offset by adverse development from 
runoff Liquor Liability in accident years 2008 and 2009.

Our Insurance Companies Professional Liability business had overall 
adverse development of $17.6 million, which consisted of adverse devel-
opment of $14.5 million and $3.1 million from Management Liability and 
Errors and Omissions, respectively. The Management Liability devel-
opment was primarily driven by liability coverage of Public Company 
directors and officers for accident years 2009 and 2010. The Errors 
and Omissions development was driven by Small Lawyers Professional 
Liability and Miscellaneous Professional Liability classes for accident 
year 2010.

Our Lloyd’s operations experienced $10.0 million of favorable devel-
opment. This was driven by favorable development of $10.3 million and 
$5.5 million from the Marine and NavTech divisions respectively, which 
was partially offset by $5.8 million of unfavorable development from 
Professional Liability. The favorable development in Marine was primar-
ily from the Cargo, Liability and Specie classes for accident years 2008 
and prior. The favorable development in NavTech was from Offshore 
Energy primarily in accident years 2007 to 2009. The adverse develop-
ment in Professional Liability was mostly from Errors and Omissions in 
accident years 2006 to 2008.

Superstorm Sandy
During 2012, we recorded gross and net loss estimates of $66.7 million 
and $12.1 million, respectively, exclusive of $8.3 million for the cost of 
excess- of-loss reinstatement premiums related to the fourth quarter 
2012 Superstorm Sandy. Our pre- tax net loss as a result of Superstorm 
Sandy was approximately $20.4 million which increased our combined 
ratio by 2.6 points.
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The following table sets forth our gross and net loss and LAE reserves, 
incurred loss and LAE, and payments for Superstorm Sandy for the 
periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

In thousands

Gross of Reinsurance
Beginning gross reserves  $ 62,847  $ –
Incurred loss & LAE   21   66,674
Calendar year payments   32,988   3,827

Ending gross reserves  $ 29,880  $ 62,847

Gross case loss reserves  $ 6,757  $ 26,294
Gross IBNR loss reserves   23,123   36,553

Ending gross reserves  $ 29,880  $ 62,847

Net of Reinsurance
Beginning net reserves  $ 8,628  $ –
Incurred loss & LAE   (450)   12,087
Calendar year payments   7,720   3,459

Ending net reserves  $ 458  $ 8,628

Net case loss reserves  $ 338  $ 7,455
Net IBNR loss reserves   120   1,173

Ending net reserves  $ 458  $ 8,628

Hurricanes Gustav and Ike
The following table sets forth our gross and net loss and LAE reserves, 
incurred loss and LAE, and payments for the 2008 Hurricanes Gustav 
and Ike for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Gross of Reinsurance
Beginning gross reserves  $ 15,777  $ 31,170  $ 40,095
Incurred loss & LAE   (11,260)   (12,551)   (77)
Calendar year payments   1,190   2,842   8,848

Ending gross reserves  $ 3,327  $ 15,777  $ 31,170

Gross case loss reserves  $ 2,821  $ 2,404  $ 7,317
Gross IBNR loss reserves   506   13,373   23,853

Ending gross reserves  $ 3,327  $ 15,777  $ 31,170

Net of Reinsurance
Beginning net reserves  $ 844  $ 1,150  $ 569
Incurred loss & LAE   (413)   (58)   141
Calendar year payments   (1)   248   (440)

Ending net reserves  $ 432  $ 844  $ 1,150

Net case loss reserves  $ 404  $ 344  $ 951
Net IBNR loss reserves   28   500   199

Ending net reserves  $ 432  $ 844  $ 1,150

Asbestos Liability
Our exposure to asbestos liability principally stems from marine liabil-
ity insurance written on an occurrence basis during the mid-1980s. In 
general, our participation on such risks is in the excess layers, which 
requires the underlying coverage to be exhausted prior to coverage 
being triggered in our layer. In many instances we are one of many 
insurers who participate in the defense and ultimate settlement of these 
claims, and we are generally a minor participant in the overall insurance 
coverage and settlement.

The reserves for asbestos exposures as of December 31, 2013 are 
for: (i) one large settled claim for excess insurance policy limits exposed 
to a class action suit against an insured involved in the manufacturing 
or distribution of asbestos products being paid over several years and 
(ii) attritional asbestos claims that could be expected to occur over 
time. Substantially all of our asbestos liability reserves are included in 
our marine loss reserves.

There can be no assurances that material loss development may not 
arise in the future from existing asbestos claims or new claims given 
the evolving and complex legal environment that may directly impact 
the outcome of the asbestos exposures of our insureds.

The following tables set forth our gross and net loss and LAE reserves, 
incurred loss and LAE, and payments for our asbestos exposures for 
the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Gross of Reinsurance
Beginning gross reserves  $ 24,223  $ 19,830  $ 20,513
Incurred loss & LAE   3,040   5,032   128
Calendar year payments   11,744   639   811

Ending gross reserves  $ 15,519  $ 24,223  $ 19,830

Gross case loss reserves  $ 13,254  $ 21,958  $ 13,565
Gross IBNR loss reserves   2,265   2,265   6,265

Ending gross reserves  $ 15,519  $ 24,223  $ 19,830

Net of Reinsurance
Beginning net reserves  $ 14,477  $ 15,089  $ 15,161
Incurred loss & LAE   724   (317)   (780)
Calendar year payments   4,887   295   (708)

Ending net reserves  $ 10,314  $ 14,477  $ 15,089

Net case loss reserves  $ 8,254  $ 12,417  $ 9,029
Net IBNR loss reserves   2,060   2,060   6,060

Ending net reserves  $ 10,314  $ 14,477  $ 15,089

Commission Expenses
Commission expenses paid to brokers and agents are generally based 
on a percentage of gross written premiums and are partially offset 
by ceding commissions we may receive on ceded written premiums. 
Commissions are generally deferred and recorded as deferred policy 
acquisition costs to the extent that they relate to unearned premium. 
The percentage of commission expenses to net earned premiums 
(“commission expense ratio”) for the years ended December  31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011 was 13.5%, 15.5% and 16.0%, respectively. The 
decrease in commission expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 
compared to the same period in 2012 is attributed to the changes in the 
mix of business, mostly driven by an increase in the ceding commission 
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on the quota share program for our offshore energy business, and to 
a lesser extent RRPs recorded in 2012 in connection with loss events 
from our Marine business. The decrease in commission expense for 
the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the same period in 
2011 can be attributed to changes in the mix of business and to a lesser 
extent an increase in the ceding commission on the new quota share 
program for our offshore energy business, partially offset by additional 
RRPs in 2012 in connection with loss events from our Marine business.

Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses increased to $164.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 compared to $159.1 million for the same period 
during 2012. The increase is primarily due to continued investments in 
new underwriting teams closely aligned with business growth and an 
increase in incentive compensation.

Other operating expenses increased to $159.1 million for the year 
ended December  31, 2012 from $138.0  million for the same period 
in 2011 primarily due to continued investments in new underwriting 
teams closely aligned with business growth and an increase in incen-
tive compensation, which is largely impacted by a reversal of stock 
grants expense recorded for 2011 related to performance based awards 
that were not expected to vest, and to a lesser extent the issuance of 
additional performance and non- performance restricted stock grants 
in 2012. Refer to Note 14, Stock Option Plans, Stock Grants, Stock 
Appreciation Rights and Employee Stock Purchase Plan, in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding 
our expense for restricted stock grants.

Call Premium on Senior Notes
In the fourth quarter of 2013 we incurred a charge of $17.9 million for 
the payment of a call premium in connection with the redemption of 
our 7.0% Senior Notes due 2016.

Interest Expense
Interest expense relates to our Senior Notes. Interest expense increased 
to $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $8.2 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 primarily due 
to the completion of our public debt offering of $265 million principal 
amount of 5.75% Senior Notes due October 15, 2023 and the subse-
quent redemption of the $115 million aggregate principal amount of our 
7% Senior Notes due May 1, 2016. The effective interest rate related 
to the 5.75% Senior Notes and 7.0% Senior Notes, based on the pro-
ceeds net of discount and all issuance costs, approximates 5.86% and 
7.17%, respectively.

Income Taxes
We recorded income tax expense of $28.8 million, $28.0 million and 
$7.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 
respectively. The effective tax rates were 31.2%, 30.5% and 21.8% for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The 
increase in the effective tax rate from 2012 to 2013 is due to a smaller 
percentage of tax- exempt interest earned during 2013. The increase 
in effective tax rate from 2011 to 2012 resulted primarily from a higher 
percentage of pre- tax income being subject to the maximum federal 
income tax rate in 2012, due in part to net realized gains on the sales 
of investments. The effective tax rate on net investment income was 
27.8%, 26.8% and 27.6% for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011 respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, the net deferred federal, foreign, state 
and local tax assets were $28.2 million, compared to $3.2 million as 
of December 31, 2012 with the change primarily due to the increase 
in unrealized losses on investments and the increase in the deferred 
tax asset for unearned premium reserve, in line with the growth of 
our business.

We had net state and local deferred tax assets amounting to poten-
tial future tax benefits of $0.6 million and $0.5 million as of December 31, 
2013 and 2012, respectively. Included in the deferred tax assets are 
state and local net operating loss carry- forwards of $0.1 million and 
$0.2 million for December 31, 2013 and 2012. A valuation allowance 
was established for the full amount of these potential future tax benefits 
due to uncertainty associated with their realization. Our state and local 
tax carry- forwards as of December 31, 2013 expire from 2023 to 2031. 
Refer to Footnote 7, Income Taxes, included herein, for further detail 
on the temporary differences that give rise to federal, foreign, state and 
local deferred tax assets or liabilities.

The Company has not provided for U.S. income taxes on approxi-
mately $20.3  million of undistributed earnings of its non- U.S. 
subsidiaries since it is intended that those earnings will be reinvested 
indefinitely in those subsidiaries. If a future determination is made that 
those earnings no longer are intended to be reinvested indefinitely in 
those subsidiaries, U.S. income taxes of approximately $2.1 million, 
assuming all foreign tax credits are realized, would be included in the 
tax provision at that time and would be payable if those earnings were 
distributed to the Company.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

We classify our business into two underwriting segments consisting 
of the Insurance Companies and the Lloyd’s Operations, which are 
separately managed by division and aggregated in to each underwriting 
segment, and a Corporate segment. Segment data for each of the two 
underwriting segments include allocations of the operating expenses 
of the wholly- owned underwriting management companies and The 
Navigator’s Group, Inc.’s (the “Parent Company’s”) operating expenses 
and related income tax amounts. The Corporate segment consists of 
the Parent Company’s investment income, interest expense and the 
related tax effect.

We evaluate the performance of each segment based on its under-
writing and GAAP results. The underwriting results of the Insurance 
Companies and the Lloyd’s Operations are measured by taking into 
account net earned premium, net loss and LAE, commission expenses, 
other operating expenses and other income (expense). Each segment 
also maintains its own investments, on which it earns income and real-
izes capital gains or losses. Our underwriting performance is evaluated 
separately from the performance of our investment portfolios.

Following are the financial results of our two underwriting segments.

Insurance Companies
The Insurance Companies consist of Navigators Insurance Company, 
including its U.K. Branch, and its wholly- owned subsidiary, Navigators 
Specialty. They are primarily engaged in underwriting marine insurance 
and related lines of business, specialty insurance lines of business, 
including contractors general liability insurance, commercial umbrella 
and primary and excess casualty businesses, specialty assumed 
reinsurance business, and professional liability insurance. Navigators 
Specialty underwrites specialty and professional liability insurance 
on an excess and surplus lines basis. Navigators Specialty is 100% 
reinsured by Navigators Insurance Company.
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The following table sets forth the results of operations for the Insurance Companies for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Gross written premiums  $ 1,002,275  $ 921,325  $ 788,419   8.8%   16.9%
Net written premiums   680,008   622,956   542,391   9.2%   14.9%
Net earned premiums   639,338   571,439   472,463   11.9%   20.9%
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses   (415,413)   (417,082)   (341,625)   –0.4%   22.1%
Commission expenses   (81,132)   (81,370)   (64,165)   –0.3%   26.8%
Other operating expenses   (119,920)   (113,625)   (101,517)   5.5%   11.9%
Other income (expense)   2,764   3,790   3,955   –27.1%   –4.2%

Underwriting profit (loss)  $ 25,637  $ (36,848)  $ (30,889)   NM   19.3%
Net investment income   49,083   46,549   54,164   5.4%   –14.1%
Net realized gains (losses)   20,600   36,468   12,151   –43.5%   NM

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 95,320  $ 46,169  $ 35,426   106.5%   30.3%
Income tax expense (benefit)   29,965   12,686   8,271   136.2%   53.4%

Net income (loss)  $ 65,355  $ 33,483  $ 27,155   95.2%   23.3%

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ratio   65.0%   73.0%   72.3%
Commission expense ratio   12.7%   14.2%   13.6%
Other operating expense ratio(1)   18.3%   19.2%   20.6%

Combined ratio   96.0%   106.4%   106.5%

(1) Includes Other operating expenses & Other income (expense).
NM —  Percentage change not meaningful.

Our Insurance Companies reported net income of $65.4  million, 
$33.5 million and $27.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in net income for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the same period in 2012 
was due to an improvement in underwriting results. The increase in net 
income for the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the same 
period in 2011 was largely related to an increase in net realized gains 
on our investment portfolio, partially offset by a decrease in investment 
income driven by lower yields and unfavorable underwriting results.

Our Insurance Companies combined ratio for the year ended 
December  31, 2013 was 96.0% compared to 106.4% for the same 
period in 2012. Our Insurance Companies pre- tax underwriting results 
increased by $62.4  million to an underwriting profit of $25.6  million 
compared to an underwriting loss of $36.8 million for the same period 
in 2012.

Our Insurance Companies reported an underwriting profit of 
$25.6  million inclusive of $13.6  million and $16.3  million of under-
writing profit from our Energy & Engineering and Marine businesses, 
respectively, in connection with favorable loss emergence from UY’s 
2011 and prior. In addition, our Excess Casualty business produced 
an underwriting profit of $6.1 million as a result of continued strong 
production attributable to the expansion of those underwriting teams 
and the continued dislocation of certain competitors, partially offset 
by an underwriting loss of $5.8 million from our D&O business due to 
net prior period reserve strengthening from UYs 2010 and prior, and an 
underwriting loss of $3.4 million from businesses in run- off.

Our Insurance Companies combined ratio for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 was 106.4% compared to 106.5% for the same 
period in 2011. Our Insurance Companies pre- tax underwriting results 
decreased by $6.0 million to a $36.8 million underwriting loss for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to an underwriting loss of 

$30.9 million for the same period in 2011. The Insurance Companies’ 
pre- tax underwriting loss in 2012 includes the following:

• 2012 accident year loss emergence of $14.5  million from our 
Agriculture business that was driven by significant drought related 
crop losses across the U.S.

• Net loss of $12.8 million, inclusive of $6.3 million in RRPs, related to 
Superstorm Sandy. Gross of reinsurance the Insurance Companies’ 
loss related to Superstorm Sandy was approximately $45.2 million.

• Net losses of $9.9 million, inclusive of $9.2 million in RRPs, related 
to several large losses from our Marine business, including the 
grounding of the cruise ship Costa Concordia off the coast of Italy.

Our Insurance Companies combined ratio for the year ended 
December  31, 2011 was 106.5% compared to 101.2% for the same 
period in 2010. Our Insurance Companies pre- tax underwriting loss 
increased by $25.6 million to a $30.9 million as of December 31, 2011 
compared to $5.3 million for the same period in 2010. The Insurance 
Companies’ pre- tax underwriting loss in 2011 includes the following:

• 2011 accident year energy losses with a net loss of $16.1 million, 
inclusive of $5.5 million in RRPs, related to drilling operations in the 
North Sea, Gulf of Mexico and Russia.

• Prior period net reserve deficiencies of $12.1 million largely attribut-
able to significant emergence in our Professional Liability business, 
partially offset by redundancies from our Property Casualty business.

• 2011 accident year loss emergence of approximately $11.0 million 
related to our Professional Liability business, of which approximately 
$8.0 million was specific to our Directors and Officers liability insur-
ance for both publicly and privately held corporations. The remaining 
$3.0 million of emergence was specific to our small lawyers and 
miscellaneous professional liability coverages.

In addition to the net adverse impacts noted above, the increase in our 
Insurance Companies’ pre- tax underwriting loss in 2011 over 2010 was 
affected by the mix of business and loss trends.
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Insurance Companies Gross Written Premiums
Marine Premiums. The gross written premiums for our Marine business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 consisted of 
the following:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Marine Liability  $ 62,534  $ 64,429  $ 74,429   –2.9%   –13.4%
Craft/Fishing Vessels   32,320   25,018   21,714   29.2%   15.2%
Cargo   21,162   25,840   23,333   –18.1%   10.7%
Protection & Indemnity   16,442   17,767   20,496   –7.5%   –13.3%
Inland Marine   14,727   33,982   33,120   –56.7%   2.6%
Bluewater Hull   12,609   18,134   18,695   –30.5%   –3.0%
Other Marine   12,028   14,925   36,713   –19.4%   –59.3%

Total Marine  $ 171,822  $ 200,095  $ 228,500   –14.1%   –12.4%

The Insurance Companies Marine gross written premiums for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 decreased 14.1% compared to the same 
period in 2012 primarily due to the re- underwriting of our Inland Marine 
business, as well as a reduction in the Bluewater Hull business due to 
less business written due to pricing on certain accounts and vessel 
types that did not meet our underwriting standards. In addition, the 
decrease in Cargo was related to non renewed business that did not 
meet the current underwriting criteria. The aforementioned decreases 
were slightly offset by growth in Craft and Fishing Vessels products 
due to strong new business production. The Insurance Companies 

Marine business experienced a 4.1% increase in renewal rates for the 
year ended December 31, 2013.

The Insurance Companies Marine gross written premiums for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 decreased 12.4% compared to the same 
period in 2011 primarily due to the transfer of underwriting responsibility 
of our Transport business, which in the table above is included in Other 
Marine, to our Lloyd’s Operations. The aforementioned decreases were 
slightly offset by growth across multiple products driven by an overall 
increase in renewal rates of 4.4%.

Property Casualty Premiums. The gross written premiums for our Property Casualty business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011 consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Excess Casualty  $ 258,791  $ 194,306  $ 130,166   33.2%   49.3%
Assumed Reinsurance   175,409   181,025   106,496   –3.1%   70.0%
Primary Casualty   138,551   111,595   108,744   24.2%   2.6%
Energy & Engineering   69,171   61,109   57,641   13.2%   6.0%
Environmental Liability   31,010   25,815   20,323   20.1%   27.0%
Other Property & Casualty   27,155   16,891   21,917   60.8%   –22.9%

Total Property Casualty  $ 700,087  $ 590,741  $ 445,287   18.5%   32.7%

The Insurance Companies Property Casualty gross written premiums 
for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased 18.5% compared to 
the same period in 2012. The increases were primarily driven by the 
growth from our Excess Casualty and Primary Casualty divisions as a 
result of strong production attributable to an expansion of our under-
writing teams and continued dislocation among certain competitors, 
partially offset by a decrease in our Assumed Reinsurance business 
attributable to the non- renewal of certain policies from our A&H busi-
ness, respectively.

The Insurance Companies Property Casualty gross written premi-
ums for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased 32.7% compared 
to the same period in 2011. The increases were primarily driven by our 
assumed reinsurance business written by NavRe as the division contin-
ued to achieve successful growth since its establishment in late 2010. 
Additionally, we experienced growth in our Excess Casualty division 
resulting from strong production attributable to the expansion of our 
underwriting team and dislocation of certain competitors.
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Professional Liability Premiums. The gross written premiums for our Professional Liability business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011 consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Errors & Omissions  $ 86,001  $ 87,221  $ 69,275   –1.4%   25.9%
Management Liability   44,365   43,268   45,357   2.5%   –4.6%

Total Professional Liability  $ 130,366  $ 130,489  $ 114,632   –0.1%   13.8%

The Insurance Companies Professional Liability gross written premi-
ums for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are consistent 
at approximately $130 million. In the fourth quarter of 2013, we made 
the decision to exit the small lawyers professional liability business. 
This business contributed gross written premiums of $16.3  million, 
$19.1 million, and $18.9 million, in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

The Insurance Companies Professional Liability gross written premi-
ums for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased 13.8% compared 
to the same period in 2011. The increase is related to our E&O division 
and is driven by growth from the real estate product, which produced 
$19.3  million in gross written premiums in 2012, as well as from an 
overall 5.7% increase in renewal rates.

Insurance Companies Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses for the Insurance Companies increased to 
$119.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from $113.6 million 

for the same period in 2012 primarily due to an increase in allocated 
expenses from NMC and NMUK, which is driven by continued invest-
ments in new underwriting teams, closely aligned with business growth 
and an increase in incentive compensation.

Other operating expenses for the Insurance Companies increased to 
$113.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from $101.5 million 
for the same period in 2011 primarily due to an increase in allocated 
expenses from NMC and NMUK, which is driven by continued invest-
ments in new underwriting teams closely aligned with business growth 
and an increase in incentive compensation. The increase in incentive 
compensation is largely impacted by a reversal of stock grants expense 
recorded in 2011 related to performance based awards that were not 
expected to vest, and to a lesser extent the issuance of additional 
performance and non- performance restricted stock grants in 2012.

Lloyd’s Operations
Our Lloyd’s Operations primarily underwrite marine and related lines of business along with offshore energy, construction coverages for onshore 
energy business and professional liability insurance at Lloyd’s through Syndicate 1221. Our Lloyd’s Operations segment includes NUAL, a Lloyd’s 
underwriting agency which manages Syndicate 1221.

The following table sets forth the results of operations of the Lloyd’s Operations for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Gross written premiums  $ 368,242  $ 365,140  $ 319,797   0.8%   14.2%
Net written premiums   207,914   210,699   211,407   –1.3%   –0.3%
Net earned premiums   202,601   210,525   219,182   –3.8%   –3.9%
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses   (103,548)   (80,351)   (135,372)   28.9%   –40.6%
Commission expenses   (34,710)   (42,449)   (48,341)   –18.2%   –12.2%
Other operating expenses   (44,514)   (45,454)   (36,512)   –2.1%   24.5%
Other income (expense)   (1,588)   47   (657)   NM   NM

Underwriting profit (loss)  $ 18,241  $ 42,318  $ (1,700)   –56.9%   NM
Net investment income   7,160   7,551   8,955   –5.2%   –15.7%
Net realized gains (losses)   (58)   3,555   (2,354)   NM   NM

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 25,343  $ 53,424  $ 4,901   –52.6%   NM
Income tax expense (benefit)   8,728   18,620   1,523   –53.1%   NM

Net income (loss)  $ 16,615  $ 34,804  $ 3,378   –52.3%   NM

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ratio   51.1%   38.2%   61.8%
Commission expense ratio   17.1%   20.2%   22.1%
Other operating expense ratio(1)   22.8%   21.5%   16.9%

Combined ratio   91.0%   79.9%   100.8%

(1) Includes Other operating expenses & Other income (expense).
NM —  Percentage change not meaningful.
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Our Lloyd’s Operations reported net income of $16.6 million, $34.8 mil-
lion and $3.4  million for the years ended December  31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011, respectively. The decrease in net income for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 is due to a 
reduction in underwriting profit. The increase in net income for the year 
ended December 31, 2012 as compared to the same period in 2011 
was largely attributable to stronger underwriting results and to a lesser 
extent an increase in net realized gains on investments.

Our Lloyd’s Operations combined ratio for the year ended 
December  31, 2013 was 91.0% compared to 79.9% for the same 
period in 2012. Our Lloyd’s pre- tax underwriting results decreased 
by $24.1 million to $18.2 million underwriting profit for the year ended 
December  31, 2013 compared to $42.3  million in 2012. Our Lloyd’s 
Operations pre- tax underwriting profit for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2013 includes $14.7 million of net prior period reserve 
redundancies in connection with continued favorable emergence 
from our Lloyd’s Property Casualty business, specifically Energy & 
Engineering and Marine businesses as well as a $1.6 million foreign 
exchange loss on the re- measurement of certain deposits required 
by Lloyd’s.

Our Lloyd’s Operations combined ratio for the year ended 
December  31, 2012 was 79.9% compared to 100.8% for the same 
period in 2011. Our Lloyd’s Operations pre- tax underwriting results 
increased by $44.0 million to a $42.3 million underwriting profit for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to a $1.7 million underwriting 

loss for the same period in 2011. Our Lloyd’s Operations pre- tax under-
writing profit in 2012 includes:

• Net loss of $7.6 million, inclusive of $2.0 million in RRPs, related to 
Superstorm Sandy. Gross of reinsurance our Lloyd’s Operations 
loss related to Superstorm Sandy was approximately $21.5 million.

• Net losses of $4.0 million, inclusive of $1.9 million in RRPs, related 
to several large losses from our Marine business, including the 
grounding of the cruise ship Costa Concordia off the coast of Italy.

• Net reserve redundancies of $47.2 million across all businesses and 
all divisions, most notably Lloyd’s Marine.

Our Lloyd’s Operations combined ratio for the year ended December 31, 
2011 was 100.8% compared to 99.8% for the same period in 2010. Our 
Lloyd’s Operations pre- tax underwriting profit decreased by $2.1 mil-
lion to a $1.7  million pre- tax underwriting loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 compared to $0.4 million of underwriting profit for 
the same period in 2010. Our Lloyd’s Operations pre- tax underwriting 
loss in 2011 includes:

• 2011 accident year energy losses with a net loss of $9.5 million, 
inclusive of $2.7  million in reinsurance reinstatement premiums, 
related to drilling operations in the North Sea, Gulf of Mexico and 
Russia, as well as an onshore industrial site.

• Sliding scale commission adjustments of $3.3 million related to large 
loss activity that has reduced our ceding commission benefit on a 
large loss quota share treaty.

Lloyd’s Operations Gross Written Premiums
We have controlled 100% of Syndicate 1221’s stamp capacity since 2006. Stamp capacity is a measure of the amount of premium a Lloyd’s 
syndicate is authorized to write based on a business plan approved by the Council of Lloyd’s. Syndicate 1221’s stamp capacity was £195 million 
($323.7 million) in 2013, £184 million ($300 million) in 2012, £175 million ($271 million) in 2011.

Marine Premiums. The gross written premiums for our Marine business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 consisted of 
the following:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Cargo  $ 52,469  $ 57,787  $ 46,896   –9.2%   23.2%
Marine Liability   39,831   39,417   41,424   1.1%   –4.8%
Transport   20,871   22,912   6,618   –8.9%   NM
Specie   21,395   21,772   20,611   –1.7%   5.6%
Energy Liability   16,259   18,747   12,391   –13.3%   51.3%
Marine Excess- of-Loss Reinsurance   15,328   15,309   16,730   0.1%   –8.5%
War   9,139   11,520   12,856   –20.7%   –10.4%
Bluewater Hull   5,754   6,959   10,036   –17.3%   –30.7%

Total Marine  $ 181,046  $ 194,423  $ 167,562   –6.9%   16.0%

NM —  Percentage change not meaningful.

Our Lloyd’s Operations Marine gross written premiums for the year 
ended December  31, 2013 decreased 6.9% compared to the same 
period in 2012. The decrease is driven by reduction in renewals across 
the division, particularly on Cargo. The Lloyd’s Operation Marine busi-
ness experienced average renewal rate increases of 3.4% for the year 
ended December 31, 2013.

Our Lloyd’s Operations Marine gross written premiums for the year 
ended December  31, 2012 increased 16.0% compared to the same 
period in 2011. The increase in Lloyd’s Marine premiums is primarily 
related to growth within Cargo and the transfer of the Transport busi-
ness to the Lloyd’s Operations from the U.K. Branch.
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Property Casualty Premiums. The gross written premiums for our Property Casualty business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011 consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Energy & Engineering:
Offshore Energy  $ 54,605  $ 53,915  $ 46,212   1.3%   16.7%
Engineering and Construction   30,159   36,178   32,292   –16.6%   12.0%
Onshore Energy   30,787   30,658   30,247   0.4%   1.4%
Direct and Facultative Property   9,140   –   –   NM   NM

Energy & Engineering   124,691   120,751   108,751   3.3%   11.0%
Assumed Reinsurance   2,298   –   –   NM   NM
Other Property Casualty   2,533   6,277   6,387   –59.6%   –1.7%

Total Property Casualty  $ 129,522  $ 127,028  $ 115,138   2.0%   10.3%

NM —  Percentage change not meaningful.

Our Lloyd’s Operations Property Casualty gross written premiums for 
the year ended December 31, 2013 increased 2.0% compared to the 
same period in 2012. The increase is primarily due to new business 
growth from our direct and facultative property lines that we began 
writing in 2013, partially offset by Engineering and Construction and 
the runoff of the bloodstock class. The Lloyd’s Operations Property 
Casualty business achieved increases of 1.6% on renewal rates for the 
year ended December 31, 2013.

Our Lloyd’s Operations Property Casualty gross written premiums 
for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased 10.3% compared to 
the same period in 2011. The increase is primarily due to growth within 
the Offshore Energy book due to new business opportunities. In addi-
tion, Property Casualty benefited from increases in average renewal 
rates of 7.4%.

Professional Liability Premiums. The gross written premiums for our Professional Liability business for the years ended December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011 consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

In thousands

Management Liability  $ 41,989  $ 32,036  $ 27,895   31.1%   14.8%
Errors & Omissions   15,685   11,653   9,202   34.6%   26.6%

Total Professional Liability  $ 57,674  $ 43,689  $ 37,097   32.0%   17.8%

Our Lloyd’s Operations Professional Liability gross written premiums 
for the year ended December  31, 2013 increased 32.0% compared 
to the same period in 2012 as a result of new business growth, par-
tially offset by decreases in renewal rates of 1.7% for the year ended 
December 31, 2013.

The Lloyd’s Operations Professional Liability gross written premiums 
for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased 17.8% compared to the 
same period in 2011 primarily as a result of new business in both lines.

OFF- BALANCE SHEET TR ANSACTIONS

We have no material off- balance sheet transactions with the exception 
of our letter of credit facility. For a discussion of our letter of credit 
facility, refer to “Capital Resources”.
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TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTR ACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table sets forth the best estimate of our known contractual obligations with respect to the items indicated as of December 31, 2013:

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than  

1 Year 1–3 Years 3–5 Years Thereafter

In thousands

Reserves for losses and LAE(1)  $ 2,045,071  $ 753,642  $ 724,792  $ 316,750  $ 249,887
5.75% Senior Notes(2)   414,201   15,238   30,475   30,475   338,013
Operating Leases(3)   61,951   11,061   20,320   14,874   15,696

Total  $ 2,521,223  $ 779,941  $ 775,587  $ 362,099  $ 603,596

(1) The amounts determined are estimates which are subject to a high degree of variation and uncertainty, and are not subject to any specific 
payment schedule since the timing of these obligations are not set contractually. The amounts in the above table exclude reinsurance 
recoveries of $822.4 million. See “Business —  Loss Reserves” included herein.

(2) Includes interest payments.
(3) Obligation includes rent and rent items. Rent items are estimates based on the lease agreement due to uncontrollable fluctuations of 

actual costs.

The State of Connecticut awarded the Company up to $11.5 million 
($8.0  million in loans and $3.5  million in grants) as an incentive to 
move its corporate headquarters to Stamford Connecticut. The loan is 
non- interest bearing, has a term of 10 years and is subject to forgive-
ness under conditions of the agreement with the State. The amount of 
the assistance to be received is dependent on the Company reaching 
certain milestones for creation of new jobs over a five- year period, and 
the funds are to be used to offset certain equipment purchases, facility 
costs, training of employees and other eligible project- related costs. 
The Company completed the move to Stamford in September 2013 
and received $7.5 million for reaching the first job milestone. Earning 
of the grant and forgiveness of the loan is subject to certain condi-
tions, including maintaining the required jobs for an extended period 
of time. As of December 31, 2013, the length of time commitment has 
not been met, however, the Company expects to meet all the conditions 
to keep the amount of assistance received to date, and therefore has 
excluded this contractual obligation from the table above. Accordingly, 
the Company is recognizing the assistance received over the period in 
which the Company recognizes the expenses for which the assistance 
is intended to compensate, and is recognized as a reduction of such 
expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company 
recognized $0.3 million of the assistance and has deferred revenue of 
$7.2 million, which is included in other liabilities.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

We monitor our capital adequacy to support our business on a regular 
basis. The future capital requirements of our business will depend on 
many factors, including our ability to write new business successfully 
and to establish premium rates and reserves at levels sufficient to 
cover losses. Our ability to underwrite is largely dependent upon the 
quality of our claims paying and financial strength ratings as evaluated 
by independent rating agencies. In particular, we require (1) sufficient 
capital to maintain our financial strength ratings, as issued by various 
ratings agencies, at a level considered necessary by management to 
enable our Insurance Companies to compete, (2) sufficient capital to 
enable our Insurance Companies to meet the capital adequacy tests 
performed by statutory agencies in the United States and the United 
Kingdom and (3) letters of credit and other forms of collateral that are 
necessary to support the business plan of our Lloyd’s Operations.

Our capital resources consist of funds deployed or available to be 
deployed to support our business operations. As of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, our capital resources were as follows:

December 31,

2013 2012

In thousands

Senior Notes  $ 263,308  $ 114,424
Stockholders’ equity   902,212   879,485

Total capitalization  $ 1,165,520  $ 993,909

Ratio of debt to total capitalization   22.6%   11.5%

As part of our capital management program, we may seek to raise addi-
tional capital or may seek to return capital to our stockholders through 
share repurchases, cash dividends or other methods (or a combination 
of such methods). Any such determination will be at the discretion of 
the Parent Company’s Board of Directors and will be dependent upon 
our profits, financial requirements and other factors, including legal 
restrictions, rating agency requirements, credit facility limitations and 
such other factors as our Board of Directors deems relevant.

In July 2012, we filed a universal shelf registration statement with the 
SEC. This registration statement, which expires in July 2015, allows for 
the future possible offer and sale by the Company of up to $500 mil-
lion in the aggregate of various types of securities including common 
stock, preferred stock, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants, 
units or stock purchase contracts and stock purchase units. The shelf 
registration statement enables us to efficiently access the public equity 
or debt markets in order to meet future capital needs, if necessary. This 
report is not an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall 
there be any sale of these securities in any state in which such offer, 
solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualifica-
tion under the securities laws of such state.

We primarily rely upon dividends from our subsidiaries to meet our 
Parent Company’s obligations. The Parent Company’s cash obligations 
primarily consist of semi- annual interest payments on the senior debt, 
which are currently $7.6 million. Going forward, the interest payments 
may be made from funds currently at the Parent Company or dividends 
from its subsidiaries.
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Navigators Insurance Company may pay dividends to the Parent 
Company out of its statutory earned surplus pursuant to statu-
tory restrictions imposed under the New York insurance law. As of 
December 31, 2013, the maximum amount available for the payment 
of dividends by Navigators Insurance Company in 2014 without prior 
regulatory approval is $80.4 million. Navigators Insurance Company 
paid $15.0 million and $45.0 million in dividends to the Parent Company 
in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

NCUL may pay dividends to the Parent Company up to the extent 
of available profits that have been distributed from Syndicate 1221 
and as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 that amount was $11.6 million 
(£7.0 million) and $8.6 million (£5.3 million).

Refer to Note 13, Dividends and Statutory Financial Information, in 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional informa-
tion regarding dividends, including dividend restrictions and net assets 
available for dividend distribution.

Condensed Parent Company balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012 are shown in the table below:

December 31,

2013 2012

In thousands

Cash and investments  $ 100,676  $ 15,026
Investments in subsidiaries   1,040,214   955,024
Goodwill and other intangible assets   2,534   2,534
Other assets   26,538   23,219

Total assets  $ 1,169,962  $ 995,803

Senior Notes  $ 263,308  $ 114,424
Accounts payable and other liabilities   802   552
Accrued interest payable   3,640   1,342

Total liabilities  $ 267,750  $ 116,318

Stockholders’ equity  $ 902,212  $ 879,485

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,169,962  $ 995,803

On October 4, 2013, we completed a public debt offering of $265 million 
principal amount of 5.75% Senior Notes due October 15, 2023 (“5.75% 
Senior Notes”) and received net proceeds of $263 million. We used the 
proceeds of the 5.75% Senior Notes for general corporate purposes 
including the redemption of our 7.0% Senior Notes due May 1, 2016. 
We incurred a charge of $17.9 million for the payment of call premium 
in connection with the redemption of the 7.0% Senior Notes due 2016. 
The effective interest rate related to the net proceeds received from 
the 5.75% Senior Notes is approximately 5.86%. Interest will be paid 
on the 5.75% Senior Notes each April 15 and October 15 with the first 
payment due on April 15, 2014.

On November 22, 2012, we entered into a $165 million credit facil-
ity agreement with ING Bank N.V., London Branch, individually and as 
Administrative Agent, and a syndicate of lenders. The new credit facility 
amended and restated a $165 million letter of credit facility entered into 
by the parties on March 28, 2011. The credit facility, which is denomi-
nated in U.S. dollars, is utilized to fund our participation in Syndicate 
1221 through letters of credit for the 2013 and 2014 underwriting years, 
as well as open prior years. The letters of credit issued under the facility 

can be denominated in British pounds and their aggregate face amount 
will fluctuate based on exchange rates. If any letters of credit remain 
outstanding under the facility after December 31, 2014, we would be 
required to post additional collateral to secure the remaining letters 
of credit. As of December 31, 2013, letters of credit with an aggregate 
face amount of $151.9 million were outstanding under the credit facility 
and we have $1.0 million of cash collateral posted.

This credit facility contains customary covenants for facilities of 
this type, including restrictions on indebtedness and liens, limitations 
on mergers, dividends and the sale of assets, and requirements as to 
maintaining certain consolidated tangible net worth, statutory surplus 
and other financial ratios. The credit facility also provides for customary 
events of default, including failure to pay principal, interest or fees when 
due, failure to comply with covenants, any representation or warranty 
made by the Company being false in any material respect, default under 
certain other indebtedness, certain insolvency or receivership events 
affecting the Company and its subsidiaries, the occurrence of certain 
material judgments, or a change in control of the Company. The letter 
of credit facility is secured by a pledge of the stock of certain insurance 
subsidiaries of the Company. To the extent the aggregate face amount 
issued under the credit facility exceeds the commitment amount, we 
are required to post collateral with the lead bank of the consortium. 
We were in compliance with all covenants under the credit facility as 
of December 31, 2013.

The applicable margin and applicable fee rate payable under the 
credit facility are based on a tiered schedule that is based on the 
Company’s then- current ratings issued by S&P and Moody’s with 
respect to the Company’s Senior Notes without third- party credit 
enhancement, and the amount of the Company’s own collateral utilized 
to fund its participation in Syndicate 1221.

Time lags do occur in the normal course of business between the 
time gross loss reserves are paid by the Company and the time such 
gross paid losses are billed and collected from reinsurers. Reinsurance 
recoverable amounts related to gross loss reserves as of December 31, 
2013 are anticipated to be billed and collected over the next several 
years as the gross loss reserves are paid by the Company.

Generally, for pro rata or quota share reinsurers, we issue quarterly 
settlement statements for premiums less commissions and paid loss 
activity, which are expected to be settled within 30–45 days. We have 
the ability to issue “cash calls” requiring such reinsurers to pay losses 
whenever paid loss activity for a claim ceded to a particular reinsur-
ance treaty exceeds a predetermined amount (generally $0.5 million 
to $1.0 million) as set forth in the pro rata treaty. For the Insurance 
Companies, cash calls must generally be paid within 30 calendar 
days. There is generally no specific settlement period for the Lloyd’s 
Operations cash call provisions, but such billings have historically on 
average been paid within 45 calendar days.

Generally, for excess- of-loss reinsurers we pay quarterly deposit 
premiums based on the estimated subject premiums over the con-
tract period (usually one year) that are subsequently adjusted based 
on actual premiums determined after the expiration of the applicable 
reinsurance treaty. Paid losses subject to excess- of-loss recoveries 
are generally billed as they occur and are usually settled by reinsurers 
within 30 calendar days for the Insurance Companies and 30 business 
days for the Lloyd’s Operations.

We sometimes withhold funds from reinsurers and may apply ceded 
loss billings against such funds in accordance with the applicable 
reinsurance agreements.
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LIQUIDITY

Consolidated Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended 
December  31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $136.9  million, $96.7  mil-
lion and $118.3 million, respectively. The increase in cash flow from 
operations for 2013 as compared to 2012 is largely attributable to the 
growth of our business as well as improved collections on premiums 
receivable. The decrease in cash flow from operations for 2012 as 
compared to 2011 was due to an increase in claims payments, partially 
offset by improved collections on reinsurance recoverables as well as 
premiums receivable.

Net cash used in investing activities was $229.9 million and 179.8 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, as 
compared to net cash provided by investing activities of $66.0 million 
for the same period in 2011. Fluctuations in cash provided by, or used 
in, investing activities is primarily due to the ongoing management of 
our investment portfolio.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $134.2 million and 
$1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respec-
tively, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $88.8 million 
for the year ended December  31, 2011. The increase in cash flows 
from financing for 2013 compared to 2012 is due to net proceeds of 
$130.8 million received from our public debt offering of the 5.75% Senior 
Notes. The significant reduction in the use of cash by financing activi-
ties for 2012 as compared to 2011 is primarily related to repurchases 
of the Parent Company’s common stock under our share repurchase 
program which expired on December 31, 2011 and was not renewed.

We believe that the cash flow generated by the operating activi-
ties of our subsidiaries will provide sufficient funds for us to meet our 

liquidity needs over the next twelve months. Beyond the next twelve 
months, cash flow available to us may be influenced by a variety of 
factors, including general economic conditions and conditions in the 
insurance and reinsurance markets, as well as fluctuations from year 
to year in claims experience.

We believe that we have adequately managed our cash flow require-
ments related to reinsurance recoveries from their positive cash flows 
and the use of available short- term funds when applicable. However, 
there can be no assurances that we will be able to continue to ade-
quately manage such recoveries in the future or that collection disputes 
or reinsurer insolvencies will not arise that could materially increase the 
collection time lags or result in recoverable write- offs causing additional 
incurred losses and liquidity constraints to the Company. The payment 
of gross claims and related collections from reinsurers with respect to 
large losses could significantly impact our liquidity needs. However, 
we expect to collect our paid reinsurance recoverables generally under 
the terms described above.

Investments
As of December 31, 2013, the weighted average rating of our fixed matu-
rity investments was “AA” by S&P and “Aa” by Moody’s. The entire fixed 
maturity investment portfolio, except for investments with a fair value of 
$15.1 million, consists of investment grade bonds. As of December 31, 
2013, our portfolio had a duration of 3.7 years. Management periodically 
projects cash flow of the investment portfolio and other sources in order 
to maintain the appropriate levels of liquidity in an effort to ensure our 
ability to satisfy claims. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, all fixed 
maturity securities and equity securities held by us were classified as 
available- for-sale.

The following tables set forth the Company’s cash and investments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The tables below include OTTI securi-
ties recognized within OCI.

December 31, 2013

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 441,685  $ 2,854  $ (8,855)  $ 447,686
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   460,422   9,298   (13,651)   464,775
Mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities:

Agency mortgage- backed securities   301,274   6,779   (6,016)   300,511
Residential mortgage obligations   41,755   1,212   (161)   40,704
Asset- backed securities   125,133   653   (480)   124,960
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   172,750   7,656   (374)   165,468

Subtotal  $ 640,912  $ 16,300  $ (7,031)  $ 631,643
Corporate bonds   504,854   15,402   (3,443)   492,895

Total fixed maturities  $ 2,047,873  $ 43,854  $ (32,980)  $ 2,036,999
Equity securities —  common stocks   143,954   25,700   (550)   118,804
Short- term investments   296,250   –   –   296,250
Cash   86,509   –   –   86,509

Total  $ 2,574,586  $ 69,554  $ (33,530)  $ 2,538,562
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December 31, 2012

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 649,692  $ 8,654  $ (36)  $ 641,074
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   322,947   18,712   (380)   304,615
Mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities:

Agency mortgage- backed securities   384,445   13,652   (204)   370,997
Residential mortgage obligations   38,692   1,053   (549)   38,188
Asset- backed securities   50,382   1,133   (49)   49,298
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   204,821   17,996   (18)   186,843

Subtotal  $ 678,340  $ 33,834  $ (820)  $ 645,326
Corporate bonds   470,854   27,129   (25)   443,750

Total fixed maturities  $ 2,121,833  $ 88,329  $ (1,261)  $ 2,034,765
Equity securities —  common stocks   101,297   16,919   (626)   85,004
Short- term investments   153,788   –   –   153,788
Cash   45,336   –   –   45,336

Total  $ 2,422,254  $ 105,248  $ (1,887)  $ 2,318,893

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, debt securities for which non- credit 
OTTI was previously recognized and included in other comprehensive 
income are now in an unrealized gains position of $0.5  million and 
$20 thousand, respectively.

The fair value of our investment portfolio may fluctuate significantly 
in response to various factors such as changes in interest rates, invest-
ment quality ratings, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit 
spreads. We do not have the intent to sell nor is it more likely than not 
that we will have to sell debt securities in unrealized loss positions that 
are not other- than-temporarily impaired before recovery. For structured 
securities, default probability and severity assumptions differ based on 
property type, vintage and the stress of the collateral. We do not intend 
to sell any of these securities and it is more likely than not that we will 
not be required to sell these securities before the recovery of the amor-
tized cost basis. For equity securities, the Company also considers its 
intent to hold securities as part of the process of evaluating whether 
a decline in fair value represents an other- than-temporary decline in 
value. We may realize investment losses to the extent our liquidity needs 
require the disposition of fixed maturity securities in unfavorable inter-
est rate, liquidity or credit spread environments. Significant changes 
in the factors we consider when evaluating investments for impairment 
losses could result in a significant change in impairment losses reported 
in the consolidated financial statements.

Invested assets increased in 2013 from the prior comparable periods 
for 2012 and 2011 primarily due to proceeds from the debt offering and 
reinvestment of interest received. The annualized pre- tax yield, exclud-
ing net realized gains and losses and net OTTI losses recognized in 
earnings, was 2.4%, 2.4% and 3.0% for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The 2.4% and 3.0% annualized 
pre- tax yield for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 include 
investment expenses of $4.5 million and $4.7 million, respectively, for 
a total of $9.2 million, of interest expense related to the settlement of 
a dispute with Equitas over foregone interest on amounts that were 
due on certain reinsurance contracts. In the dispute Equitas alleged 
that we failed to make timely payments to them under certain reinsur-
ance agreements in connection with subrogation recoveries received 
by us with respect to several catastrophe losses that occurred in the 
late 1980’s and early 1990’s. In addition, investment expenses for the 

year ended December  31, 2012 includes a $2.8  million investment 
performance fee. Excluding the impact of the aforementioned interest 
expense and investment performance fee, the annualized pre- tax yield 
for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 would have been 2.7% 
and 3.2%, reflective of the general decline in market yields.

The tax equivalent yields for the years ended December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011 on a consolidated basis were 2.5%, 2.6% and 3.5%, 
respectively. The portfolio duration was 3.7 years and 3.6 years for 
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Since the 
beginning of 2013, the tax- exempt portion of our investment portfolio 
has increased by $131  million to approximately 20.1% of the fixed 
maturities investment portfolio as of December 31, 2013 compared to 
approximately 13.2% at December 31, 2012.

We are a specialty insurance company and periods of moderate 
economic recession or inflation tend not to have a significant direct 
effect on our underwriting operations. They do, however, impact our 
investment portfolio. A decrease in interest rates will tend to decrease 
our yield and have a positive effect on the fair value of our invested 
assets. An increase in interest rates will tend to increase our yield and 
have a negative effect on the fair value of our invested assets.

The contractual maturity dates for fixed maturity securities categorized 
by the number of years until maturity as of December  31, 2013 are 
shown in the following table:

December 31, 2013

Fair Value
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Due in one year or less  $ 85,240  $ 84,691
Due after one year through five years   627,515   615,267
Due after five years through ten years   443,197   446,918
Due after ten years   251,009   258,480
Mortgage- and asset- backed 

securities   640,912   631,643

Total  $ 2,047,873  $ 2,036,999
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Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because 
issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or with-
out call or prepayment penalties. Due to the periodic repayment of 

principal, the aggregate amount of mortgage- backed and asset- backed 
securities is estimated to have an effective maturity of approximately 
4.5 years.

The following table sets forth the amount and percentage of our fixed maturities as of December 31, 2013 by S&P credit rating or, if an S&P 
rating is not available, the equivalent Moody’s rating. The table includes fixed maturities at fair value, and the total rating is the weighted aver-
age quality rating.

December 31, 2013

Rating Fair Value
Percent of 

Total

In thousands

Rating description:
Extremely strong AAA  $ 348,908 17%
Very strong AA   1,047,155 51%
Strong A   452,455 22%
Adequate BBB   184,302 9%
Speculative BB & Below   11,500 1%
Not rated NR   3,553 0%

Total AA  $ 2,047,873 100%

The following table sets forth our U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds, and foreign government bonds as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31, 2013

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

(Losses)
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

U.S. Treasury bonds  $ 395,762  $ 1,982  $ (8,636)  $ 402,416
Agency bonds   42,544   796   (186)   41,934
Foreign government bonds   3,379   76   (33)   3,336

Total  $ 441,685  $ 2,854  $ (8,855)  $ 447,686

December 31, 2012

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

(Losses)
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

U.S. Treasury bonds  $ 414,503  $ 4,441  $ (10)  $ 410,072
Agency bonds   155,465   3,331   (11)   152,145
Foreign government bonds   79,724   882   (15)   78,857

Total  $ 649,692  $ 8,654  $ (36)  $ 641,074
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The following table sets forth the composition of the investments categorized as states, municipalities and political subdivisions in our portfolio 
by generally equivalent S&P and Moody’s ratings (not all securities in our portfolio are rated by both S&P and Moody’s) as of December 31, 2013. 
The securities that are not rated in the table below are primarily state bonds.

December 31, 2013

Equivalent S&P Rating Equivalent Moody’s Rating Fair Value Amortized Cost
Net Unrealized 

Gain (Loss)

In thousands

AAA/AA/A Aaa/Aa/A  $ 439,508  $ 444,448  $ (4,940)
BBB Baa   17,361   16,817   544
BB Ba   –   –   –
B B   –   –   –
CCC or lower Caa or lower   –   –   –
NR NR   3,553   3,510   43

Total  $ 460,422  $ 464,775  $ (4,353)

The following table sets forth the municipal bond holdings by sectors as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Fair Value
Percent of 

Total Fair Value
Percent of 

Total

In thousands

Municipal Sector:
General obligation  $ 125,063   27%  $ 73,642   23%
Prerefunded   15,835   3%   22,692   7%
Revenue   270,016   59%   183,096   57%
Taxable   49,508   11%   43,517   13%

Total  $ 460,422   100%  $ 322,947   100%

We own $95.6 million of municipal securities which are credit enhanced 
by various financial guarantors. As of December 31, 2013, the average 
underlying credit rating for these securities is A+. There has been no 
material adverse impact to our investment portfolio or results of opera-
tions as a result of downgrades of the credit ratings for several of the 
financial guarantors.

We analyze our mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities 
by credit quality of the underlying collateral distinguishing between 
the securities issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association 
(“FNMA”), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”) 
and the Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”) which 
are Federal government sponsored entities, and the non- FNMA and 

non- FHLMC securities broken out by prime, Alternative A- paper (“Alt- 
A”) and subprime collateral. The securities issued by FNMA and FHLMC 
are the obligations of each respective entity. The U.S. Department of the 
Treasury has agreed to provide support to FNMA and FHLMC under the 
Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement by committing to make quarterly 
payments to these enterprises, if needed, to maintain a zero net worth.

Prime collateral consists of mortgages or other collateral from the 
most creditworthy borrowers. Alt- A collateral consists of mortgages 
or other collateral from borrowers which have a risk potential that is 
greater than prime but less than subprime. The subprime collateral 
consists of mortgages or other collateral from borrowers with low credit 
ratings. Such subprime and Alt- A categories are as defined by S&P.
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The following table sets forth our agency mortgage- backed securities and residential mortgage- backed securities (“RMBS”) by those issued 
by GNMA, FNMA, and FHLMC, and the quality category (prime, Alt- A and subprime) for all other such investments as of December 31, 2013:

December 31, 2013

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Agency mortgage- backed securities:
GNMA  $ 122,079  $ 2,707  $ (3,645)  $ 123,017
FNMA   132,731   3,232   (2,058)   131,557
FHLMC   46,464   840   (313)   45,937

Total agency mortgage- backed securities  $ 301,274  $ 6,779  $ (6,016)  $ 300,511

Residential mortgage- backed securities:
Prime  $ 17,932  $ 500  $ (137)  $ 17,569
Alt- A   1,885   77   (24)   1,832
Subprime   543   14   –   529
Non- US RMBS   21,395   621   –   20,774

Total residential mortgage- backed securities  $ 41,755  $ 1,212  $ (161)  $ 40,704

The following table sets forth the composition of the investments categorized as RMBS in our portfolio by generally equivalent S&P and Moody’s 
ratings (not all securities in our portfolio are rated by both S&P and Moody’s) as of December 31, 2013:

December 31, 2013

Equivalent S&P Rating Equivalent Moody’s Rating Fair Value Amortized Cost
Net Unrealized 

Gain (Loss)

In thousands

AAA/AA/A Aaa/Aa/A  $ 22,158  $ 21,511  $ 647
BBB Baa   8,947   8,953   (6)
BB Ba   1,520   1,566   (46)
B B   2,051   2,050   1
CCC or lower Caa or lower   7,079   6,624   455
NR NR   –   –   –

Total  $ 41,755  $ 40,704  $ 1,051

Details of the collateral of our asset- backed securities portfolio as of December 31, 2013 are presented below:

AAA AA A BBB BB CCC Fair Value
Amortized 

Cost
Unrealized 
Gain (Loss)

In thousands

Auto loans  $ 17,036  $ –  $ 7,164  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ 24,200  $ 24,091  $ 109
Credit cards   31,520   –   –   –   –   –   31,520   31,313   207
Collateralized Loan 

Obligations   48,465   48,465   48,864   (399)
Time Share   –   –   10,825   –   –   –   10,825   10,632   193
Student Loans   2,587   2,524   –   –   –   –   5,111   5,060   51
Miscellaneous   5,012   –   –   –   –   –   5,012   5,000   12

Total  $ 104,620  $ 2,524  $ 17,989  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ 125,133  $ 124,960  $ 173
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The following table sets forth the composition of the investments categorized as commercial mortgage- backed securities in our portfolio by 
generally equivalent S&P and Moody’s ratings (not all securities in our portfolio are rated by both S&P and Moody’s) as of December 31, 2013:

December 31, 2013

Equivalent S&P Rating Equivalent Moody’s Rating Fair Value Amortized Cost
Net Unrealized 

Gain (Loss)

In thousands

AAA/AA/A Aaa/Aa/A  $ 172,750  $ 165,468  $ 7,282
BBB Baa   –   –   –
BB Ba   –   –   –
B B   –   –   –
CCC or lower Caa or lower   –   –   –
NR NR   –   –   –

Total  $ 172,750  $ 165,468  $ 7,282

The following table sets forth the composition of the investments categorized as corporate bonds in our portfolio by generally equivalent S&P 
and Moody’s ratings (not all securities in our portfolio are rated by both S&P and Moody’s) as of December 31, 2013:

December 31, 2013

Equivalent S&P Rating Equivalent Moody’s Rating Fair Value Amortized Cost
Net Unrealized 

Gain (Loss)

In thousands

AAA/AA/A Aaa/Aa/A  $ 346,011  $ 339,071  $ 6,940
BBB Baa   157,993   152,974   5,019
BB Ba   850   850   –
B B   –   –   –
CCC or lower Caa or lower   –   –   –
NR NR   –   –   –

Total  $ 504,854  $ 492,895  $ 11,959

The company holds non- sovereign securities, where the issuer is located in the Euro Area, an economic and monetary union of certain member 
states within the European Union that have adopted the Euro as their common currency. As of December 31, 2013, the fair value of such securities 
was $83.1 million, with an amortized cost of $82.8 million representing 3.8% of our total fixed income and equity portfolio. Our largest exposure 
is in France with a total of $42.8 million followed by the Netherlands with a total of $25.3 million. We have no direct material exposure to Greece, 
Portugal, Italy or Spain as of December 31, 2013.
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The following table summarizes all securities in a gross unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, showing the aggregate fair 
value and gross unrealized loss by the length of time those securities had continuously been in a gross unrealized loss position as well as the 
number of securities:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Number of 
Securities Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Loss
Number of 
Securities Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Loss

In thousands, except # of securities

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds, and foreign 

government bonds
0–6 months   27  $ 136,360  $ 1,096   8  $ 23,760  $ 22
7–12 months   26   149,370   7,759   3   14,118   11
> 12 months   –   –   –   1   4,652   3

Subtotal   53  $ 285,730  $ 8,855   12  $ 42,530  $ 36

States, municipalities and political subdivisions
0–6 months   28  $ 40,132  $ 297   10  $ 21,299  $ 325
7–12 months   104   205,152   12,100   –   –   –
> 12 months   6   12,357   1,254   4   2,908   55

Subtotal   138  $ 257,641  $ 13,651   14  $ 24,207  $ 380

Agency mortgage– backed securities
0–6 months   39  $ 39,458  $ 434   10  $ 62,516  $ 174
7–12 months   64   77,860   3,768   2   1,671   30
> 12 months   9   22,784   1,814   –   –   –

Subtotal   112  $ 140,102  $ 6,016   12  $ 64,187  $ 204

Residential mortgage obligations
0–6 months   3  $ 431  $ 2   6  $ 1,825  $ 22
7–12 months   7   950   29   –   –   –
> 12 months   15   2,467   130   35   7,252   527

Subtotal   25  $ 3,848  $ 161   41  $ 9,077  $ 549

Asset– backed securities
0–6 months   14  $ 75,887  $ 479   –  $ –  $ –
7–12 months   1   203   1   –   –   –
> 12 months   –   –   –   2   2,369   49

Subtotal   15  $ 76,090  $ 480   2  $ 2,369  $ 49

Commercial mortgage– backed securities
0–6 months   4  $ 6,712  $ 31   7  $ 2,639  $ 7
7–12 months   2   15,098   322   –   –   –
> 12 months   4   774   21   5   845   11

Subtotal   10  $ 22,584  $ 374   12  $ 3,484  $ 18

Corporate bonds
0–6 months   34  $ 93,591  $ 717   2  $ 3,528  $ 6
7–12 months   18   55,021   2,726   –   –   –
> 12 months   –   –   –   4   6,689   19

Subtotal   52  $ 148,612  $ 3,443   6  $ 10,217  $ 25

Total fixed maturities   405  $ 934,607  $ 32,980   99  $ 156,071  $ 1,261

Equity securities —  common stocks
0–6 months   5  $ 7,387  $ 422   13  $ 23,345  $ 522
7–12 months   2   3,538   128   1   1,943   104
> 12 months   –   –   –   –   –   –

Total equity securities   7  $ 10,925  $ 550   14  $ 25,288  $ 626
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We analyze the unrealized losses quarterly to determine if any are other- 
than-temporary. The above unrealized losses have been determined to 
be temporary based on our policies.

In the above table the gross unrealized loss for the greater than 12 
months category consists primarily of agency mortgage- backed securi-
ties and municipal bonds primarily due to an increase in interest rates.

To determine whether the unrealized loss on structured securities 
is other- than-temporary, we analyze the projections provided by our 
investment managers with respect to an expected principal loss under 
a range of scenarios and utilize the most likely outcomes. The analysis 
relies on actual collateral performance measures such as default rate, 
prepayment rate and loss severity. These assumptions are applied 
throughout the remaining term of the deal, incorporating the trans-
action structure and priority of payments, to generate loss adjusted 
cash flows. Results of the analysis will indicate whether the security is 
expected ultimately to incur a loss or whether there is a material impact 
on yield due to either a projected loss or a change in cash flow timing. 
A break even default rate is also calculated. A comparison of the break 
even default rate to the actual default rate provides an indication of the 

level of cushion or coverage to the first dollar principal loss. The analy-
sis applies the stated assumptions throughout the remaining term of 
the transaction to forecast cash flows, which are then applied through 
the transaction structure to determine whether there is a loss to the 
security. For securities in which a tranche loss is present, and the net 
present value of loss adjusted cash flows is less than book value, an 
impairment is recognized. The output data also includes a number of 
additional metrics such as average life remaining, original and current 
credit support, over 60 day delinquency and security rating.

Prepayment assumptions associated with the mortgage- backed 
and asset- backed securities are reviewed on a periodic basis. When 
changes in prepayment assumptions are deemed necessary as the 
result of actual prepayments differing from anticipated prepayments, 
securities are revalued based upon the new prepayment assumptions 
utilizing the retrospective accounting method.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the largest unrealized loss by a 
non- government backed issuer in the investment portfolio was $1.1 mil-
lion and $0.2 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the composition of the investments categorized as fixed maturity securities in our investment portfolio with gross 
unrealized losses by generally equivalent S&P and Moody’s ratings (not all of the securities are rated by S&P and Moody’s) as of December 31, 2013:

December 31, 2013

Gross Unrealized Loss Fair Value

Equivalent S&P Rating Equivalent Moody’s Rating Amount
Percent of 

Total Amount
Percent of 

Total

In thousands

AAA/AA/A Aaa/Aa/A  $ 32,090   98%  $ 892,973   96%
BBB Baa   759   2%   37,855   4%
BB Ba   64   0%   1,721   0%
B B   34   0%   899   0%
CCC or lower Caa or lower   33   0%   1,159   0%
NR NR   –   0%   –   0%

Total  $ 32,980   100%  $ 934,607   100%

As of December 31, 2013, the gross unrealized losses in the table above were related to fixed maturity securities that are rated investment grade, 
which is defined as a security having an S&P rating of “BBB–” or higher, or a Moody’s rating of “Baa3” or higher, except for $0.1 million which 
is rated below investment grade or not rated. Unrealized losses on investment grade securities principally relate to changes in interest rates or 
changes in sector- related credit spreads since the securities were acquired.

The contractual maturity for fixed maturity securities categorized by the number of years until maturity, with a gross unrealized loss as of 
December 31, 2013 is presented in the following table:

December 31, 2013

Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value

Amount
Percent of 

Total Amount
Percent of 

Total

In thousands

Due in one year or less  $ 1   0%  $ 7,687   1%
Due after one year through five years   2,152   7%   242,879   26%
Due after five years through ten years   13,585   41%   262,989   28%
Due after ten years   10,211   31%   178,428   19%
Mortgage- and asset- backed securities   7,031   21%   242,624   26%

Total  $ 32,980   100%  $ 934,607   100%

As of December 31, 2013, there were no securities with a fair value that was less than 80% of amortized cost.
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The table below summarizes our activity related to OTTI losses for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Number of 
Securities Amount

Number of 
Securities Amount

Number of 
Securities Amount

In thousands, except # of securities

Total OTTI losses:
Corporate and other bonds   1  $ 1,822   –  $ –   1  $ 109
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   –   –   –   –   –
Residential mortgage- backed securities   –   –   1   55   19   2,616
Asset- backed securities   –   –   –   –   –   –
Equities   3   571   3   847   2   892

Total   4  $ 2,393   4  $ 902   22  $ 3,617

Less: Portion of loss in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss):
Corporate and other bonds  $ –  $ –  $ –
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   –   –
Residential mortgage- backed securities   –   44   1,632
Asset- backed securities   –   –   –
Equities   –   –   –

Total  $ –  $ 44  $ 1,632

Impairment losses recognized in earnings:
Corporate and other bonds  $ 1,822  $ –  $ 109
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   –   –
Residential mortgage- backed securities   –   11   984
Asset- backed securities   –   –   –
Equities   571   847   892

Total  $ 2,393  $ 858  $ 1,985

During the year ended December 31, 2013 we recognized OTTI losses 
of $2.4 million related to three equity securities and one municipal bond. 
During the year ended December 31, 2012 we recognized OTTI losses 
of $0.9  million related to one non- agency mortgage- backed secu-
rity and three equity securities. During the year ended December 31, 
2011 we recognized OTTI losses of $2.0 million related to non- agency 
mortgage- backed securities, two equity securities and one corporate 
bond. The significant inputs used to measure the amount of credit loss 

recognized in earnings were actual delinquency rates, default probabil-
ity assumptions, severity assumptions and prepayment assumptions. 
Projected losses are a function of both loss severity and probability 
of default. Default probability and severity assumptions differ based 
on property type, vintage and the stress of the collateral. We do not 
intend to sell any of these securities and it is more likely than not that 
we will not be required to sell these securities before the recovery of 
the amortized cost basis.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT 
MARKET RISK

MARKET SENSITIVE INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Market risk represents the potential for loss due to adverse changes in 
the fair value of financial instruments. We are exposed to potential loss 
to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, equity prices 
and foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is directly influenced 
by the volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the related under-
lying assets are traded. The following is a discussion of our primary 
market risk exposures and how those exposures have been managed 
through December 31, 2013. Our market risk sensitive instruments are 
entered into for purposes other than trading and speculation.

The carrying value of our investment portfolio as of December 31, 
2013 was $2.6 billion of which 79.5% was invested in fixed maturity 
securities. The primary market risk to our investment portfolio is inter-
est rate risk associated with investments in fixed maturity securities. 
We do not have any commodity risk exposure.

For fixed maturity securities, short- term liquidity needs and the 
potential liquidity needs of the business are key factors in managing 
the portfolio. The portfolio duration relative to the liabilities’ duration 
is primarily managed through investment transactions.

There were no significant changes regarding the investment portfolio 
in our primary market risk exposures or in how those exposures were 
managed for the year ended December 31, 2013. We do not currently 
anticipate significant changes in our primary market risk exposures 
or in how those exposures are managed in future reporting periods 
based upon what is known or expected to be in effect in future report-
ing periods.

INTEREST R ATE RISK SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Sensitivity analysis is defined as the measurement of potential loss 
in fair values or cash flows of market sensitive instruments resulting 
from one or more selected hypothetical changes in interest rates and 
other market rates or prices over a selected time. In our sensitivity 
analysis model, a hypothetical change in market rates is selected that 
is expected to reflect reasonably possible near- term changes in those 
rates. “Near- term” means a period of time going forward up to one year 
from the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Actual results 
may differ from the hypothetical change in market rates assumed in 
this disclosure, especially since this sensitivity analysis does not reflect 
the results of any actions that would be taken by us to mitigate such 
hypothetical losses in fair value.

In this sensitivity analysis model, we use fair values to measure our 
potential loss. The sensitivity analysis model includes fixed maturities. 
The primary market risk to our market- sensitive instruments is inter-
est rate risk. The sensitivity analysis model uses a 50 and 100 basis 
points change in interest rates to measure the hypothetical change in 
fair value of financial instruments included in the model. Changes in 
interest rates will have an immediate effect on comprehensive income 
and stockholders’ equity but will not ordinarily have an immediate effect 
on net income. As interest rates rise, the market value of our interest 
rate sensitive securities will decrease. Conversely, as interest rates fall, 
the market value of our interest rate sensitive securities will increase.

For invested assets, modified duration modeling is used to calculate 
changes in fair values. Durations on invested assets are adjusted for 
call, put and interest rate reset features. Duration on tax- exempt securi-
ties is adjusted for the fact that the prices on such securities are less 
sensitive to changes in interest rates compared to treasury securities. 
Invested asset portfolio durations are calculated on a market value 
weighted basis using holdings as of December 31, 2013.

The following table summarizes the effect that an immediate, parallel shift in the interest rate yield curve would have had on our portfolio as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Interest Rate Shift in Basis Points

–100 –50 0 +50 +100

In thousands

December 31, 2013:
Total market value  $ 2,134,293  $ 2,090,878  $ 2,047,873  $ 2,005,687  $ 1,964,729
Market value change from base   4.22%   2.10%   –2.06%   –4.06%
Change in unrealized value  $ 86,420  $ 43,005  $ –  $ (42,186)  $ (83,144)

December 31, 2012:
Total market value  $ 2,197,158  $ 2,159,177  $ 2,121,833  $ 2,084,064  $ 2,045,659
Market value change from base   3.55%   1.76%   –1.78%   –3.59%
Change in unrealized value  $ 75,325  $ 37,344  $ –  $ (37,769)  $ (76,174)
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EQUITY PRICE RISK

Our portfolio of equity securities currently valued at $144 million, which 
we carry on our balance sheet at fair value, has exposure to price 
risk. This risk is defined as the potential loss in fair value resulting 
from adverse changes in stock prices. Our U.S. equity portfolio is 
benchmarked to the S&P 500 index and changes in that index may 
approximate the impact on our portfolio.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE R ATE RISK

Our Lloyd’s Operations are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate 
risk primarily related to foreign- denominated cash, cash equivalents 
and marketable securities (“foreign funds”), premiums receivable, rein-
surance recoverables on paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment 
expenses as well as reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses. 
The principal currencies creating foreign currency exchange risk for our 
Lloyd’s Operations are the British pound, the Euro and the Canadian 
dollar. Our Lloyd’s Operations manages its foreign currency exchange 
rate risk primarily through asset- liability matching.

Based on the primary foreign- denominated balances within our Lloyd’s Operations as of December 31, 2013, an assumed 5%, 10% and 15% 
negative currency movement would result in changes as follows:

December 31, 2013

Negative Currency Movement of

USD Equivalent 5% 10% 15%

In millions

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at fair value  $ 106.6  $ (2.3)  $ (4.7)  $ (7.0)
Premiums receivable  $ 30.4  $ (1.4)  $ (2.7)  $ (4.1)
Reinsurance recoverables on paid, unpaid losses and LAE  $ 46.1  $ (2.0)  $ (4.1)  $ (6.1)
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses  $ 130.0  $ 5.7  $ 11.3  $ 17.0

Total   –   (0.2)   (0.2)

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The Consolidated Financial Statements required in response to this 
section are submitted as part of Item 15(a) of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON 
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

CONCLUSION REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we 
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, 
as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the 
Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer 
and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by 
this annual report.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL  
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

(a) Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining ade-
quate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined 
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the par-
ticipation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness 
of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework 
in Internal Control —  Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on 
our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control —  Integrated 
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condi-
tions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, 
KPMG LLP, has audited the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, as stated in 
their report in item (b) below.
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(b) Attestation report of the registered public accounting firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Navigators Group, Inc.
We have audited The Navigators Group, Inc.’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control —  Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The 
Navigators Group, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included 
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the main-
tenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condi-
tions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Navigators Group, Inc. maintained, in all 
 material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December  31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control —  Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of The Navigators Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements 
of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows 
for each of the years in the three- year period ended December  31, 
2013, and our report dated February 14, 2014 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP
New York, New York
February 14, 2014
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(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There have been no changes during our fourth fiscal quarter in our 
internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over 
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND  
CORPOR ATE GOVERNANCE

Information concerning our directors and executive officers is con-
tained under “Election of Directors” in our 2014 Proxy Statement, which 
information is incorporated herein by reference. Information concerning 
the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee’s financial expert of the 
Company is contained under “Board of Directors and Committees” in 
our 2013 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein 
by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for our Chief Executive Officer 
and Senior Financial Officers, which is applicable to our Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Controller and all other per-
sons performing similar functions. A copy of such Code is available on 
our website at www.navg.com under the Corporate Governance link. 
Any amendments to, or waivers of, such Code which apply to any of 
the financial professionals listed above will be disclosed on our website 
under the same link promptly following the date of such amendment 
or waiver.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information concerning executive compensation will be contained under 
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in our 2014 Proxy Statement, 
which information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURIT Y OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS 
AND MANAGEMENT AND REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MAT TERS
Information concerning the security ownership of the directors and 
officers of the Company is contained under “Election of Directors” and 
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in our 2014 Proxy Statement, 
which information is incorporated herein by reference. Information 
concerning securities that are available to be issued under our equity 
compensation plans is contained under “Equity Compensation Plan 
Information” in our 2013 Proxy Statement, which information is incor-
porated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN REL ATIONSHIPS AND REL ATED TR ANSACTIONS, 
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information concerning relationships and related transactions of our 
directors and officers is contained under “Related Party Transactions” 
in our 2014 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein 
by reference. Information concerning director independence is con-
tained under “Board of Directors and Committees” in our 2014 Proxy 
Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Information concerning the principal accountant’s fees and services 
for the Company is contained under “Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm” in the Company’s 2014 Proxy Statement, which 
information is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

a. Financial Statements and Schedules: The financial statements and 
schedules that are listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Schedules on page F-1.

b. Exhibits: The exhibits that are listed in the accompanying Index 
to Exhibits on the page which immediately follows page S-8. The 
exhibits include the management contracts and compensatory plans 
or arrangements required to be filed as exhibits to this Form 10-K by 
Item 601(a)(10)(iii) of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

The Navigators Group, Inc. 
(Company)

Dated: February 14, 2014 By:/s/ / Ciro M. DeFalco
Ciro M. DeFalco 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name Title Date

/s/ ROBERT V. MENDELSOHN
Robert V. Mendelsohn Chairman February 14 , 2014

/s/ STANLEY A. GALANSKI
Stanley A. Galanski President and Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer)
February 14, 2014

/s/ CIRO M. DEFALCO
Ciro M. DeFalco Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 14, 2014

/s/ SAUL L. BASCH
Saul L. Basch Director February 14, 2014

s/ H.J. MERVYN BLAKENEY
H.J. Mervyn Blakeney Director February 14, 2014

/s/ TERENCE N. DEEKS
Terence N. Deeks Director February 14, 2014

/s/ GEOFFREY E. JOHNSON
Geoffrey E. Johnson Director February 14, 2014

/s/ JOHN F. KIRBY
John F. Kirby Director February 14, 2014

/s/ DAVID M. PLATTER
David M. Platter Director February 14, 2014

/s/ JANICE C. TOMLINSON
Janice C. Tomlinson Director February 14, 2014

/s/ MARC M. TRACT
Marc M. Tract Director February 14, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Navigators Group, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 
The Navigators Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, compre-
hensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013. In connec-
tion with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also 
have audited financial statement schedules I to VI. These consolidated 
financial statements and financial statement schedules are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial 
statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rea-
sonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The 
Navigators Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each 
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013, in con-
formity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our 
opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in 
relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, 
present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), The 
Navigators Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control —  
Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report 
dated February  14, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP
New York, New York
February 14, 2014
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THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(In thousands, except share amounts) 2013 2012

ASSETS
Investments and cash:

Fixed maturities, available- for-sale, at fair value (amortized cost: 2013, $2,036,999; 2012, $2,034,765)  $ 2,047,873  $ 2,121,833
Equity securities, available- for-sale, at fair value (cost: 2013, $118,804; 2012, $85,004)   143,954   101,297
Short- term investments, at cost which approximates fair value   296,250   153,788
Cash   86,509   45,336

Total investments and cash  $ 2,574,586  $ 2,422,254

Premiums receivable   325,025   320,182
Prepaid reinsurance premiums   247,822   221,015
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses   38,384   49,282
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses   822,438   880,139
Deferred policy acquisition costs   67,007   61,005
Accrued investment income   13,866   12,587
Goodwill and other intangible assets   7,177   7,093
Current income tax receivable, net   9,918   –
Deferred income tax, net   28,187   3,216
Receivable for investments sold   3   4,310
Other assets   35,039   26,587

Total assets  $ 4,169,452  $ 4,007,670

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses  $ 2,045,071  $ 2,097,048
Unearned premiums   714,606   642,407
Reinsurance balances payable   167,252   165,813
Senior Notes   263,308   114,424
Current income tax payable, net   –   2,133
Payable for investments purchased   7,624   58,345
Accounts payable and other liabilities   69,379   48,015

Total liabilities  $ 3,267,240  $ 3,128,185

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.10 par value, authorized 1,000,000 shares, none issued  $ –  $ –
Common stock, $.10 par value, authorized 50,000,000 shares, issued 17,709,876 shares for 2013 and 

17,558,046 shares for 2012   1,770   1,755
Additional paid- in capital   335,546   329,452
Treasury stock, at cost (3,511,380 shares for 2013 and 2012)   (155,801)   (155,801)
Retained earnings   692,337   628,871
Accumulated other comprehensive income   28,360   75,208

Total stockholders’ equity  $ 902,212  $ 879,485

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 4,169,452  $ 4,007,670

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2013 2012 2011

Gross written premiums  $ 1,370,517  $ 1,286,465  $ 1,108,216
Revenues:
Net written premiums  $ 887,922  $ 833,655  $ 753,798
Change in unearned premiums   (45,983)   (51,691)   (62,153)

Net earned premiums   841,939   781,964   691,645
Net investment income   56,251   54,248   63,500

Total other- than-temporary impairment losses   (2,393)   (902)   (3,617)
Portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income (before tax)   –   44   1,632

Net other- than-temporary impairment losses recognized in earnings   (2,393)   (858)   (1,985)
Net realized gains (losses)   22,939   41,074   11,996
Other income (expense)   (1,172)   1,488   1,229

Total revenues  $ 917,564  $ 877,916  $ 766,385

Expenses:
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses  $ 518,961  $ 497,433  $ 476,997
Commission expenses   113,494   121,470   110,437
Other operating expenses   164,434   159,079   138,029
Call premium on Senior Notes   17,895   –   –
Interest expense   10,507   8,198   8,188

Total expenses  $ 825,291  $ 786,180  $ 733,651

Income before income taxes  $ 92,273  $ 91,736  $ 32,734

Income tax expense (benefit)  $ 28,807  $ 27,974  $ 7,137

Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597

Net income per common share:
Basic  $ 4.49  $ 4.54  $ 1.71
Diluted  $ 4.42  $ 4.45  $ 1.69

Average common shares outstanding:
Basic   14,133,925   14,052,311   14,980,429
Diluted   14,345,553   14,327,820   15,183,285

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on investments:
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments arising during the period, net of deferred tax of $17,521, 

$13,136 and $17,776 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively  $ (32,546)  $ 24,350  $ 34,276
Reclassification adjustment for net realized (gains) losses included in net income net of deferred 

tax of $6,218, $10,314 and $2,588 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively   (11,548)   (19,154)   (4,807)

Change in net unrealized gains (losses on investments)  $ (44,094)  $ 5,196  $ 29,469

Change in other- than-temporary impairments:
Non credit other- than-temporary impairments arising during the period, net of deferred tax of 

$174, $612 and $39 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively  $ 320  $ 1,135  $ 72
Reclassification adjustment for non credit other- than-temporary impairment losses recognized in 

net income net of deferred tax of $16 and $84 in 2012 and 2011, respectively   –   (29)   (155)

Change in other- than-temporary impairments  $ 320  $ 1,106  $ (83)

Change in foreign currency translation gains (losses), net of deferred tax of $1,650, $521 and $192 
in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively  $ (3,074)  $ (1,342)  $ 401

Other comprehensive income (loss)  $ (46,848)  $ 4,960  $ 29,787

Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 16,618  $ 68,722  $ 55,384

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accu-
mulated 

Other 
Compre-

hensive 
Income 

(Loss)

Total 
Stock-

holders’ 
Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock

Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance, December 31, 2010 17,274,440  $ 1,728  $ 312,588   1,532,273  $ (64,935)  $ 539,512  $ 40,461  $ 829,354

Net income   –   –   –   –   –   25,597   –   25,597

Changes in comprehensive income:
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) 

on investments   –   –   –   –   –   –   29,469   29,469

Change in net non-credit other-than-
temporary impairment losses   –   –   –   –   –   –   (83)   (83)

Change in foreign currency 
translation gain (loss)   –   –   –   –   –   –   401   401

Total comprehensive income   –   –   –   –   –   –   29,787   29,787

Shares issued under stock plan   193,175   18   –   –   –   –   –   18

Share-based compensation   –   –   9,545   –   –   –   –   9,545

Treasury stock acquired   –   –   –   1,979,107   (90,866)   –   –   (90,866)

Balance, December 31, 2011 17,467,615  $ 1,746  $ 322,133   3,511,380  $ (155,801)  $ 565,109  $ 70,248  $ 803,435

Net income   –   –   –   –   –   63,762   –   63,762

Changes in comprehensive income:
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) 

on investments   –   –   –   –   –   –   5,196   5,196

Change in net non-credit other-than-
temporary impairment losses   –   –   –   –   –   –   1,106   1,106

Change in foreign currency 
translation gain (loss)   –   –   –   –   –   –   (1,342)   (1,342)

Total comprehensive income   –   –   –   –   –   –   4,960   4,960

Shares issued under stock plan   90,431   9   (61)   –   –   –   –   (52)

Share-based compensation   –   –   7,380   –   –   –   –   7,380

Balance, December 31, 2012 17,558,046  $ 1,755  $ 329,452   3,511,380  $ (155,801)  $ 628,871  $ 75,208  $ 879,485

Net income   –   –   –   –   –   63,466   –   63,466

Changes in comprehensive income:
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) 

on investments   –   –   –   –   –   –   (44,094)   (44,094)

Change in net non-credit other-than-
temporary impairment losses   –   –   –   –   –   –   320   320

Change in foreign currency 
translation gain (loss)   –   –   –   –   –   –   (3,074)   (3,074)

Total comprehensive income   –   –   –   –   –   –   (46,848)   (46,848)

Shares issued under stock plan   151,830   15   2,725   –   –   –   –   2,740

Share-based compensation   –   –   3,369   –   –   –   –   3,369

Balance, December 31, 2013 17,709,876  $ 1,770  $ 335,546   3,511,380  $ (155,801)  $ 692,337  $ 28,360  $ 902,212

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.



F-7

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Operating activities:
Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation & amortization   4,518   5,931   4,059
Deferred income taxes   277   (11,414)   6,224
Net realized (gains) losses   (22,939)   (41,074)   (11,996)
Net other- than-temporary losses recognized in earnings   2,393   858   1,985
Call premium on redemption of Senior Notes   17,895   –   –
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses   68,599   (40,185)   10,084
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses   (51,977)   14,369   98,879
Prepaid reinsurance premiums   (26,807)   (56,853)   (7,477)
Unearned premiums   72,199   109,778   69,602
Premiums receivable   (4,843)   (64,457)   (75,973)
Deferred policy acquisition costs   (6,002)   2,979   (8,815)
Accrued investment income   (1,279)   1,905   961
Reinsurance balances payable   1,439   57,114   2,865
Current income taxes   (12,051)   17,523   (17,226)
Other   31,987   36,503   19,569

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $ 136,875  $ 96,739  $ 118,338

Investing activities:
Fixed maturities

Redemptions and maturities  $ 237,627  $ 188,282  $ 166,657
Sales   648,335   1,319,404   666,976
Purchases   (899,930)   (1,711,080)   (803,568)

Equity securities
Sales   72,113   39,503   73,590
Purchases   (89,288)   (37,587)   (75,894)

Change in payable for securities   (46,414)   56,543   12,432
Net change in short- term investments   (142,214)   (31,568)   30,384
Purchase of property and equipment   (10,088)   (3,336)   (4,571)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  $ (229,859)  $ (179,839)  $ 66,006

Financing activities:
Net Proceeds from Debt Offering  $ 263,278  $ –  $ –
Redemption of 7.0% Senior Notes Due May 1, 2016   (132,437)   –   –
Purchase of treasury stock   –   –   (90,866)
Proceeds of stock issued from employee stock purchase plan   821   672   945
Proceeds of stock issued from exercise of stock options   2,495   404   1,169

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  $ 134,157  $ 1,076  $ (88,752)

Increase (decrease) in cash   41,173   (82,024)   95,592
Cash at beginning of year   45,336   127,360   31,768

Cash at end of period  $ 86,509  $ 45,336  $ 127,360

Supplemental cash information:
Income taxes paid, net  $ 41,094  $ 19,602  $ 14,145
Interest paid  $ 8,050  $ 8,050  $ 8,050
Issuance of stock to directors  $ 400  $ 242  $ 210

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1.  
ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ORGANIZATION

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements, consisting 
of the accounts of The Navigators Group, Inc., a Delaware holding 
company established in 1982, and its wholly- owned subsidiaries, are 
prepared on the basis of U.S. generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (“GAAP” or “U.S. GAAP”). The terms “we”, “us”, “our” and “the 
Company” as used herein are used to mean The Navigators Group, 
Inc. and its wholly- owned subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise 
requires. The terms “Parent” or “Parent Company” are used to mean 
The Navigators Group, Inc. without its subsidiaries. All significant inter-
company transactions and balances have been eliminated.

We are an international insurance company focusing on specialty 
products within the overall property and casualty insurance market. 
Our largest product line and most long- standing area of specialization 
is ocean marine insurance. We have also developed other specialty 
insurance lines such as commercial primary and excess liability as 
well as specialty niches in professional liability, and have expanded 
our specialty reinsurance business since launching Navigators Re in 
the fourth quarter of 2010.

Our revenue is primarily comprised of premiums and investment 
income. We derive our premiums primarily from business written by 
wholly- owned underwriting management companies which produce, 
manage and underwrite insurance and reinsurance for us. Our products 
are distributed through multiple channels, utilizing global, national and 
regional retail and wholesale insurance brokers.

We conduct operations through our Insurance Companies and our 
Lloyd’s Operations underwriting segments. The Insurance Companies 
segment consists of Navigators Insurance Company, which includes a 
United Kingdom Branch (the “U.K. Branch”), and Navigators Specialty 
Insurance Company, which underwrites specialty and professional 
liability insurance on an excess and surplus lines basis. All of the insur-
ance business written by Navigators Specialty Insurance Company is 
fully reinsured by Navigators Insurance Company pursuant to a 100% 
quota share reinsurance agreement. The insurance and reinsurance 
business written by our Insurance Companies is underwritten through 
our wholly- owned underwriting management Companies, Navigators 
Management Company, Inc. (“NMC”) and Navigators Management 
(UK) Ltd. (“NMUK”).

Our Lloyd’s Operations segment includes Navigators Underwriting 
Agency Ltd. (“NUAL”), a Lloyd’s of London (“Lloyd’s”) underwriting 
agency which manages Lloyd’s Syndicate 1221 (“Syndicate 1221”). 
Our Lloyd’s Operations primarily underwrite marine and related lines 
of business along with offshore energy, construction coverages for 
onshore energy business and professional liability insurance at Lloyd’s 
through Syndicate 1221. We controlled 100% of Syndicate 1221’s stamp 
capacity for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 underwriting years through our 
wholly- owned subsidiary, Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd., 
which is referred to as a corporate name in the Lloyd’s market. We 

have also established underwriting agencies in Antwerp, Belgium, 
Stockholm, Sweden and Copenhagen, Denmark, which underwrite 
risks pursuant to binding authorities with NUAL into Syndicate 1221. For 
financial information by segment, refer to Note 3, Segment Information, 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and demand deposits with banks, exclud-
ing such amounts held by Syndicate 1221 included as Funds at Lloyd’s.

Investments
As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, all fixed maturity and equity securi-
ties held by the Company were carried at fair value and classified as 
available- for-sale. Available- for-sale securities are debt and equity 
securities not classified as either held- to-maturity securities or trad-
ing securities and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and 
losses excluded from earnings and reported in accumulated other com-
prehensive income (“AOCI”) as a separate component of stockholders’ 
equity. Fixed maturity securities include bonds, mortgage- backed and 
asset- backed securities. Equity securities consist of common stock.

Short- term investments are carried at cost, which approximates 
fair value. Short- term investments mature within one year from the 
purchase date.

All prices for our fixed maturities, equity securities and short- term 
investments valued as Level  1, Level  2 or Level  3 in the fair value 
hierarchy, as defined in the Financial Accounts Standards Board 
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification 820 (“ASC 820”), Fair 
Value Measurements, are received from independent pricing services 
utilized by one of our outside investment managers whom we employ to 
assist us with investment accounting services. This manager utilizes a 
pricing committee which approves the use of one or more independent 
pricing service vendors. The pricing committee consists of five or more 
members of the investment management firm, one from senior man-
agement and one from the accounting group with the remainder from 
the asset class specialists and client strategists. The pricing source 
of each security is determined in accordance with the pricing source 
procedures approved by the pricing committee. The investment man-
ager uses supporting documentation received from the independent 
pricing service vendor detailing the inputs, models and processes 
used in the independent pricing service vendors’ evaluation process 
to determine the appropriate fair value hierarchy. Any pricing where 
the input is believed to be unobservable is deemed to be a Level 3 
price. Management has reviewed this process by which the manager 
determines the prices and has obtained alternative pricing to validate 
a sample of the prices and assess their reasonableness.

Premiums and discounts on fixed maturity securities are amortized 
into interest income over the life of the security under the interest 
method. For mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities, anticipated 
prepayments and expected maturities are utilized in applying the inter-
est rate method to our mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities. 
An effective yield is calculated based on projected principal cash flows 
at the time of original purchase. The effective yield is used to amortize 
the purchase price of the security over the security’s expected life. Book 
values are adjusted to reflect the amortization of premium or accretion 
of discount on a monthly basis. The projected principal cash flows are 
based on certain prepayment assumptions which are generated using 
a prepayment model. The prepayment model uses a number of factors 
to estimate prepayment activity including the current levels of inter-
est rates (refinancing incentive), time of year (seasonality), economic 
activity (including housing turnover) and term and age of the underlying 
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collateral (burnout, seasoning). Prepayment assumptions associated 
with the mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities are reviewed 
on a periodic basis. When changes in prepayment assumptions are 
deemed necessary as the result of actual prepayments differing from 
anticipated prepayments, securities are revalued based upon the new 
prepayment assumptions utilizing the retrospective adjustment method, 
whereby the effective yield is recalculated to reflect actual payments to 
date and anticipated future payments. The investment in such securi-
ties is adjusted to the amount that would have existed had the new 
effective yield been applied since the acquisition of the security. Such 
adjustments, if any, are included in net investment income for the cur-
rent period being reported.

Realized gains and losses on sales of investments are recognized 
when the related trades are executed and are determined on the basis 
of the specific identification method.

Impairment of Invested Assets
Management regularly reviews our fixed maturity and equity securities 
portfolios to evaluate the necessity of recording impairment losses for 
other- than-temporary declines in the fair value of securities.

For fixed maturity securities, we consider our intent to sell a security 
and whether it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell 
a security before the anticipated recovery as part of the process of 
evaluating whether a security’s unrealized loss represents an other- 
than-temporary decline. For fixed maturity securities that have a fair 
value below amortized cost and that we intend to sell or for which it 
is more likely than not that we would be required to sell, an other than 
temporary impairment (“OTTI”) loss is recognized in earnings by writ-
ing such security down to fair value. For fixed maturity securities we 
do not intend to sell or for which it is more likely that not we would not 
be required to sell, a decline in value below amortized cost is only rec-
ognized to the extent the present value of future cash flows expected 
to be collected is less than the amortized cost of the security. Such 
shortfall in the present value future cash flows is considered the credit 
loss and is recognized as an OTTI loss in earnings, with the non- credit 
portion of the impairment (i.e. the difference between the present value 
of future cash flows and fair value of the security) recognized as OTTI 
losses in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).

In evaluating OTTI of equity securities, we consider our intent to hold 
the securities as part of the process of evaluating whether a decline 
in fair value below cost represents an other than temporary decline in 
value. For equity securities in an unrealized loss position that we do 
not intent to hold or that we do not expect to recover their value within 
a reasonable period of time, an OTTI loss is recognized in earnings by 
writing such security down to the fair value.

Syndicate 1221
Syndicate 1221 reports the amount of premiums, claims, and expenses 
recorded in an underwriting account for a particular year over a three 
year period. Traditionally, three years has been necessary to report 
substantially all premiums associated with an underwriting year and to 
report most of the related claims, although claims may remain unsettled 
after the underwriting year is closed. Syndicate 1221 typically closes 
an underwriting year by reinsuring outstanding claims in that under-
writing year with the next underwriting year. Only profits from closed 
underwriting years of account are distributed to NCUL. Profits from 
open underwriting years of account are not available and therefore not 
distributed to NCUL until the end of the three year period.

The Company’s financial statements include all of the assets, lia-
bilities, revenues and expenses of Syndicate 1221. Adjustments are 
recorded to recognize underwriting results as incurred in the spe-
cific year and not over a three year period. Syndicate 1221 is not a 
separate legal entity. Refer to Note 10, Lloyd’s Syndicate 1221, for 
additional information.

Translation of Foreign Currencies
Functional currency assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars 
using period end rates of exchange and the related translation adjust-
ments are recorded as a separate component of AOCI. Statement of 
income amounts expressed in functional currencies are translated 
using average exchange rates. Realized gains and losses resulting from 
foreign currency transactions are recorded in Other income (expense) 
in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Premium Revenues
Written premium is recorded based on the insurance policies that have 
been reported to us and the policies that have been written by agents 
but not yet reported to us. We must estimate the amount of written 
premium not yet reported based on judgments relative to current and 
historical trends of the business being written. Such estimates are 
regularly reviewed and updated and any resulting adjustments are 
included in the current year’s results. An unearned premium reserve 
is established to reflect the unexpired portion of each policy at the 
financial reporting date.

Substantially all of our business is placed through agents and bro-
kers. We record estimates for both unreported direct and assumed 
premiums. We also record the ceded portion of the estimated gross 
written premium and related acquisition costs. The earned gross, ceded 
and net premiums are calculated based on our earning methodology 
which is generally pro- rata over the policy period or over the period of 
risk if the period of risk differs significantly from the contract period.

A portion of our premium is estimated for unreported premium, 
mostly for the Marine business written by our U.K. Branch and Lloyd’s 
Operations as well as the Accident & Health and Latin American & 
Caribbean property casualty and surety reinsurance business written 
by NavRe. Such premium estimates are generally based on submission 
data received from brokers and agents and recorded when the insur-
ance policy or reinsurance contract is written or bound. The estimates 
are regularly reviewed and updated taking into account the premium 
received to date versus the estimate and the age of the estimate. To 
the extent that the actual premium varies from the estimates, the differ-
ence, along with the related loss reserves and underwriting expenses, 
is recorded in current operations.

Reinsurance Ceded
In the normal course of business, reinsurance is purchased by us from 
insurers or reinsurers to reduce the amount of loss arising from claims. 
In order to determine the proper accounting for the reinsurance, man-
agement analyzes the reinsurance agreements to determine whether 
the reinsurance should be classified as prospective or retroactive based 
upon the terms of the reinsurance agreement and whether the reinsurer 
has assumed significant insurance risk to the extent that the reinsurer 
may realize a significant loss from the transaction.

Prospective reinsurance is reinsurance in which an assuming com-
pany agrees to reimburse the ceding company for losses that may be 
incurred as a result of future insurable events covered under contracts 
subject to the reinsurance. Retroactive reinsurance is reinsurance in 
which an assuming company agrees to reimburse a ceding company 
for liabilities incurred as a result of past insurable events covered under 
contracts subject to the reinsurance.



F-10

Ceded reinsurance premiums and any related ceding commission 
and ceded losses are reflected as reductions of the respective income 
or expense accounts over the terms of the reinsurance contracts. 
Prepaid reinsurance premiums represent the portion of premiums 
ceded to reinsurers applicable to the unexpired terms of the reinsurance 
contracts in force. Reinsurance reinstatement premiums are recognized 
in the same period as the loss event that gave rise to the reinstatement 
premiums. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a 
manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured 
policy. Unearned premiums ceded and estimates of amounts recover-
able from reinsurers on paid and unpaid losses are reflected as assets. 
Provisions are made for estimated unrecoverable reinsurance.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs
Costs of acquiring business which vary with and are directly related 
to the production of new or renewal business are deferred and amor-
tized ratably over the period that the related premiums are recognized 
as revenue. Such costs primarily include commission expense, other 
underwriting expenses and premium taxes are limited to the incremen-
tal direct costs related to the successful acquisition of new or renewal 
business. The method of computing deferred policy acquisition costs 
limits the deferral to their estimated net realizable value based on the 
related unearned premiums and takes into account anticipated losses 
and loss adjustment expenses, commission expense and operating 
expenses based on historical and current experience as well as antici-
pated investment income.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are determined on an 
individual basis for claims reported on direct business for insureds, 
from reports received from ceding insurers for insurance assumed 
from such insurers and on estimates based on Company and industry 
experience for IBNR claims and loss adjustment expenses. Indicated 
IBNR loss reserves are calculated by our actuaries using several stan-
dard actuarial methodologies, including the paid and incurred loss 
development and the paid and incurred Bornheutter- Ferguson loss 
methods. Additional analyses, such as frequency/severity analyses, 
are performed for certain books of business. The provision for unpaid 
losses and loss adjustment expenses has been established to cover the 
estimated unpaid cost of claims incurred. Such estimates are regularly 
reviewed and updated and any resulting adjustments are included in 
the current year’s results. Management believes that the liability it has 
recognized for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is a rea-
sonable estimate of the ultimate unpaid claims incurred, however, such 
provisions are necessarily based on estimates and, accordingly, no 
representation is made that the ultimate liability will not differ materially 
from the amounts recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. Losses and loss adjustment expenses are recorded on an 
undiscounted basis.

Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income 
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for 
the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the basic earnings per 
share adjusted for the potential dilution that would occur if all issued 
stock options were exercised and all stock grants were fully vested.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation of furniture and fixtures, electronic data processing equip-
ment and computer software is provided over the estimated useful 
lives of the respective assets, ranging from three to seven years, using 
the straight- line method. Amortization of leasehold improvements is 
provided over the shorter of the useful lives of those improvements 
or the contractual terms of the leases using the straight- line method.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquiring a business enter-
prise over the fair value of the net assets acquired. The Company has 
also recorded indefinite lived intangible assets related to the acquisition 
of the remaining non- controlled stamp capacity of Lloyd’s Syndicate 
1221. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are reported at 
carrying value and are tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill 
and indefinite lived intangible assets are considered impaired if the 
estimated fair value is less than its carrying value. Any impairment 
loss is measured as the difference between the implied fair value and 
the carrying value. This Company did not recognize an impairment on 
goodwill or the indefinite lived intangible assets for any of the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

As of December  31, 2013, the carrying value of goodwill and 
indefinite lived intangible assets was $7.2 million, consisting of $2.5 mil-
lion and $2.4  million of goodwill assigned to NMC and our Lloyd’s 
Operations, respectively, and $2.3 million of indefinite lived intangible 
assets assigned to our Lloyd’s Operations. As of December 31, 2012, 
the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets 
was $7.1 million, consisting of $2.5 million and $2.4 million of good-
will assigned to NMC and our Lloyd’s Operations, respectively, and 
$2.2 million of indefinite lived intangible assets assigned to our Lloyd’s 
Operations. Changes in the carrying value of the goodwill and indefinite 
lived intangible assets are due to fluctuations in currency exchange 
rates between the U.S. dollar and the British pound.

Income Taxes
We apply the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. 
Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differ-
ences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing 
assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply 
to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets 
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the 
period that includes the enactment date. In assessing the realization 
of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely 
than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. The account-
ing estimates that are viewed by management as critical are those in 
connection with reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, 
reinsurance recoverables, written and unearned premiums, deferred 
tax assets, and impairment of invested assets.



F-1 1

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 
issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2013-02 amending 
Codification topic 220 — Comprehensive Income. The amendments 
do not change the current requirements for reporting net income or 
other comprehensive income in the financial statements. The guid-
ance requires an entity to present information about significant items 
reclassified out of AOCI by component and for items reclassified out of 
AOCI and into net income, the entity must disclose the effect of such 
items on the affected net income line item. The Company adopted this 
standard effective January 1, 2013, and presents this information on 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Adoption of 
this standard did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheets, results of operations or cash flows.

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02 amending Codification 
topic 350 — Intangibles — Goodwill and Other. The amendment is 
intended to reduce cost and complexity, in addition to enhancing 
consistency of impairment testing guidance among long- lived asset 
categories by permitting entities to assess qualitative factors to deter-
mine whether it is necessary to calculate an asset’s fair value when 
testing an indefinite- lived asset for impairment. The amendment is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after September  15, 2012. The 
Company adopted this standard effective January 1, 2013. Adoption of 
this standard did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial position, results of operating or cash flows.

NOTE 2. 
EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following is a reconciliation of the basic and diluted EPS computa-
tions for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands, except share 
and per share amounts

Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597
Basic weighted average 

shares 14,133,925 14,052,311 14,980,429
Effect of common stock 

equivalents:
Assumed exercise of stock 

options and vesting of 
stock grants 211,628 275,509 202,856

Diluted weighted average 
shares 14,345,553 14,327,820 15,183,285

Net income per common 
share:

Basic  $ 4.49  $ 4.54  $ 1.71

Diluted  $ 4.42  $ 4.45  $ 1.69
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NOTE 3. 
SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company classifies its business into two underwriting seg-
ments consisting of the Insurance Companies segment (“Insurance 
Companies”) and the Lloyd’s Operations segment (“Lloyd’s 
Operations”), which are separately managed by division and aggre-
gated in to each underwriting segment, and a Corporate segment 
(“Corporate”). Segment data for each of the two underwriting segments 
include allocations of the operating expenses of the wholly- owned 
underwriting management companies and the Parent Company’s 
operating expenses and related income tax amounts. The Corporate 
segment consists of the Parent Company’s investment income, interest 
expense and the related tax effect.

The Company evaluates the performance of each underwriting 
segment based on its underwriting and GAAP results. The Insurance 
Companies’ and the Lloyd’s Operations’ results are measured by taking 
into account net earned premiums, net losses and loss adjustment 
expenses (“LAE”), commission expenses, other operating expenses 
and other income (expense). Each segment maintains its own invest-
ments on which it earns income and realizes capital gains or losses. 
The Company’s underwriting performance is evaluated separately from 
the performance of its investment portfolios.

The Insurance Companies consist of Navigators Insurance 
Company, including its U.K. Branch, and its wholly- owned subsidiary, 
Navigators Specialty Insurance Company (“Navigators Specialty”). They 
are primarily engaged in underwriting marine insurance and related lines 

of business, specialty insurance lines of business, including contrac-
tors general liability insurance, commercial umbrella and primary and 
excess casualty businesses, specialty assumed reinsurance business, 
and professional liability insurance. Navigators Specialty underwrites 
specialty and professional liability insurance on an excess and surplus 
lines basis. Navigators Specialty is 100% reinsured by Navigators 
Insurance Company.

The Lloyd’s Operations primarily underwrite marine and related lines 
of business along with offshore energy, professional liability insurance 
and construction coverages for onshore energy business at Lloyd’s 
through Syndicate 1221. The Lloyd’s Operations includes NUAL, a 
Lloyd’s underwriting agency which manages Syndicate 1221.

Navigators Management Company, Inc. (“NMC”) is a wholly- owned 
underwriting management company that produces, manages and 
underwrites insurance and reinsurance, and provides corporate ser-
vices for the Company. The operating results for NMC are allocated to 
both the Insurance Companies and Lloyd’s Operations as appropriate.

The Insurance Companies’ and the Lloyd’s Operations’ underwriting 
results are measured based on underwriting profit or loss and the related 
combined ratio, which are both non- GAAP measures of underwriting 
profitability. Underwriting profit or loss is calculated from net earned 
premiums, less the sum of net losses and LAE, commission expenses, 
other operating expenses and other income (expense). The combined 
ratio is derived by dividing the sum of net losses and LAE, commission 
expenses, other operating expenses and other income (expense) by 
net earned premiums. A combined ratio of less than 100% indicates an 
underwriting profit and greater than 100% indicates an underwriting loss.

Financial data by segment for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Insurance 
Companies

Lloyd’s 
Operations Corporate(1) Total

In thousands

Gross written premiums  $ 1,002,275  $ 368,242  $ –  $ 1,370,517
Net written premiums   680,008   207,914   –   887,922
Net earned premiums   639,338   202,601   –   841,939
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses   (415,413)   (103,548)   –   (518,961)
Commission expenses   (81,132)   (34,710)   2,348   (113,494)
Other operating expenses   (119,920)   (44,514)   –   (164,434)
Other income (expense)   2,764   (1,588)   (2,348)   (1,172)

Underwriting profit (loss)  $ 25,637  $ 18,241  $ –  $ 43,878
Net investment income   49,083   7,160   8   56,251
Net realized gains (losses)   20,600   (58)   4   20,546
Call premium on Senior Notes   –   –   (17,895)   (17,895)
Interest expense   –   –   (10,507)   (10,507)

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 95,320  $ 25,343  $ (28,390)  $ 92,273
Income tax expense (benefit)   29,965   8,728   (9,886)   28,807

Net income (loss)  $ 65,355  $ 16,615  $ (18,504)  $ 63,466

Identifiable assets  $ 3,077,437  $ 930,567  $ 161,448  $ 4,169,452

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ratio   65.0%   51.1%   61.6%
Commission expense ratio   12.7%   17.1%   13.5%
Other operating expense ratio(2)   18.3%   22.8%   19.7%

Combined ratio   96.0%   91.0%   94.8%

(1) Includes Corporate segment intercompany eliminations.
(2)  Includes Other operating expenses and Other income.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012

Insurance 
Companies

Lloyd’s 
Operations Corporate(1) Total

In thousands

Gross written premiums  $ 921,325  $ 365,140  $ –  $ 1,286,465
Net written premiums   622,956   210,699   –   833,655
Net earned premiums   571,439   210,525   –   781,964
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses   (417,082)   (80,351)   –   (497,433)
Commission expenses   (81,370)   (42,449)   2,349   (121,470)
Other operating expenses   (113,625)   (45,454)   –   (159,079)
Other income (expense)   3,790   47   (2,349)   1,488

Underwriting profit (loss)  $ (36,848)  $ 42,318  $ –  $ 5,470
Net investment income   46,549   7,551   148   54,248
Net realized gains (losses)   36,468   3,555   193   40,216
Interest expense   –   –   (8,198)   (8,198)

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 46,169  $ 53,424  $ (7,857)  $ 91,736
Income tax expense (benefit)   12,686   18,620   (3,332)   27,974

Net income (loss)  $ 33,483  $ 34,804  $ (4,525)  $ 63,762

Identifiable assets  $ 3,036,489  $ 928,448  $ 42,733  $ 4,007,670

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ratio   73.0%   38.2%   63.6%
Commission expense ratio   14.2%   20.2%   15.5%
Other operating expense ratio(2)   19.2%   21.5%   20.2%

Combined ratio   106.4%   79.9%   99.3%

(1) Includes Corporate segment intercompany eliminations.
(2)  Includes Other operating expenses and Other income.
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Year Ended December 31, 2011

Insurance 
Companies

Lloyd’s 
Operations Corporate(1) Total

In thousands

Gross written premiums  $ 788,419  $ 319,797  $ –  $ 1,108,216
Net written premiums   542,391   211,407   –   753,798
Net earned premiums   472,463   219,182   –   691,645
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses   (341,625)   (135,372)   –   (476,997)
Commission expenses   (64,165)   (48,341)   2,069   (110,437)
Other operating expenses   (101,517)   (36,512)   –   (138,029)
Other income (expense)   3,955   (657)   (2,069)   1,229

Underwriting profit (loss)  $ (30,889)  $ (1,700)  $ –  $ (32,589)
Net investment income   54,164   8,955   381   63,500
Net realized gains (losses)   12,151   (2,354)   214   10,011
Interest expense   –   –   (8,188)   (8,188)

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ 35,426  $ 4,901  $ (7,593)  $ 32,734
Income tax expense (benefit)   8,271   1,523   (2,657)   7,137

Net income (loss)  $ 27,155  $ 3,378  $ (4,936)  $ 25,597

Identifiable assets  $ 2,768,930  $ 865,230  $ 35,847  $ 3,670,007

Losses and loss adjustment expenses ratio   72.3%   61.8%   69.0%
Commission expense ratio   13.6%   22.1%   16.0%
Other operating expense ratio(2)   20.6%   16.9%   19.7%

Combined ratio   106.5%   100.8%   104.7%

(1) Includes Corporate segment intercompany eliminations.
(2) Includes Other operating expenses and Other income.
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The following tables provide additional financial data by segment for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Insurance 
Companies

Lloyd’s 
Operations Total

In thousands

Gross written premiums:
Marine  $ 171,822  $ 181,046  $ 352,868
Property casualty   700,087   129,522   829,609
Professional liability   130,366   57,674   188,040

Total  $ 1,002,275  $ 368,242  $ 1,370,517

Net written premiums:
Marine  $ 119,837  $ 134,627  $ 254,464
Property casualty   462,942   42,334   505,276
Professional liability   97,229   30,953   128,182

Total  $ 680,008  $ 207,914  $ 887,922

Net earned premiums:
Marine  $ 129,276  $ 138,690  $ 267,966
Property casualty   409,480   37,722   447,202
Professional liability   100,582   26,189   126,771

Total  $ 639,338  $ 202,601  $ 841,939

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Insurance 
Companies

Lloyd’s 
Operations Total

In thousands

Gross written premiums:
Marine  $ 200,095  $ 194,423  $ 394,518
Property casualty   590,741   127,028   717,769
Professional liability   130,489   43,689   174,178

Total  $ 921,325  $ 365,140  $ 1,286,465

Net written premiums:
Marine  $ 133,210  $ 143,600  $ 276,810
Property casualty   390,168   43,824   433,992
Professional liability   99,578   23,275   122,853

Total  $ 622,956  $ 210,699  $ 833,655

Net earned premiums:
Marine  $ 142,181  $ 136,898  $ 279,079
Property casualty   332,782   52,951   385,733
Professional liability   96,476   20,676   117,152

Total  $ 571,439  $ 210,525  $ 781,964

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Insurance 
Companies

Lloyd’s 
Operations Total

In thousands

Gross written premiums:
Marine  $ 228,500  $ 167,562  $ 396,062
Property casualty   445,287   115,138   560,425
Professional liability   114,632   37,097   151,729

Total  $ 788,419  $ 319,797  $ 1,108,216

Net written premiums:
Marine  $ 170,642  $ 137,206  $ 307,848
Property casualty   293,758   56,249   350,007
Professional liability   77,991   17,952   95,943

Total  $ 542,391  $ 211,407  $ 753,798

Net earned premiums:
Marine  $ 169,018  $ 145,659  $ 314,677
Property casualty   231,297   55,903   287,200
Professional liability   72,148   17,620   89,768

Total  $ 472,463  $ 219,182  $ 691,645

The Insurance Companies net earned premiums include $44.6 million, 
$63.9 million and $88.3 million of net earned premiums from the U.K. 
Branch for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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NOTE 4. 
INVESTMENTS
The following tables set forth the Company’s cash and investments as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The tables below include OTTI securi-
ties recognized within AOCI.

December 31, 2013

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 441,685  $ 2,854  $ (8,855)  $ 447,686
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   460,422   9,298   (13,651)   464,775
Mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities:

Agency mortgage- backed securities   301,274   6,779   (6,016)   300,511
Residential mortgage obligations   41,755   1,212   (161)   40,704
Asset- backed securities   125,133   653   (480)   124,960
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   172,750   7,656   (374)   165,468

Subtotal  $ 640,912  $ 16,300  $ (7,031)  $ 631,643
Corporate bonds   504,854   15,402   (3,443)   492,895

Total fixed maturities  $ 2,047,873  $ 43,854  $ (32,980)  $ 2,036,999
Equity securities —  common stocks   143,954   25,700   (550)   118,804
Short- term investments   296,250   –   –   296,250
Cash   86,509   –   –   86,509

Total  $ 2,574,586  $ 69,554  $ (33,530)  $ 2,538,562

December 31, 2012

Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 649,692  $ 8,654  $ (36)  $ 641,074
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   322,947   18,712   (380)   304,615
Mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities:

Agency mortgage- backed securities   384,445   13,652   (204)   370,997
Residential mortgage obligations   38,692   1,053   (549)   38,188
Asset- backed securities   50,382   1,133   (49)   49,298
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   204,821   17,996   (18)   186,843

Subtotal  $ 678,340  $ 33,834  $ (820)  $ 645,326
Corporate bonds   470,854   27,129   (25)   443,750

Total fixed maturities  $ 2,121,833  $ 88,329  $ (1,261)  $ 2,034,765
Equity securities —  common stocks   101,297   16,919   (626)   85,004
Short- term investments   153,788   –   –   153,788
Cash   45,336   –   –   45,336

Total  $ 2,422,254  $ 105,248  $ (1,887)  $ 2,318,893
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As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, debt securities for which non- credit 
OTTI was previously recognized and included in other comprehensive 
income are now in an unrealized gains position of $0.5  million and 
$20 thousand, respectively.

The fair value of the Company’s investment portfolio may fluctuate 
significantly in response to various factors such as changes in interest 
rates, investment quality ratings, equity prices, foreign exchange rates 
and credit spreads. The Company does not have the intent to sell nor is 
it more likely than not that it will have to sell debt securities in unreal-
ized loss positions that are not other- than-temporarily impaired before 
recovery. For structured securities, default probability and severity 
assumptions differ based on property type, vintage and the stress of 
the collateral. We do not intend to sell any of these securities and it is 
more likely than not that we will not be required to sell these securities 
before the recovery of the amortized cost basis. For equity securities, 
the Company also considers its intent to hold securities as part of 
the process of evaluating whether a decline in fair value represents 
an other- than-temporary decline in value. The Company may realize 
investment losses to the extent its liquidity needs require the disposi-
tion of fixed maturity securities in unfavorable interest rate, liquidity 
or credit spread environments. Significant changes in the factors the 
Company considers when evaluating investments for impairment losses 
could result in a significant change in impairment losses reported in 
the consolidated financial statements.

The contractual maturity dates for fixed maturity securities categorized 
by the number of years until maturity as of December  31, 2013 are 
shown in the following table:

December 31, 2013

Fair Value
Amortized 

Cost

In thousands

Due in one year or less  $ 85,240  $ 84,691
Due after one year through five years   627,515   615,267
Due after five years through ten years   443,197   446,918
Due after ten years   251,009   258,480
Mortgage- and asset- backed 

securities   640,912   631,643

Total  $ 2,047,873  $ 2,036,999

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because 
issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without 
call or prepayment penalties. Due to the periodic repayment of princi-
pal, the mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities are estimated 
to have an effective maturity of approximately 4.5 years.

The following table shows the amount and percentage of the Company’s 
fixed maturities as of December 31, 2013 by Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 
credit rating or, if an S&P rating is not available, the equivalent Moody’s 
Investor Services (“Moody’s”) rating. The table includes fixed maturities 
at fair value, and the total rating is the weighted average quality rating.

December 31, 2013

Rating Fair Value
Percent of 

Total

In thousands

Rating description:
Extremely strong AAA  $ 348,908 17%
Very strong AA   1,047,155 51%
Strong A   452,455 22%
Adequate BBB   184,302 9%
Speculative BB & Below   11,500 1%
Not rated NR   3,553 0%

Total AA  $ 2,047,873 100%
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The following table summarizes all securities in a gross unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, showing the aggregate fair 
value and gross unrealized loss by the length of time those securities had continuously been in a gross unrealized loss position as well as the 
relevant number of securities.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Number of 
Securities Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Loss
Number of 
Securities Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Loss

In thousands, except # of securities

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds, and foreign 

government bonds
0–6 months   27  $ 136,360  $ 1,096   8  $ 23,760  $ 22
7–12 months   26   149,370   7,759   3   14,118   11
> 12 months   –   –   –   1   4,652   3

Subtotal   53  $ 285,730  $ 8,855   12  $ 42,530  $ 36

States, municipalities and political subdivisions
0–6 months   28  $ 40,132  $ 297   10  $ 21,299  $ 325
7–12 months   104   205,152   12,100   –   –   –
> 12 months   6   12,357   1,254   4   2,908   55

Subtotal   138  $ 257,641  $ 13,651   14  $ 24,207  $ 380

Agency mortgage– backed securities
0–6 months   39  $ 39,458  $ 434   10  $ 62,516  $ 174
7–12 months   64   77,860   3,768   2   1,671   30
> 12 months   9   22,784   1,814   –   –   –

Subtotal   112  $ 140,102  $ 6,016   12  $ 64,187  $ 204

Residential mortgage obligations
0–6 months   3  $ 431  $ 2   6  $ 1,825  $ 22
7–12 months   7   950   29   –   –   –
> 12 months   15   2,467   130   35   7,252   527

Subtotal   25  $ 3,848  $ 161   41  $ 9,077  $ 549

Asset– backed securities
0–6 months   14  $ 75,887  $ 479   –  $ –  $ –
7–12 months   1   203   1   –   –   –
> 12 months   –   –   –   2   2,369   49

Subtotal   15  $ 76,090  $ 480   2  $ 2,369  $ 49

Commercial mortgage– backed securities
0–6 months   4  $ 6,712  $ 31   7  $ 2,639  $ 7
7–12 months   2   15,098   322   –   –   –
> 12 months   4   774   21   5   845   11

Subtotal   10  $ 22,584  $ 374   12  $ 3,484  $ 18

Corporate bonds
0–6 months   34  $ 93,591  $ 717   2  $ 3,528  $ 6
7–12 months   18   55,021   2,726   –   –   –
> 12 months   –   –   –   4   6,689   19

Subtotal   52  $ 148,612  $ 3,443   6  $ 10,217  $ 25

Total fixed maturities   405  $ 934,607  $ 32,980   99  $ 156,071  $ 1,261

Equity securities —  common stocks
0–6 months   5  $ 7,387  $ 422   13  $ 23,345  $ 522
7–12 months   2   3,538   128   1   1,943   104
> 12 months   –   –   –   –   –   –

Total equity securities   7  $ 10,925  $ 550   14  $ 25,288  $ 626
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As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the largest unrealized loss by a non- 
government backed issuer in the investment portfolio was $1.1 million 
and $0.2 million, respectively.

The company analyzes impaired securities quarterly to determine 
if any are other- than-temporary. The above securities with unrealized 
losses have been determined to be temporarily impaired based on 
our evaluation.

For debt securities, when assessing whether the amortized cost 
basis of the security will be recovered, the Company compares the 
present value of cash flows expected to be collected in relation to the 
current book value. Any shortfalls of the present value of the cash flows 
expected to be collected to the amortized cost basis is considered the 
credit loss portion of OTTI losses and is recognized in earnings. All 
non- credit losses are recognized as changes in OTTI losses within OCI.

To determine whether the unrealized loss on structured securities is 
other- than-temporary, the Company analyzes the projections provided 
by its investment managers with respect to an expected principal loss 
under a range of scenarios and utilizes the most likely outcomes. The 
analysis relies on actual collateral performance measures such as 
default rate, prepayment rate and loss severity. These assumptions 
are applied throughout the remaining term of the deal, incorporating 
the transaction structure and priority of payments, to generate loss 
adjusted cash flows. Results of the analysis will indicate whether the 
security is expected ultimately to incur a loss or whether there is a mate-
rial impact on yield due to either a projected loss or a change in cash 
flow timing. A break even default rate is also calculated. A comparison 
of the break even default rate to the actual default rate provides an indi-
cation of the level of cushion or coverage to the first dollar principal loss. 
The analysis applies the stated assumptions throughout the remaining 
term of the transaction to forecast cash flows, which are then applied 
through the transaction structure to determine whether there is a loss 
to the security. For securities in which a tranche loss is present, and the 
net present value of loss adjusted cash flows is less than book value, 
impairment is recognized. The output data also includes a number of 

additional metrics such as average life remaining, original and current 
credit support, over 60 day delinquency and security rating.

The significant inputs used to measure the amount of credit loss 
recognized in earnings were actual delinquency rates, default probabil-
ity assumptions, severity assumptions and prepayment assumptions. 
Projected losses are a function of both loss severity and probability of 
default. Default probability and severity assumptions differ based on 
property type, vintage and the stress of the collateral. The Company 
does not intend to sell any of these securities and it is more likely than 
not that it will not be required to sell these securities before the recovery 
of the amortized cost basis.

For equity securities, in general, the Company focuses its attention 
on those securities with a fair value less than 80% of their cost for six 
or more consecutive months. If warranted as the result of conditions 
relating to a particular security, the Company will focus on a significant 
decline in fair value regardless of the time period involved. Factors 
considered in evaluating potential impairment include, but are not lim-
ited to, the current fair value as compared to cost of the security, the 
length of time the investment has been below cost and by how much 
the investment is below cost. If an equity security is deemed to be 
other- than-temporarily impaired, the cost is written down to fair value 
with the loss recognized in earnings.

The Company’s ability to hold securities is supported by sufficient 
cash flow from its operations and from maturities within its investment 
portfolio in order to meet its claims payment and other disbursement 
obligations arising from its underwriting operations without selling 
such investments. With respect to securities where the decline in 
value is determined to be temporary and the security’s value is not 
written down, a subsequent decision may be made to sell that security 
and realize a loss. Subsequent decisions on security sales are made 
within the context of overall risk monitoring, changing information and 
market conditions.

As of December 31, 2013, there were no securities with a fair value 
that was less than 80% of amortized cost.
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The table below summarizes the Company’s activity related to OTTI losses for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Number of 
Securities Amount

Number of 
Securities Amount

Number of 
Securities Amount

In thousands, except # of securities

Total OTTI losses:
Corporate and other bonds   1  $ 1,822   –  $ –   1  $ 109
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   –   –   –   –   –
Residential mortgage- backed securities   –   –   1   55   19   2,616
Asset- backed securities   –   –   –   –   –   –
Equities   3   571   3   847   2   892

Total   4  $ 2,393   4  $ 902   22  $ 3,617

Less: Portion of loss in accumulated other 
Comprehensive income (loss):
Corporate and other bonds  $ –  $ –  $ –
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   –   –
Residential mortgage- backed securities   –   44   1,632
Asset- backed securities   –   –   –
Equities   –   –   –

Total  $ –  $ 44  $ 1,632

Impairment losses recognized in earnings:
Corporate and other bonds  $ 1,822  $ –  $ 109
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   –   –
Residential mortgage- backed securities   –   11   984
Asset- backed securities   –   –   –
Equities   571   847   892

Total  $ 2,393  $ 858  $ 1,985

The following table summarizes the cumulative amounts related to the Company’s credit loss portion of the OTTI losses on debt securities for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The Company does not intend to sell and it is more likely than not that it will not be required 
to sell, the securities prior to recovery of the amortized cost basis for which the non- credit loss portion is included in OCI.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Beginning balance  $ 3,332  $ 3,321  $ 2,228
Additions for credit loss impairments recognized in the current period on securities 

not previously impaired   1,822   –   109
Additions for credit loss impairments recognized in the current period on securities 

previously impaired   –   11   984
Reductions for credit loss impairments previously recognized on securities sold 

during the period   –   –   –

Ending balance  $ 5,154  $ 3,332  $ 3,321
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The contractual maturity dates for fixed maturity securities categorized by the number of years until maturity, with a gross unrealized loss as of 
December 31, 2013 is presented in the following table:

December 31, 2013

Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value

Amount
Percent of 

Total Amount
Percent of 

Total

In thousands

Due in one year or less  $ 1   0%  $ 7,687   1%
Due after one year through five years   2,152   7%   242,879   26%
Due after five years through ten years   13,585   41%   262,989   28%
Due after ten years   10,211   31%   178,428   19%
Mortgage- and asset- backed securities   7,031   21%   242,624   26%

Total  $ 32,980   100%  $ 934,607   100%

The Company’s net investment income was derived from the follow-
ing sources:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Fixed maturities  $ 53,898  $ 58,995  $ 65,060
Equity securities   4,835   3,945   5,071
Short- term investments   774   1,694   964

Total investment income   59,507   64,634   71,095
Investment expenses   (3,256)   (10,386)   (7,595)

Net investment income  $ 56,251  $ 54,248  $ 63,500

Investment expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
include $4.5 million and $4.7 million, respectively, for a total of $9.2 mil-
lion, of interest expense related to the settlement of a dispute with 
Equitas over foregone interest on amounts that were due on certain 
reinsurance contracts. In the dispute Equitas alleged that we failed to 
make timely payments to them under certain reinsurance agreements in 
connection with subrogation recoveries received by the Company with 
respect to several catastrophe losses that occurred in the late 1980’s 
and early 1990’s. In addition, investment expenses for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 includes a $2.8 million investment performance fee.

The change in net unrealized gains and losses, inclusive of the change 
in the non- credit portion of OTTI losses, consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Fixed maturities  $ (76,194)  $ 15,709  $ 44,712
Equity securities   8,857   (5,989)   (183)

Gross unrealized gains (losses)   (67,337)   9,720   44,529
Deferred income tax   (23,565)   3,418   15,143

Change in net unrealized gains 
(losses), net  $ (43,772)  $ 6,302  $ 29,386

Realized gains and losses, excluding net OTTI losses recognized in 
earnings, for the periods indicated were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
Gains  $ 8,539  $ 28,789  $ 11,678
Losses   (2,797)   (1,915)   (7,044)

Fixed maturities, net  $ 5,742  $ 26,874  $ 4,634
Equity securities:

Gains  $ 17,955  $ 14,673  $ 9,319

Losses   (758)   (473)   (1,957)

Equity securities, net  $ 17,197  $ 14,200  $ 7,362

Net realized gains (losses)  $ 22,939  $ 41,074  $ 11,996
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The following tables present, for each of the fair value hierarchy levels as defined by the accounting guidance for fair value measurements and 
described below, the Company’s fixed maturities and equity securities by asset class that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 242,379  $ 199,306  $ –  $ 441,685
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   –   460,422   –   460,422
Mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities:

Agency mortgage- backed securities   –   301,274   –   301,274
Residential mortgage obligations   –   41,755   –   41,755
Asset- backed securities   –   125,133   –   125,133
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   –   172,750   –   172,750

Subtotal  $ –  $ 640,912  $ –  $ 640,912
Corporate bonds   –   500,447   4,407   504,854

Total fixed maturities  $ 242,379  $ 1,801,087  $ 4,407  $ 2,047,873
Equity securities —  common stocks   143,954   –   –   143,954

Total  $ 386,333  $ 1,801,087  $ 4,407  $ 2,191,827

December 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

In thousands

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 414,502  $ 235,190  $ –  $ 649,692
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   –   322,947   –   322,947
Mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities:

Agency mortgage-backed securities   –   384,445   –   384,445
Residential mortgage obligations   –   38,692   –   38,692
Asset-backed securities   –   50,382   –   50,382
Commercial mortgage-backed securities   –   204,821   –   204,821

Subtotal  $ –  $ 678,340  $ –  $ 678,340
Corporate bonds   –   470,854   –   470,854

Total fixed maturities  $ 414,502  $ 1,707,331  $ –  $ 2,121,833
Equity securities — common stocks   101,297   –   –   101,297

Total  $ 515,799  $ 1,707,331  $ –  $ 2,223,130

The fair value of financial instruments is determined based on the fol-
lowing fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. 
Examples are listed equity and fixed income securities traded on an 
exchange. U.S. Treasury securities are reported as level 1 and are 
valued based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets in active 
markets that the Company can access.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; 
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not 
active; and model- derived valuations in which all significant inputs and 

significant value drivers are observable in active markets. Examples are 
asset- backed and mortgage- backed securities that are similar to other 
asset- backed or mortgage- backed securities observed in the market. 
U.S. government agency securities are reported as level 2 and are 
valued using yields and spreads that are observable in active markets.

Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one 
or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable. 
An example would be a private placement with minimal liquidity.

The Company did not have any significant transfers between Level 1 
and 2 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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The following tables present a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for all investments measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs 
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2011. As of December 31, 2012, the Company did not have any Level 3 assets.

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Beginning 
Balance

Realized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses) Purchases Sales Settlements

Transfers 
into 

Level 3

Transfers 
out of 

Level 3
Ending 

Balance

In thousands

Assets:
Corporate Bond  $ –  $ –  $ (42)  $ 4,660  $ (211)  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ 4,407

Total assets  $ –  $ –  $ (42)  $ 4,660  $ (211)  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ 4,407

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Beginning 
Balance

Realized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses) Purchases Sales Settlements

Transfers 
into 

Level 3

Transfers 
out of 

Level 3
Ending 

Balance

In thousands

Assets:
Commercial Mortgage 

Obligations  $ 1,837  $ –  $ 94  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ (1,931)  $ –

Total assets  $ 1,837  $ –  $ 94  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ (1,931)  $ –

The Level  3 security is valued using unobservable inputs based on 
a proxy of a security of similar duration in which market quotations 
are available.

As of December  31, 2013 and 2012, the Company’s restricted 
net assets in support of the underwriting activities of the Insurance 
Companies and Lloyd’s Operations were $520.9 and $519.2 million, 
respectively, consisting of fixed maturities, short term investments and 
cash. Refer to Note 13, Dividends and Statutory Financial Information, 
for additional information on the nature and type of restricted net assets.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not have a 
concentration of greater than 5% of invested assets in a single non- U.S. 
government- backed issuer.
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NOTE 5. 
RESERVES FOR LOSSES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSES
Insurance companies and Lloyd’s syndicates are required to maintain 
reserves for unpaid losses and unpaid loss adjustment expenses for all 
lines of business. These reserves are intended to cover the probable 
ultimate cost of settling all losses incurred and unpaid, including those 
incurred but not reported. The determination of reserves for losses and 
LAE for insurance companies such as Navigators Insurance Company 
and Navigators Specialty Insurance Company, and Lloyd’s corporate 
members such as Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd. is dependent 
upon the receipt of information from the agents and brokers which pro-
duce the insurance business for us. Generally, there is a lag between 
the time premiums are written and related losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses are incurred, and the time such events are reported 
to the agents and brokers and, subsequently, to Navigators Insurance 
Company, Navigators Specialty Insurance Company, Navigators 
Corporate Underwriters Ltd.

Case reserves are established by our Insurance Companies and 
Syndicate 1221 for reported claims when notice of the claim is first 
received. Reserves for such reported claims are established on a 
case- by-case basis by evaluating several factors, including the type of 
risk involved, knowledge of the circumstances surrounding such claim, 
severity of injury or damage, the potential for ultimate exposure, experi-
ence with the line of business, and the policy provisions relating to the 
type of claim. Reserves for IBNR are determined in part on the basis 
of statistical information, in part on industry experience and in part on 
the judgment of our senior corporate officers. Indicated reserves are 
calculated by our actuaries using several standard actuarial methodolo-
gies, including the paid and incurred loss development and the paid 
and incurred Bornheutter- Ferguson loss methods. Additional analyses, 
such as frequency/severity analyses, are performed for certain books 
of business.

Total loss reserves are estimates of what the insurer or reinsurer 
expects to pay on claims, based on facts and circumstances then 
known. It is possible that the ultimate liability may exceed or be less 

than such estimates. In setting our loss reserve estimates, we review 
statistical data covering several years, analyze patterns by line of 
business and consider several factors including trends in claims fre-
quency and severity, changes in operations, emerging economic and 
social trends, inflation and changes in the regulatory and litigation 
environment. Using the aforementioned actuarial methods and differ-
ent underlying assumptions, our actuaries produce a number of point 
estimates for each class of business. After reviewing the appropriate-
ness of the underlying assumptions, management selects the carried 
reserve for each class of business. We do not calculate a range of loss 
reserve estimates. We believe that ranges may not be a true reflection 
of the potential volatility between carried loss reserves and the ulti-
mate settlement amount of losses incurred prior to the balance sheet 
date. The numerous factors that contribute to the inherent uncertainty 
in the process of establishing loss reserves include: interpreting loss 
development activity, emerging economic and social trends, inflation, 
changes in the regulatory and judicial environment and changes in our 
operations, including changes in underwriting standards and claims 
handling procedures. During the loss settlement period, which, in some 
cases, may last several years, additional facts regarding individual 
claims may become known and, accordingly, it often becomes neces-
sary to refine and adjust the estimates of liability on a claim upward or 
downward. Such estimates are regularly reviewed and updated and any 
resulting adjustments are included in the current year’s income state-
ment. Even then, the ultimate liability may exceed or be less than the 
revised estimates. The reserving process is intended to provide implicit 
recognition of the impact of inflation and other factors affecting loss 
payments by taking into account changes in historical payment patterns 
and perceived probable trends. There is generally no precise method 
for the subsequent evaluation of the adequacy of the consideration 
given to inflation, or to any other specific factor, because the eventual 
deficiency or redundancy of reserves is affected by many factors, some 
of which are interdependent. To the extent that reserves are deficient 
or redundant, the amount of such deficiency or redundancy is treated 
as a charge or credit to earnings in the period in which the deficiency 
or redundancy is recognized.

The following table summarizes the Company’s reserves for losses and LAE activity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Net reserves for losses and LAE at beginning of year  $ 1,216,909  $ 1,237,234  $ 1,142,542
Provision for losses and LAE for claims occurring in the current year   520,227   542,724   474,852
Increase (decrease) in estimated losses and LAE for claims occurring in prior years   (1,266)   (45,291)   2,145

Incurred losses and LAE   518,961   497,433   476,997
Losses and LAE paid for claims occurring during:

Current year   (147,758)   (110,373)   (73,242)
Prior years   (365,479)   (407,385)   (309,063)

Losses and LAE payments   (513,237)   (517,758)   (382,305)

Net reserves for losses and LAE at end of year   1,222,633   1,216,909   1,237,234
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses and LAE   822,438   880,139   845,445

Gross reserves for losses and LAE at end of year  $ 2,045,071  $ 2,097,048  $ 2,082,679
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The segment and line of business breakdowns of prior period net 
reserve deficiencies (redundancies) for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Insurance Companies:
Marine  $ (15,227)  $ (10,010)  $ 1,348
Property Casualty   18,466   4,293   (6,828)
Professional Liability   10,191   7,613   17,582

Insurance Companies  $ 13,430  $ 1,896  $ 12,102
Lloyd’s Operations:

Marine  $ (2,998)  $ (30,735)  $ (10,311)
Property Casualty   (14,574)   (6,890)   (5,434)
Professional Liability   2,876   (9,562)   5,788

Lloyd’s Operations  $ (14,696)  $ (47,187)  $ (9,957)

Total deficiencies 
(redundancies)  $ (1,266)  $ (45,291)  $ 2,145

The following is a discussion of relevant factors related to the $1.3 mil-
lion prior period net reserve releases recorded for the year ended 
December 31, 2013:

The Insurance Companies recorded $13.4 million of net strengthen-
ing primarily driven by our Property Casualty and Professional Liability 
businesses. Within the Property Casualty business, we reported net 
prior period reserve strengthening of $18.5  million, which includes 
$13.2  million of net strengthening from our Assumed Reinsurance 
division mostly attributable to our excess- of-loss A&H treaty business 
in connection with UYs 2012 and 2011, $10.4 million of strengthening 
from our Primary Casualty business related to our general liability 
coverage for general and artisan contractors, and a total of $2.1 million 
of strengthening for business in run- off. The aforementioned net prior 
period reserve strengthening was partially offset by $8.0 million of net 
prior period reserve releases from our Energy & Engineering division 
in connection with favorable emergence on our offshore energy lines 
written by our UK Branch.

Our Insurance Companies Professional Liability business reported 
net prior period reserve strengthening of $10.2 million largely attribut-
able to $6.1 million reserve strengthening from our D&O division related 
to specific large claims for UYs 2010 and prior, and $4.4 million reserve 
strengthening from our E&O division related to specific large claims 
from our insurance agents, miscellaneous professional liability, and 
small lawyer lines from UYs 2011 and prior.

The aforementioned net prior period reserve strengthening from 
our Insurance Companies Property Casualty and Professional Liability 
were partially offset by $15.2 million of net reserve releases from our 
Insurance Companies Marine business in connection with favorable 
emergence from our Marine liability lines for UYs 2012 and prior.

Our Lloyd’s Operations recorded $14.7  million of net reserve 
releases driven by our Property Casualty and Marine businesses par-
tially offset by strengthening in our Professional Liability business. 
Within our Lloyd’s Property Casualty business we reported net prior 
period reserve releases of $14.6 million primarily from our Energy & 
Engineering division. Within our Lloyd’s Marine business we reported 
prior period reserve releases of $3.0 million driven by our marine liability 

business. Within our Lloyd’s Professional Liability business we reported 
strengthening of $2.9 million, inclusive of $6.1 million of strengthening 
in our Lloyd’s E&O business partially offset by $3.2 million of favorable 
emergence from our Lloyd’s D&O business.

The following is a discussion of relevant factors related to the 
$45.3 million prior period net reserve releases recorded for the year 
ended December 31, 2012:

The Insurance Companies recorded $1.9 million net strengthening. 
The Marine business had $10.0 million of net reserve releases, which 
were primarily driven by:

• an IBNR adjustment of 4.0 million to reflect the actual emergence of 
claims for underwriting year “(UY)” 2010, which was more favorable 
than the expected emergence;

• case reserve releases of $3.4 million due to the favorable settlement 
of several large losses; and

• a favorable IBNR adjustment of $2.6 million attributable to changes 
in our assumptions for salvage and subrogation from our short tail 
marine lines that was based on our observation of a consistent and 
persistent historical pattern of favorable savings attributable to 
salvage and subrogation.

The Marine reserve releases were partially offset by net strengthening 
of $7.6 million from the small lawyer and accountants lines within our 
Professional Liability business. This strengthening was primarily driven 
by several large losses that caused the actual claims emergence for 
these lines to exceed the expected losses. We also incurred net reserve 
strengthening of $4.3 million within our Property Casualty segment, 
which were primarily attributable to two large hemophiliac claims from 
UY 2011 arising from our A&H business.

Our Lloyd’s Operations recorded $47.2 million of net prior period 
reserve releases across all businesses and divisions. In connection 
with the Company’s implementation of the Solvency II technical provi-
sions in its Lloyd’s operation, the Company’s actuaries undertook a 
comprehensive review during 2012 of the historical claims emergence 
patterns for all lines of business underwritten through Syndicate 1221. 
As a result of this review, the Company updated the loss emergence 
patterns used to project ultimate losses for all such lines of business, 
aligning these loss emergence factors with the historical median. This 
caused a reduction in ultimate loss estimates for all Lloyd’s segments 
other than certain lines of business in Property Casualty segment, 
which increased. The Lloyd’s Operations also experienced significant 
reserve redundancies in several large claims. The amount of reserve 
redundancies attributable to these settlements was $5.0 million, con-
sisting of $4.1 million from the Lloyd’s Marine business and $0.9 million 
from Lloyd’s Professional Liability business. A summary of the result-
ing prior period redundancies for each business within our Lloyd’s 
Operations by prior UY is set forth below:

Marine
Property 
Casualty

Professional 
Liability Total

In thousands

2010  $ 3,492  $ 378  $ 1,157  $ 5,027
2009   14,792   4,170   6,072   25,034
2008 and Prior   12,451   2,342   2,333   17,126

Total Redundancy  $ 30,735  $ 6,890  $ 9,562  $ 47,187
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The following is a discussion of relevant factors impacting our $2.1 mil-
lion net reserve deficiencies for the year ended December 31, 2011:

The adverse development of $1.3  million for our Insurance 
Companies Marine business was driven by $4.0 million of unfavorable 
loss emergence in Inland Marine in accident years 2009 and 2010 which 
was offset by $2.7 million favorable development in Ocean Marine. The 
Ocean Marine development was driven by $5.8  million of favorable 
development in accident years 2008 to 2010 and was partially offset 
by $3.2 million of adverse development for accident years 2007 and 
prior. Ocean Marine’s favorable development was driven by the Craft, 
protection and indemnity, and Transport classes with partial offsets 
from the Specie and Liability classes.

Our Insurance Companies Property Casualty business experienced 
$6.8 million of favorable development overall which was driven by favor-
able development of $8.4 million from Offshore Energy across several 
accident years and was partially offset by adverse development from 
runoff Liquor Liability in accident years 2008 and 2009.

Our Insurance Companies Professional Liability business had over-
all adverse development of $17.6 million, which consisted of adverse 
development of $14.5 million and $3.1 million from Management Liability 
and Errors and Omissions, respectively. The Management Liability 
development was primarily driven by coverage of Public companies for 
accident years 2009 and 2010. The Errors and Omissions development 
was driven by Small Lawyer Professional Liability and Miscellaneous 
Professional Liability classes for accident year 2010.

Our Lloyd’s operations experienced $10.0 million of favorable devel-
opment. This was driven by favorable development of $10.3 million and 
$5.5 million from the Marine and Nav Tech divisions respectively, which 
was partially offset by $5.8 million of unfavorable development from 
Professional Liability. The favorable development in Marine was primar-
ily from the Cargo, Liability and Specie classes for accident years 2008 
and prior. The favorable development in Nav Tech was from Offshore 
Energy primarily in accident years 2007 to 2009. The adverse develop-
ment in Professional Liability was mostly from Errors and Omissions in 
accident years 2006 to 2008.

Management believes that the reserves for losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses are adequate to cover the ultimate cost of losses and 
loss adjustment expenses on reported and unreported claims. We 
continue to review our reserves on a regular basis.

NOTE 6. 
REINSUR ANCE
We utilize reinsurance principally to reduce our exposure on individual 
risks, to protect against catastrophic losses, and to stabilize loss ratios 
and underwriting results. Although reinsurance makes the reinsurer 
liable to us to the extent the risk is transferred or ceded to the rein-
surer, ceded reinsurance arrangements do not eliminate our obligation 
to pay claims to our policyholders. Accordingly, we bear credit risk 
with respect to our reinsurers. Specifically, our reinsurers may not pay 
claims made by us on a timely basis, or they may not pay some or all 
of these claims. Either of these events would increase our costs and 
could have a material adverse effect on our business. We are required 
to pay the losses even if the reinsurer fails to meet its obligations under 
the reinsurance agreement.

We have established a reserve for uncollectible reinsurance in the 
amount of $11.3 million and $11.5 million as of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively, which was determined by considering reinsurer 
specific default risk as indicated by their financial strength ratings. 
Actual uncollectible reinsurance could potentially exceed our estimate.

We are protected by various treaty and facultative reinsurance 
agreements. Our exposure to credit risk from any one reinsurer is man-
aged through diversification by reinsuring with a number of different 
reinsurers, principally in the United States and European reinsurance 
markets. To meet our standards of acceptability, when the reinsurance 
is placed, a reinsurer generally must have a rating from A.M. Best 
Company (“A.M. Best”) and/or S&P of “A” or better, or an equivalent 
financial strength if not rated, plus at least $500 million in policyhold-
ers’ surplus. Our Reinsurance Security Committee, which is part of 
our Enterprise Risk Management Finance and Credit Sub- Committee, 
monitors the financial strength of our reinsurers and the related rein-
surance receivables and periodically reviews the list of acceptable 
reinsurers. The reinsurance is placed either directly by us or through 
reinsurance intermediaries. The reinsurance intermediaries are com-
pensated by the reinsurers.

The credit quality distribution of the Company’s reinsurance 
recoverables of $1.1 billion as of December 31, 2013 for ceded paid 
and unpaid losses and LAE and ceded unearned premiums based on 
insurer financial strength ratings from A.M. Best or S&P were as follows:

Rating
Carrying 

Value(2)

Percent  
of Total(3)

In thousands

A.M. Best Rating description(1):
Superior A++, A+  $ 536,325   49%
Excellent A, A-   525,314   47%
Very good B++, B+   12,295   1%
Fair B, B-   23,283   2%
Not rated NR   11,427   1%

Total  $ 1,108,644   100%

(1) Equivalent S&P rating used for certain companies when an A.M. 
Best rating was unavailable.

(2) Net of reserve for uncollectible reinsurance of approximately 
$11.3 million. The carrying value consists of reinsurance 
recoverables on paid losses due within 30–45 days and reinsurance 
on unpaid losses which by nature of our reserving process is our 
best estimate of the value as of December 31, 2013.

(3) The Company holds offsetting collateral of approximately 20.2%, 
including 0.2% for B++, B+ and B companies and 46.7% from non 
rated companies which includes letters of credit, ceded balances 
payable and other balances held by our Insurance Companies and 
our Lloyd’s Operations.

The Company’s ceded earned premiums were $456.0  million, 
$396.6 million and $346.2 million for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company’s ceded incurred losses were $188.7  million, 
$262.6 million and $213.4 million for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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The following table lists the Company’s 20 largest reinsurers measured by the amount of reinsurance recoverable for ceded losses and LAE and 
ceded unearned premium (constituting 76.3% of the total recoverable), together with the reinsurance recoverable and collateral as of December 31, 
2013, and the reinsurers’ ratings from A.M. Best and S&P:

Reinsurance Recoverables

Unearned 
Premium

Paid/
Unpaid 
Losses Total(1)

Collateral 
Held(2)

A.M. 
Best S&P

In thousands

National Indemnity Company  $ 53,145  $ 87,618  $ 140,763  $ 30,785 A++ AA+
Transatlantic Reinsurance Company   21,411   74,069   95,480   8,506 A A+
Everest Reinsurance Company   21,581   68,566   90,147   7,704 A+ A+
Munich Reinsurance America Inc.   5,067   70,233   75,300   4,352 A+ AA-
Swiss Reinsurance America Corporation   5,800   68,157   73,957   9,609 A+ AA-
Lloyd’s Syndicate #2003   8,832   43,167   51,999   10,299 A A+
Allied World Reinsurance   13,859   30,215   44,074   3,971 A A
Partner Reinsurance Europe   10,962   29,692   40,654   17,027 A+ A+
Scor Global P&C SE   11,710   24,623   36,333   9,895 A A+
Tower Insurance Company   –   23,283   23,283   – B NR
Atlantic Specialty Insurance   9,260   13,602   22,862   3,526 A A-
Employers Mutual Casualty Company   10,738   10,796   21,534   9,709 A NR
Validus Reinsurance Ltd.   2,403   17,308   19,711   14,501 A A
Lloyd’s Syndicate #4000   147   19,432   19,579   407 A A+
QBE Reinsurance Corp   7,131   11,292   18,423   1,781 A A+
Ace Property and Casualty Insurance Company   9,862   7,687   17,549   7,342 A+ AA-
Odyssey American Reinsurance Corporation   3,550   11,997   15,547   2,175 A A-
Berkley Insurance Company   1,983   13,439   15,422   485 A+ A+
Ironshore Indemnity Inc.   6,808   7,980   14,788   7,959 A NR
AXIS Re Europe   4,762   9,347   14,109   3,675 A+ A+

Top 20 Reinsurers  $ 209,011  $ 642,503  $ 851,514  $ 153,708
Others   38,811   218,319   257,130   69,769

Total  $ 247,822  $ 860,822  $ 1,108,644  $ 223,477

(1) Net of reserve for uncollectible reinsurance of approximately $11.3 million.
(2) Collateral of $223.5 million consists of $167.3 million in ceded balances payable, $53.4 million in letters of credit, and $2.8 million of other 

balances held by the Company’s Insurance Companies and Lloyd’s Operations.

Approximately 24% of the collateral held consists of letters of credit 
obtained from reinsurers in accordance with New York Insurance 
Regulation Nos. 20 and 133. Regulation 20 requires collateral to be 
held by the ceding company from reinsurers not licensed in New York 
State in order for the ceding company to take credit for the reinsurance 
recoverables on its statutory balance sheet. The specific requirements 
governing the letters of credit are contained in Regulation 133 and 
include a clean and unconditional letter of credit and an “evergreen” 
clause which prevents the expiration of the letter of credit without 
due notice to the Company. Only banks considered qualified by the 
National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) may be 
deemed acceptable issuers of letters. In addition, based on our credit 
assessment of the reinsurer, there are certain instances where we 
require collateral from a reinsurer even if the reinsurer is licensed in 
New York State, generally applying the requirements of Regulation No. 
133. The contractual terms of the letters of credit require that access 
to the collateral is unrestricted. In the event that the counterparty to 
our collateral would be deemed not qualified by the NAIC, the reinsurer 
would be required by agreement to replace such collateral with accept-
able security under the reinsurance agreement. There is no assurance, 
however, that the reinsurer would be able to replace the counterparty 
bank in the event such counterparty bank becomes unqualified and the 
reinsurer experiences significant financial deterioration. Under such 
circumstances, we could incur a substantial loss from uncollectible 

reinsurance from such reinsurer. In November 2010, Regulation No. 20 
was amended to provide the New York Superintendent of Financial 
Services (the “New York Superintendent”) discretion to allow a reduc-
tion in collateral that qualifying reinsurers must post in order for New 
York domestic ceding insurers such as Navigators Insurance Company 
and Navigators Specialty Insurance Company to receive full financial 
statement credit. The “collateral required” percentages range from 
0%–100%, are based upon the New York Superintendent’s evaluation of 
a number of factors, including the reinsurer’s financial strength ratings, 
and apply to contracts entered into, renewed or having an anniversary 
date on or after January 1, 2011. In November 2011, the NAIC adopted 
similar amendments to its Credit for Reinsurance Model Act that would 
apply to certain non- U.S. reinsurers. States will have the option to retain 
a 100% funding requirement if they so choose and it remains to be seen 
whether and when states will amend their credit for reinsurance laws 
and regulations in accordance with such model act.

As of December 31, 2013, the reinsurance recoverables for paid and 
unpaid losses due from reinsurers in connection with all catastrophic 
losses was $46.5  million. Included in this figure is $30.7  million for 
Superstorm Sandy and $3.3  million for the 2008 Hurricanes. As of 
December 31, 2012, the reinsurance recoverables for paid and unpaid 
losses due from reinsurers in connection with all catastrophic losses 
was $88.2 million. Included in this figure is $54.6 million for Superstorm 
Sandy and $15.2 million for the 2008 Hurricanes.
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The following table summarizes written premium:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Direct  $ 1,127,331  $ 1,034,658  $ 929,778
Assumed   243,187   251,807   178,438
Ceded   (482,596)   (452,810)   (354,418)

Net  $ 887,922  $ 833,655  $ 753,798

The following table summarizes earned premium:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Direct  $ 1,069,677  $ 972,844  $ 912,020
Assumed   228,247   205,759   125,797
Ceded   (455,985)   (396,639)   (346,172)

Net  $ 841,939  $ 781,964  $ 691,645

The following table summarizes losses and loss adjustment 
expenses incurred:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Direct  $ 552,381  $ 608,945  $ 608,445
Assumed   155,313   151,137   81,945
Ceded   (188,733)   (262,649)   (213,393)

Net  $ 518,961  $ 497,433  $ 476,997

NOTE 7. 
INCOME TA XES
The Company is subject to the tax laws and regulations of the United 
States (“U.S.”) and the foreign countries in which it operates. The 
Company files a consolidated U.S. Federal tax return, which includes 
all domestic subsidiaries and the U.K. Branch. The income from the 
foreign operations is designated as either U.S. connected income or 
non- U.S. connected income. Lloyd’s is required to pay U.S. income tax 
on U.S. connected income written by Lloyd’s syndicates. Lloyd’s and 
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) have entered into an agree-
ment whereby the amount of tax due on U.S. connected income is 
calculated by Lloyd’s and remitted directly to the IRS. These amounts 
are then charged to the corporate member in proportion to its partici-
pation in the relevant syndicates. The Company’s corporate member 
is subject to this agreement and receives United Kingdom (“U.K.”) 
tax credits in the U.K. for any U.S. income tax incurred up to the U.K. 
income tax charged on the U.S. connected income. The non- U.S. con-
nected insurance income would generally constitute taxable income 
under the Subpart F income section of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code 
(“Subpart F”) since less than 50% of Syndicate 1221’s premiums are 
derived within the U.K. and would therefore be subject to U.S. taxation 
when the Lloyd’s year of account closes. Taxes are accrued at a 35% 
rate on the Company’s foreign source insurance income and foreign tax 
credits, where available, are utilized to offset U.S. tax as permitted. The 
Company’s effective tax rate for Syndicate 1221 taxable income could 
substantially exceed 35% to the extent the Company is unable to offset 
U.S. taxes paid under Subpart F tax regulations with U.K. tax credits 
on future underwriting year distributions. U.S. taxes are not accrued on 
the earnings of the Company’s foreign agencies as these earnings are 
not includable as Subpart F income in the current year. These earnings 
were subject to taxes under U.K. tax regulations at a 26% rate through 
March 31, 2012. A finance bill was enacted in the U.K. that reduced the 
U.K. corporate tax rate from 26% to 24% effective April 2012 and from 
24% to 23% effective April 2013.

The components of current and deferred income tax expense (benefit) 
are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Current income tax expense 
(benefit):
Federal and foreign  $ 28,084  $ 39,242  $ 573
State and local   446   146   340

Subtotal   28,530   39,388   913

Deferred income tax expense 
(benefit):
Federal and foreign   277   (11,414)   6,224
State and local   –   –   –

Subtotal   277   (11,414)   6,224

Total income tax expense 
(benefit)  $ 28,807  $ 27,974  $ 7,137
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A reconciliation of total income taxes applicable to pre-tax operating income and the amounts computed by applying the federal statutory income 
tax rate to the pre-tax operating income were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Computed expected tax expense  $ 32,299   35.0%  $ 32,109   35.0%  $ 11,457   35.0%
Tax- exempt interest   (3,839)   –4.2%   (4,443)   –4.8%   (4,437)   –13.6%
Dividends received deduction   (897)   –1.0%   (799)   –0.9%   (1,065)   –3.3%
Proration   710   0.8%   786   0.9%   825   2.5%
Current state and local income taxes, net of federal income tax   290   0.3%   95   0.1%   221   0.7%
Other   244   0.3%   226   0.2%   136   0.5%

Actual tax expense and rate  $ 28,807   31.2%  $ 27,974   30.5%  $ 7,137   21.8%

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to federal, for-
eign, state and local deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
were as follows:

December 31,

2013 2012

In thousands

Deferred tax assets:
Loss reserve discount  $ 27,822  $ 29,687
Unearned premiums   25,706   22,860
Compensation related   6,782   5,285
State and local net deferred tax assets   555   499
Other   3,889   4,245

Total gross deferred tax assets   64,754   62,576
Less: Valuation allowance   (555)   (499)

Total deferred tax assets  $ 64,199  $ 62,077

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred acquisition costs  $ (19,258)  $ (16,903)
Net unrealized gains on securities   (12,635)   (36,200)
Other   (4,119)   (5,758)

Total deferred tax liabilities  $ (36,012)  $ (58,861)

Net deferred income tax asset (liability)  $ 28,187  $ 3,216

The Company has not provided for U.S. income taxes on approximately 
$20.3 million of undistributed earnings of its non- U.S. subsidiaries since 
it is intended that those earnings will be reinvested indefinitely in those 
subsidiaries. If a future determination is made that those earnings no 
longer are intended to be reinvested indefinitely in those subsidiaries, 
U.S. income taxes of approximately $2.1 million, assuming all foreign 
tax credits are realized, would be included in the tax provision at 
that time and would be payable if those earnings were distributed to 
the Company.

Unrecognized tax benefits are differences between tax posi-
tions taken in the tax returns and benefits recognized in the financial 
statements. The Company has no unrecognized tax benefits as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company did not incur any interest 
or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company currently is under examina-
tion by the Internal Revenue Service for taxable years 2010 and 2011, 
and generally is subject to U.S. Federal, state or local, or foreign tax 
examinations by tax authorities for 2009 and subsequent years.

The Company had state and local deferred tax assets amounting 
to potential future tax benefits of $0.6 million and $0.5 million as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Included in the deferred tax 
assets are state and local net operating loss carry- forwards of $0.1 mil-
lion and $0.2  million for December  31, 2013 and 2012. A valuation 
allowance was established for the full amount of these potential future 
tax benefits due to the uncertainty associated with their realization. 
The Company’s state and local tax carry- forwards as of December 31, 
2013 expire from 2023 to 2031.

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management 
considers whether it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets 
will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is depen-
dent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in 
which those temporary differences become deductible. Management 
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, tax plan-
ning strategies and anticipated future taxable income in making this 
assessment and believes it is more likely than not that the Company 
will realize the benefits of its deductible differences as of December 31, 
2013, net of any valuation allowance.

NOTE 8. 
CREDIT FACILIT Y
On November 22, 2012, we entered into a $165 million credit facility 
agreement with ING Bank N.V., London Branch, individually and as 
Administrative Agent, and a syndicate of lenders. The new credit facility 
amended and restated a $165 million letter of credit facility entered into 
by the parties on March 28, 2011. The credit facility, which is denomi-
nated in U.S. dollars, is utilized to fund our participation in Syndicate 
1221 through letters of credit for the 2013 and 2014 underwriting years, 
as well as open prior years. The letters of credit issued under the facility 
can be denominated in British pounds and their aggregate face amount 
will fluctuate based on exchange rates. If any letters of credit remain 
outstanding under the facility after December 31, 2014, we would be 
required to post additional collateral to secure the remaining letters 
of credit. As of December 31, 2013, letters of credit with an aggregate 
face amount of $151.9 million were outstanding under the credit facility.

This credit facility contains customary covenants for facilities of 
this type, including restrictions on indebtedness and liens, limitations 
on mergers, dividends and the sale of assets, and requirements as to 
maintaining certain consolidated tangible net worth, statutory surplus 
and other financial ratios. The credit facility also provides for customary 
events of default, including failure to pay principal, interest or fees when 
due, failure to comply with covenants, any representation or warranty 
made by the Company being false in any material respect, default 
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under certain other indebtedness, certain insolvency or receivership 
events affecting the Company and its subsidiaries, the occurrence of 
certain material judgments, or a change in control of the Company. The 
letter of credit facility is secured by a pledge of the stock of certain 
insurance subsidiaries of the Company. To the extent the aggregate 
face amount issued under the credit facility exceeds the commitment 
amount, the Company is required to post collateral with the lead bank 
of the consortium. The Company was in compliance with all covenants 
under the credit facility as of December 31, 2013.

The applicable margin and applicable fee rate payable under the 
credit facility are based on a tiered schedule that is based on the 
Company’s then- current ratings issued by S&P and Moody’s with 
respect to the Company’s Senior Notes without third- party credit 
enhancement, and the amount of the Company’s own collateral utilized 
to fund its participation in Syndicate 1221.

NOTE 9. 
SENIOR NOTE
On October  4, 2013, the Company completed a public debt offer-
ing of $265 million principal amount of 5.75% Senior Notes (“5.75% 
Senior Notes”) and received net proceeds of $263 million. The Principal 
amount of the Senior Notes is payable in one single installment on 
October 15, 2023. The Company used a portion of the proceeds of the 
5.75% Senior Notes for the redemption of the 7.0% Senior Notes due 
May 1, 2016 (“7.0% Senior Notes). The Company incurred a charge of 
$17.9 million for the payment of call premium in connection with the 
redemption of the 7.0% Senior Notes. The Senior Notes liability as of 
December 31, 2013 was $263.3 million. The unamortized discount as 
of December 31, 2013 was $1.7 million.

The fair value of the 5.75% Senior Notes as of December 31, 2013 
was $277.6  million. The fair value of the 7.0% Senior Notes as of 
December 31, 2012 was $123.2 million. The fair values were determined 
using quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets and is 
classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy as defined by the 
accounting guidance for fair value measurements.

Interest is payable on the 5.75% Senior Notes each April 15 and 
October 15. The effective interest rate related to the 5.75% Senior 
Notes, based on the proceeds net of discount and all issuance costs, 
approximates 5.86%. Interest expense on the 5.75% and 7.0% Senior 
Notes totaled $10.5  million for the year ended December  31, 2013. 
Interest expense on the 7.0% Senior Notes was $8.2 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The interest rate payable on the 5.75% Senior Note is subject to a 
tiered adjustment based on defined changes in the Company’s debt 
ratings. The Company may redeem the 5.75% Senior Notes in whole at 
any time or in part from time to time at a make- whole redemption price. 
The 5.75% Senior Notes are the Company’s only senior unsecured obli-
gation and will rank equally with future senior unsecured indebtedness.

The terms of the 5.75% Senior Notes contain various restrictive busi-
ness and financial covenants, including a restriction on indebtedness, 
and other restrictions typical for debt obligations of this type, including 
limitations on mergers, liens and dispositions of the common stock of 
certain subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2013, the Company was in 
compliance with all such covenants.

NOTE 10. 
 LLOYD’S SYNDICATE 1221
The Company’s Lloyd’s Operations included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements represents its participation in Syndicate 1221. Syndicate 
1221’s stamp capacity is £195  million ($323.7  million) for the 2013 
underwriting year compared to £184 million ($300 million) for the 2012 
underwriting year. Stamp capacity is a measure of the amount of premi-
ums a Lloyd’s syndicate is authorized to write based on a business plan 
approved by the Council of Lloyd’s. Syndicate 1221’s stamp capacity is 
expressed net of commission (as is standard at Lloyd’s). The Syndicate 
1221 premiums recorded in the Company’s financial statements are 
gross of commission. The Company controlled 100% of Syndicate 
1221’s stamp capacity for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 underwriting years 
through its wholly- owned Lloyd’s corporate member.

The Company provides letters of credit and posts cash to Lloyd’s 
to support its participation in Syndicate 1221’s stamp capacity. As of 
December  31, 2013, the Company had provided letters of credit of 
$151.9 million and has $1.0 million of cash collateral posted. If Syndicate 
1221 increases its stamp capacity and the Company participates in the 
additional stamp capacity, or if Lloyd’s changes the capital require-
ments, the Company may be required to supply additional collateral 
acceptable to Lloyd’s. If the Company is unwilling or unable to provide 
additional acceptable collateral, the Company will be required to reduce 
its participation in the stamp capacity of Syndicate 1221. The letters of 
credit are provided through a credit facility with a consortium of banks 
which provides the Company with the ability to have letters of credit 
issued to support Syndicate 1221’s stamp capacity at Lloyd’s for the 
2013 and 2014 underwriting years, as well as open prior years. If any 
letters of credit remain outstanding under the facility after December 31, 
2014, we would be required to post additional collateral to secure the 
remaining letters of credit. If the credit facility is not renewed prior 
to December 31, 2014, the Company will need to find internal and/or 
external sources to provide either letters of credit or other collateral in 
order to continue to participate in Syndicate 1221. The credit facility 
is collateralized by all of the common stock of Navigators Insurance 
Company. Refer to Note 8, Credit Facility, for additional information.

NOTE 11. 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Future minimum annual rental commitments as of December 31, 2013 
under various non- cancellable operating leases for our office facilities, 
which expire at various dates through 2023, are as follows:

Year Ended 
December 31,

In thousands

2014 $11,061
2015 11,092
2016 9,228
2017 7,990
2018 6,884
Thereafter 15,696

Total minimum operating lease payments $61,951

We are also liable for additional payments to the landlords for certain 
annual cost increases. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $11.5 million, $10.5  million and $10.4  mil-
lion, respectively.
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The State of Connecticut awarded the Company up to $11.5 mil-
lion ($8.0 million in loans and $3.5 million in grants) as an incentive to 
move its corporate headquarters to Stamford Connecticut. The loan is 
non- interest bearing, has a term of 10 years and is subject to forgive-
ness under conditions of the agreement with the State. The amount of 
the assistance to be received is dependent on the Company reaching 
certain milestones for creation of new jobs over a five- year period, 
and the funds are to be used to offset certain equipment purchases, 
facility costs, training of employees and other eligible project- related 
costs. The Company completed the move to Stamford in September 
2013 and received $7.5  million for reaching the first job milestone. 
Earning of the grant and forgiveness of the loan is subject to certain 
conditions, including maintaining the required jobs for an extended 
period of time. As of December 31, 2013, the length of time commit-
ment has not been met, however, the Company expects to meet all 
the conditions to keep the amount of assistance received to date, and 
accordingly, is recognizing the assistance received over the period in 
which the Company recognizes the expenses for which the assistance 
is intended to compensate, and is recognized as a reduction of such 
expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company 
recognized $0.3 million of the assistance and has deferred revenue of 
$7.2 million, which is included in other liabilities.

In the ordinary course of conducting business, the Company’s sub-
sidiaries are involved in various legal proceedings, either indirectly as 
insurers for parties or directly as defendants. Most of these proceed-
ings consist of claims litigation involving the Company’s subsidiaries 
as either (a) liability insurers defending or providing indemnity for third 
party claims brought against insureds or (b) insurers defending first 
party coverage claims brought against them. The Company accounts 
for such activity through the establishment of unpaid loss and loss 
adjustment reserves. The Company’s management believes that the 
ultimate liability, if any, with respect to such ordinary- course claims 
litigation, after consideration of provisions made for potential losses 
and cost of defense, will not be material to the Company’s consolidated 
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

The Company’s subsidiaries are also from time to time involved 
with other legal actions, some of which assert claims for substantial 
amounts. These actions include claims asserting extra contractual 
obligations, such as claims involving allegations of bad faith in the han-
dling of claims or the underwriting of policies. In general, the Company 
believes it has valid defenses to these cases. The Company’s manage-
ment expects that the ultimate liability, if any, with respect to future 
extra- contractual matters will not be material to its consolidated finan-
cial position. Nonetheless, given the large or indeterminate amounts 
sought in certain of these matters, and the inherent unpredictability 
of litigation, an adverse outcome in such matters could, from time to 
time, have a material adverse outcome on the Company’s consolidated 
results of operations or cash flows in a particular fiscal quarter or year.

NOTE 12. 
SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE REPURCHASES
Our authorized share capital consists of 50,000,000 common shares 
with a par value of $0.10 per share and 1,000,000 preferred shares 
with a par value of $0.10 per share. The Company has not issued any 
preferred shares as of December 31, 2013.

The following table represents changes in the Company’s issued and 
outstanding common shares for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Beginning balance   14,047   13,956   15,742
Vested stock grants   50   60   122
Employee stock purchase 

plan   17   16   19
Stock options exercised   84   15   52
Treasury shares purchased   –   –   (1,979)

Ending balance   14,198   14,047   13,956

In May 2011, the Parent Company’s Board of Directors authorized an 
additional $50 million under the existing share repurchase program of 
the Company’s common stock, which increased the size of the program 
to $150  million. This repurchase program was initially authorized in 
November 2009. The share repurchase program as originally approved 
was scheduled to expire on December 31, 2010, however, prior to its 
expiration, the Parent Company’s Board of Directors approved an 
extension to December 31, 2011. The share repurchase program expired 
on December 31, 2011 and was not renewed.

The following presents our share repurchases under the aforementioned 
programs for the periods indicated:

Total Number 
of Shares 

Purchased

Average 
Cost Paid 
Per Share

Fourth quarter 2009 activity   141,576  $ 47.72

Total 2009 activity   141,576  $ 47.72

First quarter 2010 activity   573,600  $ 41.27
Second quarter 2010 activity   558,003   40.32
Third quarter 2010 activity   97,115   42.25
Fourth quarter 2010 activity   35,566   48.04

Total 2010 activity   1,264,284  $ 41.11

First quarter 2011 activity   256,094  $ 50.96
Second quarter 2011 activity   597,026   47.55
Third quarter 2011 activity   749,076   43.03
Fourth quarter 2011 activity   376,911   45.61

Total 2011 activity   1,979,107  $ 45.91
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NOTE 13. 
DIVIDENDS AND STATUTORY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The Parent Company has not paid or declared any cash dividends on 
common stock. There are no regulatory restrictions on the ability of 
the Parent Company to pay dividends. While there is no intention to 
pay cash dividends on the common stock, future declarations, if any, 
are at the discretion of our Board of Directors. The amounts of such 

dividends will be dependent, upon other factors such as, our results 
of operations and cash flow, financial condition and business needs, 
restrictive covenants under our credit facility and senior notes that 
require us to maintain certain consolidated tangible net worth, the 
capital and surplus requirements of our subsidiaries, and applicable 
insurance regulations that limit the amount of dividends that may be 
paid by our regulated insurance subsidiaries. Refer to Note 8, Credit 
Facility, for additional information on the restrictions of our credit facility 
that limit the amount of dividends that may be paid by our subsidiaries.

The amount and nature of net assets that are restricted from payment of dividends as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are presented in the fol-
lowing table:

As of December 31,

2013 2012

In thousands

Restricted Net Assets:
Insurance Companies:

Fixed maturities at fair value (amortized cost: 2013, $9,730; 2012, $9,607)  $ 11,105  $ 11,728
Short- term investments, at cost which approximates fair value   290   290
Cash   1,210   5,208

Total Insurance Companies(1)   12,605   17,226
Lloyd’s Operations:

Fixed maturities at fair value (amortized cost: 2013, $398,930; 2012, $419,271)   398,808   428,142
Short- term investments, at cost which approximates fair value   108,485   72,984
Cash   988   849

Total Lloyd’s Operations(2)   508,281   501,975

Total Restricted Net Assets  $ 520,886  $ 519,201

(1) The restricted net assets for the Insurance Companies primarily consist of fixed maturities on deposit with various state insurance 
departments. The cash as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, as presented in the table above, was on deposit with a U.K. bank to comply with 
the regulatory requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority for the underwriting activities of the U.K. Branch.

(2) The restricted net assets for the Lloyd’s Operations consists of fixed maturities and cash held in trust for the benefit of syndicate policyholders 
and short-term investments primarily consisting of overseas deposits in various countries with Lloyd’s to support underwriting activities in 
those countries.

In addition to the Company’s restricted net assets provided in the table above, there are regulatory limitations on the payment of dividends by our 
subsidiaries, discussed below, and the Company’s letter of credit facility is secured by all of the common stock of Navigators Insurance Company.

INSUR ANCE COMPANIES

Navigators Insurance Company may pay dividends to the Parent 
Company out of its statutory earned surplus pursuant to statu-
tory restrictions imposed under the New York insurance law. As of 
December 31, 2013, the maximum amount available for the payment 
of dividends by Navigators Insurance Company in 2014 without prior 
regulatory approval is $80.4 million. Navigators Insurance Company 
did not pay any dividends to the Parent Company in 2013. In 2012 and 
2011, Navigators Insurance Company paid $15.0 million and $45.0 mil-
lion, respectively, in dividends to the Parent Company.

The Insurance Companies’ statutory net income as filed with the 
regulatory authorities for 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $59.4  million, 
$28.6 million and $16.3 million, respectively. The statutory capital and 
surplus as filed with the regulatory authorities was $804.1 million and 
$682.9 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The NAIC has codified Statutory Accounting Practices and 
Procedures (“SAP”) for insurance enterprises. We prepare our statu-
tory basis financial statements in accordance with the most recently 
updated SAP manual subject to any deviations prescribed or permitted 
by the New York Insurance Commissioner. The significant differences 
between SAP and GAAP, as they relate to our operations, are as 

follows: (1) acquisition and commission costs are expensed when 
incurred, while under GAAP these costs are deferred and amortized 
as the related premium is earned; (2) bonds are stated at amortized 
cost, while under GAAP bonds are classified as available- for-sale and 
reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in 
other comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders’ 
equity; (3) certain deferred tax assets are not permitted to be included 
in statutory surplus, while under GAAP deferred taxes are provided to 
reflect all temporary differences between the carrying values and tax 
basis of assets and liabilities; (4) unearned premiums and loss reserves 
are reflected net of ceded amounts, while under GAAP the unearned 
premiums and loss reserves are reflected gross of ceded amounts; (5) 
agents’ balances over ninety days due are excluded from the balance 
sheet, and uncollateralized amounts due from unauthorized reinsur-
ers are deducted from surplus, while under GAAP they are restored to 
the balance sheet, subject to the usual tests regarding recoverability.

The NAIC has adopted Risked Based Capital (“RBC”) requirements 
to elevate the adequacy of statutory capital and surplus in relation 
to risks associated with: (1) asset risk; (2) insurance risk; (3) interest 
rate and equity market risk; and (4) business risk. The RBC formula is 
designated as an early warning tool for the states to identify possible 
undercapitalized companies for the purpose of initiating regulatory 
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action. In the course of operations, we periodically monitor the RBC 
level of the Navigators Insurance Company. As of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, the Navigators Insurance Company exceeded the company 
action RBC levels. The RBC ratio of Navigators Insurance Company was 
304.2% and 295.1% of the company action level as of December 31, 
2013 and 2012, respectively.

As part of its general regulatory oversight process, the New York 
State Department of Finance conducts detailed examinations of the 
books, records and accounts of New York insurance companies every 
three to five years. In 2011, the New York State Department of Finance 
conducted an examination of Navigators Insurance Company and 
Navigators Specialty Insurance Company for the years 2005 through 
2009. The U.K. Branch is required to maintain certain capital require-
ments under U.K. regulations and is subject to examination by the U.K. 
Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA).

LLOYD’S OPER ATIONS

Lloyd’s sets the corporate member’s required capital annually based 
on Syndicate 1221’s business plans, rating environment, reserving 
environment and input arising from Lloyd’s discussions with regulatory 
and rating agencies. The capital requirement of Syndicate 1221, known 
as Funds at Lloyd’s (the “FAL”), is currently calculated using the internal 
Lloyd’s risk- based capital model. The FAL may comprise cash, invest-
ments and undrawn letters of credit provided by various banks. As of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the FAL requirement set by Lloyd’s for 
Syndicate 1221 was $279.3 million (£168.3 million) and $223.4 million 
(£137.1 million), respectively, based on its business plans, approved in 
November 2013 and November 2012, respectively.

The valuation of the assets and letters of credit posted for FAL for 
Syndicate 1221 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $280.2 million 
(£168.8 million) and $227.3 million (£139.5 million), respectively.

We prepare our Lloyd’s financial statements in accordance with 
U.K. GAAP basis. The significant differences between U.K. GAAP 
and GAAP, as they relate to our operations, are as follows: (1) invest-
ments are recorded at fair value with unrealized gains and losses being 
recorded in income while under GAAP the changes in unrealized gains 
and losses are recorded through AOCI as a separate component of 
stockholders’ equity; (2) realized foreign exchange on inter- currency 
conversions are recorded through the income statement, while under 
GAAP foreign exchange translation is recorded through AOCI as a 
separate component of stockholders’ equity; (3) Lloyd’s membership 
costs are not deferred for U.K. GAAP, while under GAAP a prepaid asset 
is established and amortized over each year of account.

The primary source of income for NCUL, a corporate member of 
Lloyd’s and controller of 100% of Syndicate 1221’s stamp capacity, is 
generated through Syndicate 1221. Syndicate 1221 is subject to over-
sight by the Council of Lloyd’s. Lloyd’s as a whole is authorized and 
regulated by the PRA. Syndicate 1221’s income as filed with Lloyd’s for 
2013, 2012 and 2011 was $21.0 million, $54.9 million and $5.3 million, 
respectively. The Syndicate’s capital and surplus as filed with Lloyd’s 
was $124.2 million (£74.8 million) and $110.0 million (£67.5 million) as 
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The difference between 
our Syndicate’s capital and surplus and the FAL primarily consists of 
letters of credit and cash held by our corporate member.

NCUL may pay dividends to the Parent Company up to the extent 
of available profits that have been distributed from Syndicate 1221. 
The Syndicate’s capital and surplus as filed with Lloyd’s consists of 
undistributed profits on closed and open years of account. In connec-
tion with the business plan approved in November 2013, NCUL posted 
all of the available undistributed profits on closed years of $127.4 mil-
lion (£76.7  million) to support a portion of the FAL requirement and 
therefore that amount is not available for distribution to NCUL, which 
ultimately is not available to the Parent in the form of a dividend. As 
of December 31, 2013, NCUL has the ability to pay dividends of up to 
$11.6 million (£7.0 million), consisting of previously distributed profits 
from Syndicate 1221, to the Parent in the form of dividends.

Refer to Note 1, Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies, for additional disclosure on the accounting treatment for 
Syndicate 1221 as it relates to closed and open years of account.

NOTE 14. 
STOCK OPTION PL ANS, STOCK GR ANTS, STOCK APPRECIATION 
RIGHTS AND EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PL AN
At our May 2005 Annual Meeting, the stockholders approved the 2005 
Stock Incentive Plan. The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan authorizes the 
issuance in the aggregate of 1,000,000 incentive stock options, non- 
incentive stock options, restricted shares and stock appreciation rights 
for our common stock. Upon the approval of the 2005 Amended and 
Restated Stock Incentive Plan, no further awards are being issued 
under any of our other stock plans or the stock appreciation rights 
plan. All stock options issued under the 2005 Amended and Restated 
Stock Incentive Plan are exercisable upon vesting for one share of our 
common stock and are granted at exercise prices no less than the fair 
market value of our common stock on the date of grant.

In April 2009, the stockholders approved an amendment to the 
2005 Stock Incentive Plan increasing the available number of restricted 
shares from 1,000,000 to 1,500,000. In April 2013, the stockholders 
further amended and restated the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan increasing 
the available number of restricted shares from 1,500,000 to 2,000,000. 
As of December 31, 2013, 1,340,885 of such awards were issued leaving 
659,115 awards available to be issued in subsequent periods.

Stock- based compensation granted under the Company’s stock 
plans is expensed in tranches over the vesting period. Options and 
non- performance based grants generally vest equally over a three or 
four year period and the options have a maximum term of ten years. 
Certain non- performance based grants vest over five years with one- 
third vesting in each of the third, fourth and fifth years. The Company’s 
performance based share grants generally consist of two types of 
awards. The restricted stock units issued in 2011 and after will cliff vest 
over a three year period, with 50% vesting in full, and 50% dependent 
on the rate of compound annual growth in book value per share for the 
three years immediately prior to the vesting date, with actual shares 
that vest ranging between 150% to 0% of that portion of the original 
award. Those performance based restricted stock units issued prior to 
2011 generally vest over five years with one- third vesting in each of the 
third, fourth and fifth years, dependent on the rolling three- year average 
return on equity based on the three years prior to the year in which the 
vesting occurs, with actual shares that vest ranging between 150% to 
0% of the original award.
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The amounts charged to expense for stock- based compensation for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are presented in 
the following table:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

In thousands

Restricted stock units  $ 3,369  $ 7,380  $ 139
Directors restricted stock grants(1)   413   390   248
Employee stock purchase plan   132   82   173
Stock appreciation rights(2)   –   –   (100)

Total stock- based compensation  $ 3,914  $ 7,852  $ 460

(1) Relates to non- employee directors serving on the Parent 
Company’s Board of Directors, all of whom have been elected by 
the Company’s stockholders, as well as non- employee directors 
serving on NUAL’s Board of Directors.

(2) All outstanding stock appreciation rights were exercised during 2011.

Unvested restricted stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011, and changes during the years ended on those dates, 
are presented in the following table:

December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Beginning balance   587,629   526,972   590,661
Granted —  Performance   114,463   97,145   86,118
Granted —  Non Performance   155,463   146,915   98,640

Total Granted   269,926   244,060   184,758
Vested —  Performance Earned   (15,714)   –   (22,993)
Vested —  Performance Unearned   (57,585)   (46,998)   (42,334)
Vested —  Non Performance   (60,183)   (91,323)   (149,738)

Total Vested   (133,482)   (138,321)   (215,065)
Forfeited   (97,261)   (45,082)   (33,382)

Ending balance   626,812   587,629   526,972

As included in the table above, there were 15,714 and 22,933 perfor-
mance based shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 
2013 and 2011, respectively. There were no performance based shares 
that vested during the year ended December 31, 2012.

The fair value of total vested shares for the years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $3.5 million, $4.6 million and 
$8.6 million, respectively.

The weighted average grant date fair value of all RSUs granted 
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $55.36, 
$48.21 and $50.06, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the total unrecognized compen-
sation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested RSUs 
was $10.6 million and $11.9 million, respectively, which is expected to be 
recognized as expense over weighted average periods of 2.2 years and 
2.2 years, respectively. The aggregate fair value of all unvested RSUs 
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $39.6 million and $30.0 mil-
lion, respectively.

Stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

December 31,

2013 2012 2011

# of Shares
Average 

Exercise Price # of Shares
Average 

Exercise Price # of Shares
Average 

Exercise Price

Beginning balance   90,250  $ 29.94   105,250  $ 29.50   157,500  $ 27.13
Granted   –   –   –   –   –   –
Exercised   (83,500)  $ 29.88   (15,000)  $ 26.90   (52,250)  $ 22.35
Expired or forfeited   –   –   –   –   –  $ –

Ending balance   6,750  $ 30.65   90,250  $ 29.94   105,250  $ 29.50

Number of options exercisable  6,750  $ 30.65   90,250  $ 29.94   105,250  $ 29.50

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2013:

Price Range
Outstanding 

Options

Average 
Remaining 

Contract Life
Average  

Exercise Price

Average 
Aggregate 

Intrinsic Value
Exercisable 

Options
Average  

Exercise Price

Average 
Aggregate 

Intrinsic Value

$21 to $30 5,250 0.2 $29.11 $34.05 5,250 $29.11 $34.05
$31 to $37 1,500 1.7 $36.03 $27.13 1,500 $36.03 $27.13

Total 6,750 1.9 6,750
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The Company has a Stock Appreciation Rights Plan which allows for the grant of up to 300,000 stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) at prices of 
no less than 90% of the fair market value of the common stock. As a result of the approval of the 2005 Amended and Restated Stock Incentive 
Plan, no further awards will be issued from the Stock Appreciation Rights Plan. SARs outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 
were as follows:

December 31,

2013 2012 2011

SARs

Average 
Exercise 

Prices SARs

Average 
Exercise 

Prices SARs

Average 
Exercise 

Prices

Beginning balance   –  $ –   –  $ –   16,500  $ 18.74
Granted   –   –   –   –   –   –
Exercised   –   –   –  $ –   (16,500)  $ 18.74
Expired or forfeited   –   –   –   –   –   –

Ending balance   –  $ –   –  $ –   –  $ –

Number of SARs exercisable   –  $ –   –  $ –   –  $ –

We offer an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) to all of our 
eligible employees. Employees are offered the opportunity to purchase 
the Company’s common stock at 90% of fair market value at the lower 
of the price at the beginning or the end of each six month offering 
period. Employees can invest up to 10% of their base compensation 
through payroll withholding towards the purchase of our common stock 
subject to the lesser of 1,000 shares or total market value of $25,000. 
There will be 8,738 shares purchased in 2014 from funds withheld during 
the July  1, 2013 to December  31, 2013 offering period. There were 
17,640 shares purchased in 2013 in the aggregate from funds withheld 
during the offering periods of July 1, 2012 to December 31, 2012 and 
January 1, 2013 to June 30, 2013. We expense both the value of the 
10% discount and the “look- back” option which provides for the more 
favorable price at either the beginning or end of the offering period.

NOTE 15. 
RETIREMENT PL ANS
We have a 401(k) Plan for all U.S. eligible employees. Each eligible 
employee can contribute a portion of their salary, limited by certain 
Federal regulations. Beginning in 2008, we matched 100% of employee 
contributions on eligible compensation, up to a maximum of 4% each 
pay period; our contribution vests immediately. For 2013 and 2012, eli-
gible compensation consisted of gross base salary and annual bonus. 
For 2011, eligible compensation consisted solely of gross base salary. 
In addition, we have the discretion of contributing up to 4% of eligible 
compensation to each eligible employee’s 401(k) plan irrespective of 
the employees’ contribution amount, which also vests immediately. 
The Company will make a discretionary matching contribution of 2% or 
$0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. There were no dis-
cretionary matching contributions for the years ended 2012 and 2011.

We sponsored a standalone retirement savings defined contribu-
tion plan covering substantially all of the Company’s U.S. employees 
through December 31, 2011. The standalone retirement savings defined 

contribution plan was merged into the 401(k) Plan effective January 1, 
2012. Company contributions were equal to 7.5% of each eligible 
employee’s eligible compensation up to the amount permitted by cer-
tain Federal regulations. For 2013 and 2012, eligible compensation 
consisted solely of gross base salary. For 2011, eligible compensation 
consisted of gross base salary and annual bonus, with the contribution 
on the bonus not to exceed $2,500. The Company’s contributions vest 
at 20% per year for six years with vesting beginning in an employee’s 
second year of service. For any employee hired prior to January  1, 
2008, vesting is calculated based on hours of service and vesting 
commences on January 1 following an employee’s first full year of ser-
vice. For employees hired after January 1, 2008, vesting is calculated 
based on elapsed time and vesting commences on the employees 
anniversary date.

The expense recorded for all contributions to the 401(k) Plan for 
the year ended December  31, 2013 was $5.1  million, consisting of 
$2.7 million for the retirement savings contributions, $1.6 million for 
the non discretionary matching contributions, and $0.8  million for 
the discretionary matching contribution. The expense recorded for 
all contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the year ended December 31, 
2012 was $4.6 million, consisting of $2.5 million for the retirement sav-
ings contributions and $2.1 million for the non discretionary matching 
contributions. The expense recorded for the 401(k) Plan for the year 
ended December  31, 2011 was $1.6  million. The expense recorded 
for the money purchase defined contribution plan for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 was $2.8 million.

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for the 
Company’s U.K. employees under U.K. regulations. Contributions, 
which are fully vested when made, are equal to 15% of each eligible 
employee’s gross base salary. All U.K. employees are eligible on their 
date of hire. The expense recorded for the U.K. defined contribution 
plan was $2.2  million, $1.9  million and $1.7  million for 2013, 2012 
and 2011, respectively. Such expenses are included in Other operat-
ing expenses.
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NOTE 16. 
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following is a summary of quarterly financial data for the periods indicated:

March 31,  
2013

June 30,  
2013

September 30, 
2013

December 31, 
2013

In thousands, except per share amounts

Gross written premiums  $ 393,222  $ 332,128  $ 312,076  $ 333,091
Revenues:

Net written premiums  $ 269,452  $ 198,469  $ 196,556  $ 223,445
Change in unearned premiums   (67,124)   7,345   17,339   (3,543)

Net earned premiums   202,328   205,814   213,895   219,902
Net investment income   13,657   14,246   14,094   14,254
Total other- than-temporary impairment losses   (42)   –   (1,821)   (530)
Portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income  

(before tax)   –   –   –   –

Net other- than-temporary impairment losses recognized in earnings   (42)   –   (1,821)   (530)
Net realized gains (losses)   4,814   3,345   (988)   15,768
Other income (expense)   618   (915)   (210)   (665)

Total revenues  $ 221,375  $ 222,490  $ 224,970  $ 248,729

Expenses:
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses  $ 131,342  $ 131,148  $ 125,086  $ 131,385
Commission expenses   26,555   28,391   27,685   30,863
Other operating expenses   40,874   40,678   39,056   43,826
Call premium on Senior Notes   –   –   –   17,895
Interest expense   2,051   2,052   2,053   4,351

Total expenses  $ 200,822  $ 202,269  $ 193,880  $ 228,320
Income before income taxes   20,553   20,221   31,090   20,409

Income tax expense  $ 6,643  $ 6,284  $ 9,804  $ 6,076

Net income  $ 13,910  $ 13,937  $ 21,286  $ 14,333

Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 14,785  $ (24,829)  $ 25,462  $ 1,200
Combined ratio   97.9%   97.7%   89.8%   94.0%
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic  $ 0.99  $ 0.99  $ 1.50  $ 1.01
Diluted  $ 0.97  $ 0.97  $ 1.48  $ 1.00
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March 31,  
2012

June 30,  
2012

September 30, 
2012

December 31, 
2012

In thousands, except per share amounts

Gross written premiums  $ 343,149  $ 322,987  $ 298,742  $ 321,587
Revenues:

Net written premiums  $ 243,045  $ 190,252  $ 188,046  $ 212,312
Change in unearned premiums   (59,926)   5,765   13,216   (10,746)

Net earned premiums   183,119   196,017   201,262   201,566
Net investment income   11,258   15,777   13,597   13,616
Total other- than-temporary impairment losses   (198)   (496)   –   (208)
Portion of loss recognized in other comprehensive income  

(before tax)   44   –   –   –

Net other- than-temporary impairment losses recognized in earnings   (154)   (496)   –   (208)
Net realized gains   1,842   4,217   4,761   30,254
Other income (expense)   911   387   789   (599)

Total revenues  $ 196,976  $ 215,902  $ 220,409  $ 244,629

Expenses:
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses  $ 117,985  $ 123,407  $ 128,850  $ 127,191
Commission expenses   29,450   29,503   31,258   31,259
Other operating expenses   36,307   39,819   40,112   42,841
Interest expense   2,049   2,049   2,049   2,051

Total expenses  $ 185,791  $ 194,778  $ 202,269  $ 203,342
Income before income taxes   11,185   21,124   18,140   41,287

Income tax expense  $ 3,281  $ 6,225  $ 5,225  $ 13,243

Net income  $ 7,904  $ 14,899  $ 12,915  $ 28,044

Comprehensive income  $ 13,881  $ 21,663  $ 30,760  $ 2,418
Combined ratio   99.8%   98.1%   99.1%   100.2%
Net income per share:

Basic  $ 0.57  $ 1.06  $ 0.92  $ 2.00
Diluted  $ 0.56  $ 1.05  $ 0.90  $ 1.96
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SCHEDULE I

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS — 

OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES 
DECEMBER 31, 2013

December 31, 2013

In thousands Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Amortized 

Cost

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury bonds, agency bonds and foreign government bonds  $ 441,685  $ 2,854  $ (8,855)  $ 447,686
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   460,422   9,298   (13,651)   464,775
Mortgage- backed and asset- backed securities:

Agency mortgage- backed securities   301,274   6,779   (6,016)   300,511
Residential mortgage obligations   41,755   1,212   (161)   40,704
Asset- backed securities   125,133   653   (480)   124,960
Commercial mortgage- backed securities   172,750   7,656   (374)   165,468

Subtotal  $ 640,912  $ 16,300  $ (7,031)  $ 631,643
Corporate bonds   504,854   15,402   (3,443)   492,895

Total fixed maturities  $ 2,047,873  $ 43,854  $ (32,980)  $ 2,036,999
Equity securities —  common stocks   143,954   25,700   (550)   118,804
Short- term investments   296,250   –   –   296,250
Cash   86,509   –   –   86,509

Total  $ 2,574,586  $ 69,554  $ (33,530)  $ 2,538,562
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SCHEDULE II

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT 

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS 
(PARENT COMPANY)

December 31,

(In thousands, except share amounts) 2013 2012

ASSETS
Cash and investments  $ 100,676  $ 15,026
Investments in subsidiaries   1,040,214   955,024
Goodwill and other intangible assets   2,534   2,534
Other assets   26,538   23,219

Total assets  $ 1,169,962  $ 995,803

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities:
Senior Notes  $ 263,308  $ 114,424
Accounts payable and other liabilities   802   552
Accrued interest payable   3,640   1,342

Total liabilities  $ 267,750  $ 116,318

Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $.10 par value, authorized 1,000,000 shares, none issued  $ –  $ –
Common stock, $.10 par value, authorized 50,000,000 shares,  

issued 17,709,876 shares for 2013 and 17,558,046 shares for 2012   1,770   1,755
Additional paid- in capital   335,546   329,452
Treasury stock, at cost (3,511,380 shares for 2013 and 2012)   (155,801)   (155,801)
Retained earnings   692,337   628,871
Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities available- for-sale, net of tax   23,387   67,161
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax   4,973   8,047

Total stockholders’ equity  $ 902,212  $ 879,485

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,169,962  $ 995,803
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SCHEDULE II

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT (CONTINUED) 

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC.

STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(PARENT COMPANY)

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Revenues:
Net investment income  $ 13  $ 341  $ 595
Dividends received from wholly- owned subsidiaries   –   15,000   45,000

Total revenues  $ 13  $ 15,341  $ 45,595

Expenses:
Call premium on Senior Notes  $ 17,895  $ –  $ –
Interest expense   10,507   8,198   8,188
Other (income) expense   2   1,749   2,969

Total expenses  $ 28,404  $ 9,947  $ 11,157

Income (loss) before income tax benefit  $ (28,391)  $ 5,394  $ 34,438
Income tax benefit   (9,886)   (3,332)   (3,635)

Income (loss) before equity in undistributed net income of wholly-owned subsidiaries  $ (18,505)  $ 8,726  $ 38,073
Equity in undistributed net income of wholly- owned subsidiaries   81,971   55,036   (12,476)

Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597
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SCHEDULE II

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT (CONTINUED) 

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(PARENT COMPANY)

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Operating activities:
Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operations:
Equity in undistributed net income of wholly- owned subsidiaries   (81,971)   (70,036)   (32,524)
Dividends received from subsidiaries   –   15,000   45,000
Call premium on redemption of Senior Notes   17,895   –   –
Other   2,098   (3,265)   5,831

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $ 1,488  $ 5,461  $ 43,904

Investing activities:
Fixed maturities, available- for-sale

Sales  $ 8,754  $ 7,986  $ 45,716
Purchases   (1,249)   (14,700)   (9,253)

Equity securities
Sales   –   –   –
Purchases   –   –   –

Net increase in short- term investments   (89,988)   (167)   10,064

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  $ (82,483)  $ (6,881)  $ 46,527

Financing activities:
Capital contribution to subsidiary  $ (50,000)  $ –  $ –
Net Proceeds from Debt Offering   263,278   –   –
Redemption of 7.0% Senior Notes Due May 1, 2016   (132,437)   –   –
Purchase of treasury stock   –   –   (90,866)
Proceeds of stock issued from employee stock purchase plan   821   672   945
Proceeds of stock issued from exercise of stock options   2,495   404   1,169

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  $ 84,157  $ 1,076  $ (88,752)

Increase (decrease) in cash  $ 3,162  $ (344)  $ 1,679
Cash at beginning of year   2,981   3,325   1,646

Cash at end of year  $ 6,143  $ 2,981  $ 3,325
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SCHEDULE III

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION

In thousands

Deferred 
policy 

acquisition 
costs

Reserve 
for losses 

and loss 
adjustment 

expenses
Unearned 
premiums

Other 
policy 

claims and 
benefits 
payable

Net  
earned 

premiums

Net 
investment 

income(1)

Losses 
and loss 

adjustment 
expenses 
incurred

Amortization 
of deferred 

policy 
acquisition 

costs(2)

Other 
operating 
expenses(1)

Net  
written 

premiums

Year ended 
December 31, 2013

Insurance Companies  $ 54,984  $ 1,523,175  $ 536,303  $ –  $ 639,338  $ 49,083  $ 415,413  $ 81,132  $ 119,920  $ 680,008
Lloyd’s Operations   12,023   521,896   178,303   –   202,601   7,160   103,548   34,710   44,514   207,914

 $ 67,007  $ 2,045,071  $ 714,606  $ –  $ 841,939  $ 56,243  $ 518,961  $ 115,842  $ 164,434  $ 887,922

Year ended 
December 31, 2012

Insurance Companies  $ 48,294  $ 1,567,045  $ 470,425  $ –  $ 571,439  $ 46,549  $ 417,082  $ 81,370  $ 113,625  $ 622,956
Lloyd’s Operations   12,711   530,003   171,982   –   210,525   7,551   80,351   42,449   45,454   210,699

 $ 61,005  $ 2,097,048  $ 642,407  $ –  $ 781,964  $ 54,100  $ 497,433  $ 123,819  $ 159,079  $ 833,655

Year ended 
December 31, 2011

Insurance Companies  $ 47,298  $ 1,517,331  $ 384,596  $ –  $ 472,463  $ 54,164  $ 341,625  $ 64,165  $ 101,517  $ 542,391
Lloyd’s Operations   16,686   565,348   148,032   –   219,182   8,955   135,372   48,341   36,512   211,407

 $ 63,984  $ 2,082,679  $ 532,628  $ –  $ 691,645  $ 63,119  $ 476,997  $ 112,506  $ 138,029  $ 753,798

(1) Net investment income and Other operating expenses reflect only such amounts attributable to the Company’s insurance operations.
(2) Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs reflects only such amounts attributable to the Company’s insurance operations. A portion of 

these costs is eliminated in consolidation.
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SCHEDULE IV

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
REINSURANCE —  WRITTEN PREMIUM

In thousands Direct Amount
Ceded to other 

companies

Assumed 
from other 
companies Net amount

Percentage 
of amount 

assumed to net

Year ended December 31, 2013
Property- Casualty  $ 1,127,331  $ 482,596  $ 243,187  $ 887,922   27%

Year ended December 31, 2012
Property- Casualty  $ 1,034,658  $ 452,810  $ 251,807  $ 833,655   30%

Year ended December 31, 2011
Property- Casualty  $ 929,778  $ 354,418  $ 178,438  $ 753,798   24%
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SCHEDULE V

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

In thousands
Balance at 

January 1, 2013

Charged 
(Credited) to 

Costs and 
Expenses

Charged to 
Other Accounts

Deductions 
(Describe)

Balance at 
December 31, 

2013

Description:

Allowance for uncollectable reinsurance  $ 11,520  $ (188)  $ –  $ –  $ 11,332

Valuation allowance in deferred taxes  $ 499  $ 55  $ –  $ –  $ 554
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SCHEDULE VI

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION CONCERNING  

PROPERTY- CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS
($ in thousands)

Affiliation with 
Registrant

Deferred
policy

acquisition
costs

Reserve
for losses

and loss
adjustment

expenses

Discount,
if any,

deducted
Unearned
premiums

Net
earned

premiums

Net
investment

income(1)

Losses and loss 
adjustment expenses 

incurred related to
Amortization

of deferred
policy

acquisition
costs(2)

Other
operating
expenses(1)

Net
written

premiums
Current

year
Prior

years

Consolidated Subsidiaries:
Year ended 

December 31, 2013 $67,007 $2,045,071 $ – $714,606 $841,939 $56,243 $520,227  $ (1,266) $115,842 $164,434 $887,922

Year ended 
December 31, 2012 $61,005 $2,097,048 $ – $642,407 $781,964 $54,100 $542,724 $(45,291) $123,819 $159,079 $833,655

Year ended 
December 31, 2011 $63,984 $2,082,679 $ – $532,628 $691,645 $63,119 $474,852 $  2,145 $112,506 $138,029 $753,798

(1) Net investment income and Other operating expenses reflect only such amounts attributable to the Company’s insurance operations.
(2) Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs reflects only such amounts attributable to the Company’s insurance operations.  

A portion of these costs is eliminated in consolidation.
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EXHIBIT 11-1

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS 

EARNINGS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK AND COMMON STOCK EQUIVALENTS

Year Ended December 31,

In thousands, except share and per share amounts 2013 2012 2011

Net income  $ 63,466  $ 63,762  $ 25,597
Basic weighted average shares   14,133,925   14,052,311   14,980,429
Effect of common stock equivalents:

Assumed exercise of stock options and vesting of stock grants   211,628   275,509   202,856

Diluted weighted average shares   14,345,553   14,327,820   15,183,285
Net income per common share:

Basic  $ 4.49  $ 4.54  $ 1.71
Diluted  $ 4.42  $ 4.45  $ 1.69



EXHIBIT 21-1

THE NAVIGATORS GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013

Name Jurisdiction in which organized

Navigators Insurance Company New York
Navigators Specialty Insurance Company New York
Navigators Management Company, Inc. New York
Navigators Management (UK) Ltd. United Kingdom
Navigators Corporate Underwriters Ltd. United Kingdom
Navigators Holdings (UK) Ltd. United Kingdom
Navigators Underwriting Agency Ltd. United Kingdom
Millennium Underwriting Ltd. United Kingdom
Navigators Underwriting Limited United Kingdom
Navigators N.V. Belgium
NUAL AB Sweden
Navigators A/S Denmark

Note: Navigators Special Risk, Inc. and Navigators California Insurance Services, Inc., wholly- owned subsidiaries of the Company, were merged 
into Navigators Management Company, Inc. during 2008.



EXHIBIT 23-1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Navigators Group, Inc.
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration state-
ments Forms S-8 (No. 33-51608, No. 333-97183, No. 333-106317, No. 
333-125124, and No. 333-172784) and Form S-3 (No. 333-181838) of 
The Navigators Group, Inc. of our report dated February 14, 2014, with 
respect to the consolidated balance sheets of The Navigators Group, 
Inc. as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, 
and cash flows for each of the years in the three- year period ended 

December  31, 2013, and all related financial statement schedules, 
and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013, which reports appear in the December 31, 2013 
annual report on Form 10-K of The Navigators Group, Inc.

KPMG LLP
New York, New York
February 14, 2014



EXHIBIT 31-1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PER 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT

I, Stanley A. Galanski, certify that:
1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of The Navigators 

Group, Inc.;
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact neces-
sary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 
under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other finan-
cial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused 
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, 
or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure 
controls and procedures and presented in this report our con-
clusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and 
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting that occurred during the regis-
trant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or 
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based 
on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee 
of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 
design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial infor-
mation; and

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ Stanley A. Galanski
 Name: Stanley A. Galanski
 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31-2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PER 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT

I, Ciro M. DeFalco, certify that:
1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of The Navigators 

Group, Inc.;
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact neces-
sary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 
under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other finan-
cial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange 
Act rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused 
such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, 
or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure 
controls and procedures and presented in this report our con-
clusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and 
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting that occurred during the regis-
trant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or 
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based 
on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee 
of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 
design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s 
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial infor-
mation; and

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ Ciro M. DeFalco
 Name: Ciro M. DeFalco
 Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32-1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of The Navigators Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2013 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stanley A. Galanski, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 

the Company.

/s/ Stanley A. Galanski
Stanley A. Galanski
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 14, 2014

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to The Navigators Group, Inc. and will be retained by 
The Navigators Group, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32-2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of The Navigators Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2013 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ciro M. DeFalco, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 

the Company.

/s/ Ciro M. DeFalco
Ciro M. DeFalco
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
February 14, 2014

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to The Navigators Group, Inc. and will be retained by 
The Navigators Group, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
$ in thousands, except share and per share amounts

For the year ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

OPERATING INFORMATION

Gross written premium $ 1,370,517 $ 1,286,465 $ 1,108,216 $ 987,201 $ 1,044,918

Net written premium 887,922 833,655 753,798 653,938 701,255

Net earned premium 841,939 781,964 691,645 659,931 683,363

Net investment income 56,251 54,248 63,500 71,662 75,512

Net other-than-temporary impairment 
losses recognized in earnings (2,393) (858) (1,985) (1,080) (11,876)

Net realized capital gains (losses) 22,939 41,074 11,996 41,319 9,216

Total revenues 917,564 877,916 766,385 776,975 762,880

Income (loss) before income taxes 92,273 91,736 32,734 98,829 86,848

Net income (loss) 63,466 63,762 25,597 69,578 63,158

Net income per share:

Basic $ 4.49 $ 4.54 $ 1.71 $ 4.33 $ 3.73

Diluted $ 4.42 $ 4.45 $ 1.69 $ 4.24 $ 3.65

Average common shares outstanding:

Basic 14,133,925 14,052,311 14,980,429 16,064,770 16,935,488

Diluted 14,345,553 14,327,820  15,183,285  16,415,266  17,322,020 

Combined loss and expense ratio 1:

Loss ratio 61.6 % 63.6% 69.0% 63.8% 63.8%

Expense ratio 33.2 % 35.7% 35.7% 36.9% 33.4%

Total 94.8 % 99.3% 104.7% 100.7 % 97.2%

YEAR-END BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

Total investments and cash $ 2,574,586 $ 2,422,254 $ 2,233,498 $ 2,154,328 $ 2,056,587

Total assets 4,169,452 4,007,670 3,670,007 3,531,459 3,453,994

Gross losses and LAE reserves 2,045,071 2,097,048 2,082,679 1,985,838 1,920,286

Net losses and LAE reserves 1,222,633 1,216,909 1,237,234 1,142,542 1,112,934

Senior notes 263,308 114,424 114,276 114,138 114,010

Stockholders’ equity 902,212 879,485 803,435 829,354 801,519

Common shares outstanding 14,198,496 14,046,666 13,956,235 15,743,511 16,846,484

Book value per share 2 $ 63.54 $ 62.61 $ 57.57 $ 52.68 $ 47.58

Statutory surplus of  
Navigators Insurance Company

 
$

 
804,073 

 
$

 
682,881

 
$

 
662,162

 
$

 
686,919

 
$

 
645,820

1 Calculated based on earned premiums.
2 Calculated as stockholders’ equity divided by actual shares outstanding as of the date indicated.

THE NAV IGATORS GROUP, INC.

D
es

ig
n

 b
y 

A
d

d
is

o
n

  
w

w
w

.a
d

d
is

o
n

.c
o

m

NAVIGATORS 
MANAGEMENT (UK) LTD.

NAVIGATORS 
UNDERWRITING 
AGENCY LTD.
2 Minster Court
4th Floor
Mincing Lane
London EC3R 7BB, England
011-44-207-220-6900

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Navigators’ common stock 
trades on The NASDAQ 
Global Select Market® under  
the symbol NAVG.

TRANSFER AGENT  
AND REGISTRAR
American Stock Transfer & 
Trust Company, LLC

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES
The Navigators Group, Inc. 
c/o American Stock Transfer & 
Trust Company, LLC 
Shareholder Services Group 
6201 15th Avenue 
Brooklyn, NY 11219

(800) 937-5449 (U.S.)
(718) 921-8124 (outside U.S.)
http:www.amstock.com

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154
(212) 758-9700

FINANCIAL INFORMATION, 
PRESS RELEASES,  
AND OTHER REPORTS
The Company’s Annual Reports 
on Form 10-K and quarterly 
filings on Form 10-Q, press 
releases and other Company 
information are available 
without charge on our website, 
www.navg.com

PRINCIPAL OFFICES
THE NAVIGATORS  
GROUP, INC.

NAVIGATORS MANAGEMENT 
COMPANY, INC.
400 Atlantic Street
8th Floor
Stamford, CT 06901
(203) 905-6090

NAVIGATORS INSURANCE 
COMPANY

NAVIGATORS SPECIALTY 
INSURANCE COMPANY
One Penn Plaza
32nd Floor
New York, NY 10119
(212) 244-2333

Stockholder Information
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